Appointment Booking Pro for Joomla

Version 4.0

User's Guide

By Soft Ventures, Inc. [updated: October 2016]

Table of Contents

New in ABPro 4	7
Overview	7
Terms and concepts	7
Resources	7
Categories	7
Services	8
Timeslots	8
Book-offs	8
Seats	8
Coupons	9
Extras	9
UDFs	9
Resource Administrator	9
User Credit	9
Conventions used in this guide	9
Installation	
Setup	
Getting Started	
Minimum setup – Quick Start	
The Control Panel	
Appointments	
Appointment Detail	21
Categories	24
Category Detail	
Resources	
Resource Detail	29
Services	
Service Detail	
Service Copy	41
Timeslots	
Timeslot Detail	
Edit Area	45
New Timeslot	
Timeslot Copy	
Book-Offs	
Book-Off Detail	

Copy Book-offs	52
UDFs	53
UDF Detail	55
Coupons	60
Coupon Detail	62
Configuration	64
Basic Setup	64
Calendars	69
Graphic Availability Display	73
Front-End Screens	76
Shopping Cart	78
Columns	82
Staff	84
Gift Certificates	85
Introduction	85
Setup	85
Using Gift Certificates	
Issues and Limitations	
Message Centre	
Overview	
Message Centre Detail	90
User Credits	
Overview	
View account activity	
Adding a New account	
Allow Refunds	
My Bookings Screen	
Seats/Booking	
Seat Type Detail	
Extras	
Extra Detail	
Payment Processors	
General Settings	
PayPal	
Authorize.net	
2CheckOut	119
Payment Transactions	

PayPal	
Google Wallet	
Authorize.net	
2CheckOut	
Rate Adjustments	
List screen	
Rate Overrides	
Rate Overrides Detail	
Email Marketing	
MailChimp	
AcyMailing	
Edit Files	
Backup/Restore	
Error Log	
Reminder Log	
About	
SMS Processors	
General Settings	
SMS – Clickatell	
SMS - EzTexting	
SMS – Twilio	
Front End Screens	
Booking Screen	
GAD Booking Screen	
My Bookings	
Front End Admin	
Front End Advanced Admin	
Front Desk	
Month View	
Day View	
Front Desk Booking	
Passenger Manifest or Class List	
CSS	
Language file	
Email Reminders cron module	
Overview	
Installation, setup and test	

Google Calendar and ABPro	
Requirements	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Setup GData library	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Setup ABPro	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Adding a Google Calendar Menu Item	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Seats & Extras in Google Calendar	
Community Builder and ABPro	
Overview	
UDF Settings for CB	
JomSocial and ABPro	
Overview	
UDF Settings for JomSocial	
Joomla Profile plug-in and ABPro	
Overview	
UDF Settings for Joomla Profile plug-in	
How to setup Single Resource, Service or Category Modes	
Called by Menu	
Called by URL	
Querystring parameters	
Menu parameters	
Multi-Language Operation	
Overview	
Limitations	
Windows Servers	
Using Language file Keys	
Resources, Categories, etc	
Messages	
UDFs (User Defined Fields)	
Editing Language File(s)	
Using UDFs (User Defined Fields)	
Overview	
Types of UDFs	
Textbox	
Textarea	
Radio button	
Dropdown List	
Checkbox	

Content	
Resource Specific UDF	
Mapping a UDF to Community Builder, JomSocial or Joomla's Profile plug-in	
Using UDFs to tailor the customer confirmation message	
The Token system	
Common Content	
Resource Specific Content	
Token only Content	
Using the Front Desk	
Overview	
Menu Setup	
Default View	
Use Page Title	
Calendar Cell Display	
Tooltip Display	
Resource Admin Only	
Login Required	
View Only	
Edit Status Only	
Enable Seat Totals	
Enable Customer History	
Enable Manifest	
Enable Reminders	
Show Booking Details	
Show Contact Info	
Show UDFs	
Show Extras	
Show Booking Charges	
New Booking screen	
Using Rate Overrides	
List screen	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Using Android, iPhone, Windows Phone 7 and BlackBerry applications	
Customer App	
Admin App	
Issues and Limitations	

New in ABPro 4

Accordion views - Optional accordion view for all the booking screens

See http://appointmentbookingpro.com/how-to/253-use-accordion-views-in-abpro-4.html

Limited Support for Payage - adds these new payment methods PayPlug, SagePay, Barclaycard, Skrill and Mollie

See http://appointmentbookingpro.com/how-to/254-use-payage-in-abpro-4.html

Registered users can now purchase <u>User Credits</u> within ABPro.

See http://appointmentbookingpro.com/how-to/255-abpro-4-feature-user-credit-purchase.html

Overview

Simply put, Appointment Booking Pro allows a visitor to your web site to book a resource for a specific period of time. It has many features and many ways to set up screens and capture user data, but ultimately it is just there to book a resource.

It does not do much, but it does it quite well.

Terms and concepts

Resources

The 'Resource' is what is being booked or reserved.

A resource can be anything you want, a room (meeting room, exercise room, etc), a person (doctor, hair stylist, etc) or an object (computer, golf clubs, Ferrari)

The resources will appear in a dropdown list for you visitor to choose. If you only have one resource it will be preselected when the visitor opens the booking screen.

Categories

Categories were added for people who have too many resources to fit into a dropdown list.

They can also be used to group resources, for example by physical location – Calgary Office, Toronto Office, etc.

It is important to remember that categories are just way to group resources and make them easier to locate in the booking screen. You do not 'book' a category, you book a resource.

A resource can one belong to only one category. As of ABPro 2.0.3 beta 4, a resource can be assigned to multiple categories.

Categories are **optional** and should not be used unless there is a business reason to do so.

Services

Services were added as an attribute to a resource; a way for you to give the visitor a specific list of tasks that they can request of the resource.

You do not 'book' a service, you book a resource. The service just specifies what you want the resource to do.

A resource can have any number of services.

Services have no effect on the time duration of a booking.

Services are optional and should not be used unless there is a business reason to do so.

Timeslots

A resource booking needs a start and end time. Timeslots provide you a way to define blocks of time that a user can chose to book.

The difference between Appointment Booking Pro (ABPro) and its sister component Resource Booking Pro (RBPro) is in **who** decides when the booking ends.

With ABPro, you define a start and end time for timeslots – you tell the visitor when the booking ends. With RBPro, the visitor tells you when the booking will end.

You can define any number of timeslots. A timeslot can be any size, in minutes. Smaller than 10 minutes is not recommended.

A resource can use 'Global' timeslots, timeslots you have defined as 'Global', or the resource can be set to use resource specific timeslots. In this case you define slots just for a specific resource, independent of other resources or of Global timeslots.

Timeslots give you great flexibility in when your resources are available. You can set no slots from noon to 1:00 each day for lunch, set none for after 3:00 on Fridays, etc.

What you **cannot** do is have overlapping slots. For example you **cannot** have 1 hour timeslots that begin every half hour.

The system comes with Global timeslots defined for Monday to Friday. These are just to get you started and can be modified or deleted.

Book-offs

Book-offs are used to make a resource unavailable on one or more specific dates. These would be used for vacation days, statutory holidays, etc.

In the resource setup screen you can define which days-of-the-week your resource is available, for example Monday-Friday. Book-offs are used for specific dates.

Seats

ABPro was originally designed for individuals to book appointments. With version 1.4.3 the concept of 'seats per booking' was added. You can set 'maximum seats' for a resource (normally 1 for individual appointments) and customers can select how many seats they want to book. This allows ABPro to be used for booking seats in a class or on a tour.

Coupons

Added in version 1.4.3, you can define any number of coupon codes. You set the discount amount, either currency or percentage of total order, and an expiry date. You can give this to prospective customers and the total changes will be adjusted when they enter the coupon code into the coupon box on the booking screen.

Extras

Added in version 1.4.4, you can define any number of extra items that the user can add to a booking. These 'Extras' can have a cost associated with then and the booking total will be adjusted based on the user' choices.

UDFs

ABPro supports an unlimited number of User Defined Fields or UDFs.

UDFs are fields that you can place on the booking screen to gather additional information from the visitor. ABPro supports the following types of UDFs, textbox, radio button, dropdown list and text area.

You can specify some types of UDFs as required fields so the visitor must fill them in before making a booking.

UDF data cannot be changed. You can see what the visitor entered but you cannot change it.

Resource Administrator

You can assign any user or users to be a resource administrator. A resource administrator can access front end admin screens to manage the administration for their resources. The front end admin screens have limited functionality but allow the resource administrator to handle day to day tasks without needing to have access to the Joomla administrator back end.

User Credit

User Credit is a number, representing a currency amount, associated with a registered user. You can sell your customer user credits OUTSIDE of ABPro then enter their number of credits into ABPro. Now when they go to make a booking, the cost of the booking is deducted from their credits.

Conventions used in this guide

Visitors making appointment bookings will be referred to as customers or visitors.

I realize ABPro is often used in a medical environment where they are 'patients' - no disrespect intended ;-)

Screen Shots will be Joomla 1.5 unless the feature being discussed is specific to Joomla 1.6+.

The term Joomla 1.6+ indicates Joomla 1.6 and above.

Installation

ABPro is a native Joomla 3.0 component and will not run under previous versions of Joomla. The installation procedure is standard Joomla stuff...

dev30_abp_30 ₪	System - Users - Menus - Content -	Components - Exter	nsions 👻 Help 👻	
🐹 Joomla!"	Control Panel	Ex	tension Manager	
SUBMENU Dashboard System	MY RECENTLY ADDED ARTICLES	Mo Plu III 2011-1 Lar	dule Manager Ig-in Manager nplate Manager Iguage Manager	iKS ew Article
Global Configuration System Information	LOGGED-IN USERS Super User Administrator	፼ 2012-10-30	Cate	te Manager gory Manager
Clear Cache Global Check-in Install Extensions			III Men	u Manager Manager
			🗘 Mod	ule Manager nsion Manager

Browse to find the zip file you downloaded from appointmentbookingpro.com

Then upload and install.

dev30_abp_30 ⊠ System - Users - Menus - Content - Components - Extensions - Help -					
Joomla! Extension Manager: Install					
Coptions Help					
Install Update	Upload Package File	Install from Directory Install from URL			
Manage Discover	Manage Upload Package File				
Database Warnings Install languages	Package File		Browse_		
		Upload & Install			

Ô

🔀 Joomla!"

Help
 Options

Install
Update
Manage

Discover

Database

Warnings Install Languages

Update Sites

Message Installation of the component was successful.

Appointment Booking Pro system for Joomla 3.x

This version of ABPro is not compatible with versions of Joomla prior to 3.0.

Version 4.0.0 (beta 0.4 September 9/15)

New in version 4.0.0 ..

- Accordian view for GAD and Wizard booking screens.
- Use of movable code blocks to support simple layout changes.
- Limited** Support for Payage adds new payment methods PayPlug, SagePay, Barclaycard and Mollie.
- · Registered users can now purchase User Credits within ABPro. (PayPal only)
- Staff can view/manage a user's credit balance, and usage details, via the front end Advanced Admin screen. Access is controlled by a Joomla Group assignment.
- Mobile view supports swipe left/right to change date of slots displayed.

**WorldPay and Skrill are not yet supported due to not being able to get test accounts from those companies. Note: If updating from a version prior to 3.0.1 beta 2, you will notice your Radio button UDFs now display horizontally. The columns setting determines columns, so set that to 1 to display in a single vertical column.

Upload Package File	Install from Directory	Install from URL
---------------------	------------------------	------------------

Unload & Install Joamla Extension

You are done.



Getting Started

You might want to just look through the menus and screens to get a feel for how things are laid out.

Each screen has a help icon that will bring up some help on the current screen.



Minimum setup - Quick Start

Ok, you have ABPro installed, now what.

The Plan..

ABPro has a lot of settings - **Start simple**.

On a clean install, create a new resource, leaving everything defaulted (well except the resource name) and set published = Yes.

Make a menu to call the booking screen and open it. You will see your resource and all the slots.

Don't enable Google calendar or any other options until you are comfortable that the core ABPro functionality is there. Leave Auto-Accept = Yes and make a booking. Once you know it is working you can start making changes. If you want a different timeslot, change the start/end times for one of the included ones and verify it is changed to what you want.

Once your slots are there and bookings are going in ok, enable Google Calendar, add your settings, and make another booking. Login to Google and look at your calendar to see the booking is there.

Ok, let's go to the ABPro control panel..

🐹 System 🗸 Users	s ▼ Menus ▼ Content ▼	Components - Extensio	ons -	- Help -		
Akeeba Backup						
		Appointment Booking Pro 4		Control Panel		
		Banners	Þ	Appointments		
0		Contacts	Þ.	Categories		
	Message	Joomla! Update		Resources		
Install	Installation of the component	Messaging	×.	Services		
Update		News Feeds	ъ.	Time Slots		
Manage	Appointment Booking Pro sy	Post-installation Messages	1	Book-Offs		
Discover	This version of ABPro is not	Redirect		UDFs		
Database	Version 4.0.0 (beta 0.4 Sente	Resource Booking Pro 3	×.	Coupons		
Warnings	torion nere (bota or o opro	Search		Configure		
Install Languages	New in version 4.0.0	Smart Search		User Credit		
Update Sites	Accordian view for GAD	Tags		Seats/Booking		
	Use of movable code blc Limited# Support for Do	Weblinks		Extras	arala	
	Registered users can now	purchase User Credits with	hin .	Payment Processors	arcia	
	 Staff can view/manage a 	user's credit balance, and	usa	Message Centre	d Ad	
	Access is controlled by a	Joomla Group assignment.	1.0	-		

Mobile view supports swipe left/right to change date of slots displayed.

The bare minimum you need before you can try out the booking screens is something to book.

You need to add a resource.

Select the Resources item



Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 4.0.0 - Copyright 2008-2015 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

The select 'New' button to open the Resource Edit screen.



The Resource Detail screen is one of the busiest in the system but don't worry, for now just enter a name and description. The description is what will be shown in the booking screen. Click on *Save & Close* to save the new resource.

Test ABP 30 🖻 💦 System	m Users Menus Content Components Extensions	Help
X Joomla!	ABPro - Resource Detail: [NEW]	
Save & Close 🛛 😵 Ca	ancel @ Help	
A resource is who or what t For example, an appointme	the appointment is being made for. ent to visit doctor or test drive a car . The resource would be	e the doctor or the car.
Resource ID:	0	
Name:	Mr Smith	
Description:	Mr Smith description	
Auto-Accept Bookings:	Use Global	If set to Yes, new bookings will si automatically to "Accepted" status level setting. Set to Global to use

Test ABP 30 🗗 Syst	tem 👻 Users 👻 Men	us - Content - C	Components - Extension	ns - Help	-			Super User 👻
🔀 Joomla!	Appointment	Booking Pro	Resources					
	🗹 Edit 🗹 Publis	h Onpublish	Copy Resource(s)	× Remove	Close	e elp		
Control Panel Appointments	Message Save Completed							×
Categories Configure	Resources Name					Category		
Resources	📄 ID 💙	Description	Days		Timeslots	id(s)	Order	Published
Services Time Slots UDFs	1 Mr Smith	Mr Smith description	Sun Mon Tue Wee Sat	d Thu Fri	Global		1	ø

That gives us a Resource so we can now map a booking screen to a menu item and try it out.

Go to the Joomla menu system and add a new Main Menu item.

You have three choices for booking screens, simple 'Booking Screen' the Graphic Availability Display or 'GAD Booking Screen' or the Wizard style.

ler M	enu Item Type	×
s s	Cancel Booking Screen Display the ABPro Cancel Booking screen	^
	Cart Internal view only. DO NOT call this from a menu!	
	Control Panel Display the ABPro front-end Control Panel	
	GAD Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display (GAD) Booking screen	
_	GAD Wizard Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display(GAD) Wizard Booking screen	
Тур	My Bookings Display the My Bookings screen	
	Purchase User Credits Purchase screen for User Credits	
	Simple Booking Screen Display the ABPro simple Booking screen	
wot		*
tyle		Close
		01030

The GAD Booking screen has a grid displaying timeslots. Let's use that one.

Enter a title for the menu item then save.





powered by AppointmentBookingPro.com v 4.0.0

The Control Panel



Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 4.0.0 - Copyright 2008-2015 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

The back end administrator menu is where all setup and management is done.

There are also several front end Administrator screens but these are for designated resource administrators (staff) to use and are limited in functionality.

As a rule there will always be a list screen and a detail. For example; a list of appointments, then click on a link to access the details of a specific appointment.

Some exceptions are screens like Configure, Backup/Restore etc., where the list-detail idea does not apply. There is a **Help** button at the top right of each screen with brief help information about the screen.

Appointments

This is the master list of appointments in the system.

Appointment Booking Pro - Appointments 🏼 🏹 Joomla!									
X Remove Z Edit	✓ EM	ail Reminders	s 🗸 Thank You	✓ Export/CSV	✓ Export/	cs 🕴 C	lose	•	Help
Control Panel	Appoint	ment List							
Appointments				Search	Date Range	2		Clear	Dates
Book-Offs Categories				Select a Categ	gory 💌	Select a Re	source Status: Show A	20	•
Configure	DI 🔄	Name	Email	Resour	rce Service	Date/Time	Payment Info *	Payment	Status
Email Marketing Extras	24	65 Super User	support@softventures.co	om Dr Bar	60 Minute	Apr 11 14:00	GWDG_S.15d5cdd5-706d- 4bb1-a145-7a75ce3b85ef	Paid	Accepted
Message Centre Payment	24	35 Super User	support@softventures.co	om Dr Bar	60 Minute	Apr 9 11:00	GWDG_S.15922b5a-5bb5-41d0- a78a-45b00411ea96	Paid	Accepted
Processors Rate Adjustments	24	90 Super User	support@softventures.co	om Bus Tou	ur -	Apr 11 11:00	GWDG_S.105e3dd8-4822-4172-8cf 18904280bfca	- Paid	Accepted
Resources Seats/Booking	24	88 Super User	support@softventures.co	om Bus Tou	ır	Apr 11 11:00	GWDG_S.0963e64d-8bd2-4d68- b6ec-0e544a067a6d	Paid	Accepted
Services SMS Processors	20	01 Super User	support@softventures.co	om Dr Bar	60 Minute	Jan 28 09:00	9PC65059JU415054T	Paid	Accepted
Time Slots UDFs	28	73 Super User	support@softventures.co	om Dr Bar	60 Minute	Sep 11 09:00	98642442JV580442C	Paid	Accepted
User Credits	15	43 Super User	support@softventures.co	om Dr Bar	60 Minute	Mar 6 15:00	94A66215M0183802W	Paid	Accepted
	17	50 rob test	rob.stevens@softventure	es.com Dr Bar	60 Minute	Jun 28 10:00	8VD91799NM270334X	Paid	Accepted
	(07 Super	ausont@oo@usebuses.or	De Ros	20	Lon	00002110021070747	Daid	Annastad

The Appointments screen lists all appointments in the system. It has several filters to help manage a large list.

When a user submits a booking request via the Appointment Booking component's entry screen, an 'Appointment Request' is created.

Toolbar Icons

Remove: Deletes one or more booking requests.

Edit: Opens the Appointments Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the request.

Email Reminders: You can send reminder messages to users. (message text defined in the configure screen). Use the Date filter to choose a date then select bookings to receive reminders. Reminders will only be sent to bookings in the future, that are in 'Accepted' status.

Thank You: You can send an email message after the booking has taken place. This could be used as a 'Thank You' or a 'Time to re-book' message. When used with the optional cron module, you can send this message much after like eleven months after an annual appointment to remind the customer to book again.

SMS Reminders: You can also send SMS text message reminders to users. (message text defined in the configure screen). Use the Date filter to choose a date then select bookings to receive reminders. Reminders will only be sent to bookings in the future, that are in 'Accepted' status.

Export/CSV: Exports request details for one or more Appointments to a csv file. The csv file can be read into Excel for reporting purposes.

Export/ICS: Exports request details for one or more Appointments to an ics file. The ics file can be emailed to Outlook and the selected appointments will be added to the Outlook calendar. Note this is a one-way operation. Changes made in Outlook will and NO EFFECT on ABPro.

Help: Opens this help screen.

Filters

Date: Filter by date, use the 'Clear Date' link to remove filter.

Category: Filter by Category

Resource: Filter by resource:

- Show All Appointments for all resources.
- name Choose a specific resource

Status: Filter by request status:

- *New* a new request.
- *Pending* when using PayPal a new booking goes in a pending and is changed to accepted status when PayPal sends back an ipn message saying payment is complete.
- Accepted accepted request resource is booked.
- Declined admin refused the booking.
- *Cancelled* Request was cancelled by admin.
- No Show customer/patient did not show up for appointment
- *Attended* customer/patient did show up for appointment
- Deleted appointment deleted by customer/patient

List Area

Note: In the Configure screen you can turn some of the columns on/off as required for your specific business.

ID: Unique ID for the request.
Name: Requestor's name.
Email: Email address (if supplied) of the requestor, click on the address to send an email to the person.
Resource: Name of the Resource being booked.
Time: Date and time of the booking.
Seats: Seats booked.
Payment: Payment status of the booking.
Status: Request status (see filters above)

Appointment Detail

Access the appointment detail by clicking on the name in the appointment list screen.

The heart of the component is the Appointment Request.

This screen allows you to view and edit the details of a request or Appointment booking.

✓ Save & Close	Close Help	
Reg ID:	1449	
Name:*	Super User	These fields are from the original request. They can be modified by the administrator.
Phone:		An example might be where a requested date is not available so the administrator phones the requester and agrees on a new date. The Administrator would then change the date here.
Email:*	support@softventures.com	
Use SMS:	Yes	
SMS Phone:		
SMS Dial Code:		
Category:	No Category	
	Category/Resource relationship not enforced here.	
Resource:	Dr Bar	
	Note: changing a resource does not validate availability.	
Service:	60 Minute	
Start Date.*	2012-10-24	
Start Time:	13 . 00 (hh:mm)	
End Time:	14 💽 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	
Booked Seats:	1	
User Defined Fields		
	Label Value	
	Favourite Oranges Fruit)
Request Status:		Channing status will send email to user's email address above.

The top half is for details about the booking, the bottom shows financial and booking status information.

Request Status:	Accepted	Changing status will send email to user's email address above: • Accepted will email a confirmation message • Canceled will email cancellation message
Payment Status:	Pending	Administrator can indicate payment has been received.
Total :	\$ 11.75	Booking total charges
Depoit :	\$ 0.00	Deposit paid at time of booking
Amount Due :	\$ 11.75	Balance owing
Manual Payment :	\$ 0.00	Payment collected manually by staff (ex: walk-in or phone credit card)
Credit Used :	s 0.00 v	If User Credit System in use, this shows amount deducted from user's credits.
Coupon Used :		
Admin Comment:	it.	Administrator can enter an internal comment. Example: 'Phoned to confirmed new end time'
Cancellation Code:	c9400ca3154ed21622a8d97d69ce24c6	A unique, system generated, Code that the user can use to cancel their booking. Not recommended if you are using PayPaI as no PayPaI refunding in this release.
Payment Txn ID::		PayPal or Authorize.nat generated code for this transaction.
language Code:	en-GB	
Timestamp:	2012-10-20 13:19:57	Server data/time of last change to record. Number in parenthesis beside the label is the user id of the operator that made the change.
Appointment Booking Pro Vi	er 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.	
* View Site 🕕 Visitors	s 🕕 Admins 🛤 0 Log out	© Test ABP 30

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

The edit area is divided into two sections; the top is the request as it came from the user. The lower section is an Admin area where the administrator decides what to do the request.

Name, Phone, Email: The top fields are self explanatory.

Use SMS: ABPro can send reminder messages via SMS text messaging. This feature requires an account with Clickatell.com. If you have SMS enabled (see configuration for setting up SMS) the booking screen will ask the customer if they want SMS reminder messages. This will so if they said Yes or No.

SMS Phone: If the customer wished SMS reminders, they enter a cell phone to receive them.

SMS Dial Code: If the site is being run in North America the dial code is 1 and that is the default for ABPro. If the site is being run elsewhere, the configuration area lets you set an alternate default dial code. If you are running in a part of the world where your customers may come from different dial codes, you can have a dropdown list of codes displayed for the customer to choose from.

Resource: The resource being booked.

Service: The service (optional) that the customer chose.

Date and Time: When the booking is for.

Booked Seats: This will be 1 unless 'seats per booking' is enabled by defining seat types.

User Defined Fields (UDFs): This area shows the values entered by the user for any UDFs you have defined. On the right shows the type of UDF and the label.

Extras: Extra charge items if enabled and chosen by the customer.

Below the UDFs is the Admin area.

Request Status: Used and an indicator for the administrator and also by the system if duplicate bookings are not allowed. Bookings with status of Accepted OR Pending will trigger a conflict message if Prevent Duplicate Bookings is set to Yes. Well, it is a bit more complicated than that as you *can* allow x number of duplicates, like x students booked into a class. See the resource setup screen for more details on duplicate booking options.

Payment Status: Change as required to indicate payment has been received. This can be set to be changed by PayPal when payment is completed.

Financial information: Charges and payments

Credit Used: If you are using the User Credit system, this will show is a credit was used to pay for this booking.

Coupon Used: If you have enabled coupons, this will show if the customer used a coupon code for the booking.

Administrator Comment: Administrator can enter an internal comment. Example: 'Phoned to confirmed new end time'

Timestamp: read only, showing time request was entered.

If the booking was created or modified by a staff member, using the staff screens, their user id will appear in parenthesis beside the Timestamp label.

Categories

🔀 Joomla	! Appoi	Appointment Booking Pro - Categories						
New	🗹 Edit	✓ Publish Onpublish	X Delete OClose	leip				
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	Resource Categorie If ANY Re ALL resou See Help	Resource Categories Categories are OPTIONAL, to disable the use of Resource Categories, do not create any! If ANY Resource Categories are published, that will enable the use of Resource Categories on the booking screen. When enabled, ALL resources must be assigned to some category or they will not be displayed on the booking screen. See Help above for more information on when and why to use categories.						
Configure	📰 ID	Name 🎔	Description	Parent Category	Order	Published		
Resources Services Time Slote	1	Cat 1	Cat 1 desc		1	ø		
UDFs	2	Cat 2	Cat2 Descr		2	0		
	— 4	Cat 3 with long name	Cat 3 desc		3	0		
	3	SUB_CAT_1	Sub Cat 1	Cat 1	4	Ø		

The first thing to point out is that Categories are OPTIONAL - you **do not need** to set up any categories unless you feel they would help or be useful to you.

What is a Category?

A category is an arbitrarily defined entity that a resource can belong, or be assigned to. Categories sit above resources in the structure hierarchy.

Why use Categories?

Two reasons mainly;

- 1. You have too many resources to fit in the resource drop down list. With categories you can break the resources list into groups (or categories). The user first picks the category, then sees a smaller list of resources that you have assigned to the category.
- 2. Physical locations. If you have offices in two cities you can set up two categories and assign the resources in the appropriate category.

Hierarchy

Resource Category -> [optional subcategory] ->Resource -> Resource Service

Cat 1 👻	
Select a Sub-Category 💌	
Select a Sub-Category	
Sub Cat 1	
Sub Cat 2	Annha Causan
	Cat 1 Select a Sub-Category Select a Sub-Category Sub Cat 1 Sub Cat 2

Example:

Categories defined: Calgary Office, Edmonton Office

Resources: Dr Foo - assigned Calgary Office Dr Bar - assigned Edmonton Office Mr Smith - assigned Edmonton Office Mr Jones - assigned Calgary Office

Category:	Select a Category 👻	
Resource:		
Comment:		
Email:		
Email: Category:	Select a Category 👻	
Email: Category: Resource:	Select a Category - Select a Category	

Email:		
Category:	Calgary Office 👻	
Resource:	Select a Resource 👻	
Comment	Select a Resource	
Johnnenic	Dr Foo	
	Mr Jones	

What if Dr Foo works out of both offices?

He would no doubt **not** be in both locations at the same time. Make two resources called Dr Foo and assign one to each office. Each 'Dr Foo' will need its own available dates and times.

To **DISABLE** the use of Resource Categories, **do not create any**!

If ANY Resource Categories are published, that will enable the use of Resource Categories on the booking screen. When enabled, ALL resources must be assigned to some category or they will not be displayed on the booking screen.

Toolbar Icons

New: Opens the New Category screen to allow you to add a new category.

Edit: Opens the Category Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the category.

Publish: Sets one or more categories to Unpublished. Only Published categories will appear in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Unpublish: Sets one or more categories to Unpublished so they will not show in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Remove: Deletes one or more categories.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the category.

Name: Category name.

Description: Category description, for internal use, does not appear on user screen anywhere.

Parent Category: ABPro supports 2 level hierarchies for categories. This column shows the parent category if there is one.

Display Order: Order the categories will appear in the Category drop down list. **Published:** Indicates the published state.

Click on the Name link to open the edit screen.

Category Detail

A category is an arbitrarily define entity that a resource can belong, or be assigned to. Categories sit above resources in the structure hierarchy.

Joomla! ABPro - Category Detail: [EDIT]							
Save & Close	Close Help						
This screen is used to	create or resource categories.						
ID:	1						
Name:	Cat 1						
Description:	Cat 1 desc						
Parent Category:	No Parent	ABPro supports a 2 level hierarchy for Categories. To define a sub-category you select what the new categories parent should be. Note 1: Ensure you do not assign a resource to a parent category that has children or you will get unpredictable booking screen results. Resources must only be assigned to sub-categories OR categories that have no sub-categories. Note 2: Front Desk Booking screen does not support sub categories, a resource admin will not be able to select a resource in a sub-category.					
Display Order:	1						
Published:	Yes						

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Name: Name of the Category, this will appear in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen. **Description:** For internal use only.

Parent Category: ABPro supports a 2 level hierarchy for Categories. To define a sub-category you select what the new categories parent should be.

Note: Ensure you do not assign a resource to a parent category that has children or you will get unpredictable booking screen results. *Resources must only be assigned* to *sub-categories OR categories* that have no sub-categories.

Order: This determines the order this Category will appear in the Category drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Published: Only categories with Published set to **Yes** will appear in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Resources

List of resources that can be booked by visitors.

🔀 Joomla	! Appoi	Appointment Booking Pro - Resources						
⊕ New	🗹 Edit	✓ Publish	Onpublish Cop	y Resource(s) X Remove	e 🕴 Close	Help		
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Resource	es Name ❤	Description	Days	Timeslots	Category id(s)	Order	Published
Categories Configure	<u> </u>	Bus Tour	Bus Tour desc	Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat	Global		2	Ø
Resources Services	2	Dr Bar	Dr Bar desc	Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat	Global		1	Ø
UDFs	<u>58</u>	New one	New resource	Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat	Global	[1]	13	0
	<u> </u>	Nudder Resource	Nudder Resource	Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri	Global		10	Ø
	<u>50</u>	RCA Studio A	RCA Studio A	Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat	Global	4	3	0

Toolbar Icons

New: Opens the New Resource screen to allow you to add a new resource.

Edit: Opens the Resource Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the resource.

Publish: Sets one or more resources to Unpublished. Only Published resources will appear in the dropdown list on the Resource Booking screen.

Unpublish: Sets one or more resources to Unpublished so they will not show in the dropdown list on the Resource Booking screen.

Copy Resource(s): Make a duplicate copy of one or more resources.

Remove: Deletes one or more resources.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the resource.
Name: Resource name.
Description: Resource description.
Days: Shows what days of the week this resource is available for booking.
Time Slots: Indicates weather this resource is set to use Global time slots or if Specific time slots have been setup.
Display Order: Order the resources will appear in the Resource dropdown list.
Published: Indicates the published state.

Click on the Name link to open the edit screen.

Resource Detail

The 'Resource' is what is being booked or reserved. A resource can be anything you want, a room (meeting room, exercise room, etc), a person (doctor, hair stylist, etc) or an object (computer, golf clubs, Ferrari)

This is a big screen with lots of settings.

ABPro - Res	source Detail: [EDIT]		🔀 Joomla!"
✓ Save & Close +	Save & New Sclose		Help
A resource is who or wha For example, an appointn	t the appointment is being made for. nent to visit doctor or test drive a car . The resource	would be the d	octor or the car.
Resource ID:	2		
Name:	Dr Bar		
Description:	Dr Bar desc		
Auto-Accept Bookings:	Use Global		If set to Yes, new bookings will skip the <i>New</i> status and go automatically to 'Accepted' status. This will override the component level setting. Set to Global to use Config screen setting.
Access	ABPro Member Add >> Pu	blic ^	You can set what Joomla user groups can see this resource. The default is 'Public' so everyone can see it. If you wish to restrict access to a resource to certain group(s) select them on the left. For example if you define a J1.6 group called 'Foo', and set this resource's Access to only 'Foo', only users assigned to group 'Foo' will see the resource.
Category:	Cat 1 Add >>	*	[Optional] Resource Category. Left list shows all categories, right box shows categories this resource is assigned to. Note: Ensure you do not assign a resource to a parent category that has children or you will get unpredictable booking screen results. Resources must only be assigned to sub-categories OR parent categories that have no sub-categories.
Mail Template	Dr Bar		Choose which mail template you want to use for this resource. New templates can be created in the message centre
Cost	\$10 per hour + tax		Cost is a free form text field so you can put things like `\$10/hr + \$20 deposit'. This appears in the resource dropdown list for the customer.
Rate:	10.00 Rate Unit per Hour		Rate is used by the Payment Processor implementation. Rate is the amount you charge as a decimal number. This is used by the system to calculate total charge for PayPal. o per Hour = calculate costs as rate x hours o per Booking = flat rate charge per booking
Denosit Required			If you enter an amount for a required denseit ARPro will only hill that

Deposit Required	0.00 Fixed or Percent Percent of Total	If you enter an amount for a required deposit ABPro will only bill that amount to PayPal, Authnet or 2Checkout. 0.00 = no deposit, full cost is billed PayPal et al.
PayPal Account		If this field is left blank, the component level PayPal account, set in Payment Processors screen - PayPal tab, will be used.
Email to:	rob.stevens113@gmail.com	To have notifications for this resource sent to one or more special email addresses, enter them here. Example: foo@bar.com,abc.xyz.com (use comma to separate multiple addresses) If this field is left blank resource requests will be sent to the address specified in the configuration section.
SMS Phone:	403-370-0801	To have SMS text message notifications sent to this resource enter a cell phone here (only one sms number supported). This feature requires a Clickatell, or ezTexting account be setup and configured. See the Configure screen Clickatell or ezTexting tab. Do not enter the country code.
Maximum Seats	1	This setting works with 'Seat Types'. If no Seat Types are defined a booking will be count as one seat and no 'seats' data entry box will be shown to the customer. If Seat Types are defined, a single booking can be for x number of seats. This setting specifies the maximum number of seats that can be booked before the timeslot is shown as unavailable. 0 = unlimited . (Max Seats replaces the old 'Max Duplicates'.)
Google Calendar Setup		
Client ID		Get this from your Google App Credentials page.
App Name Ap	BPro	This is the name of the App you create on Google. You need to create a Google 'App' so that ABPro is allowed to talk to your calendar(s)
App Email Address		Get this from your Google App Credentials page. You will also need to share your calendar to this email address.
P12 Key filename	2	This is the key file provided by Google and uploaded to your site.
Calendar ID:		This is obtained on the Google Calendar 'Calendar Settings' screen, Calendar Address section.
Resource Administrators:	Jane Doe Add >> manager Super Us << Remove	Select one or more users to be administrators for this resource. When a resource administrator accesses the front-end control they see only requests for their resources. A user can administer one or many resources and a resource can have one or many administrators.

Time Slots:	Use Global	Global = use 'Global' time slots Resource specific = this resource has it's own time slots defined. Use the Time Slots screen to set time slots. Note: Front end admin can ONLY see resource specific slots. A Resource admin cannot see/adjust Global slots	
Allow Booking on Days:	Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat	Un-check any days you wish to not show timeslots for, and to be disabled on the popup calendar. To block bookings on specific dates (eg: News Years day or holidays) use the Book-Offs tab.	
Hide non-Booking days:	No	If set to Yes days unckecked above will not be displayed in the GAD grid. If set to No every day will be shown and non Booking days will be blank or can display a message - see next field. Note: this only effects the GAD booking screen in single-resource-multple-days view.	
Non-Booking days message	Closed Sundays nicht verfügbar	For days not checked above, you can display an optional message in the GAD grid for that day. Example: not available or *** My Day Off (-) ***	
Minimum lead time:	2 (hours)	Enter the minimum number of hours a person can book ahead. Example: set to 1 = someone can book an appointment for 1 hour from now, set to 24 and appointments less than 24 hours from now will be blocked. Normal setting is '0' with Disable Dates Before set to 'Tomorrow' means a visitor can book anytime tomorrow.	
Disable Dates Before:	 Today Tomorrow 3 days from now Specific date: Tomorrow III 	Dates to disable on user's popup calendar and GAD grid Today = Disable booking of dates earlier than today (allow current day booking) Tomorrow = Disable booking of dates earlier than tomorrow (normal setting) x days from now = no bookings sooner that x days from now. Specific date = disable booking of dates before the selected date	
Disable Dates After:	Not Set days from now	Dates to disable on user's popup calendar and GAD grid x days from now = no bookings beyond that x days from now. Not Set = allow bookings in the future with no limits (normal setting) Specific date = disable dates after the selected date	
	Specific date: Not Set		

Use the Specific date setting above when you want to allow bookings on ONLY certain dates, ex: appointments during a 3 day event. Disable dates before and after the

Force Gap:	0	If you are using Service Based Duration and need to force a gap between bookings you can enter a number of minutes here. If you are not using Service Based Duration you should use timeslot definitions to create any gaps you require. Note: The simple booking screen will enforce on submit and does not have the granularity to force gaps smaller than one timeslot. Only use if Max Seats = 1.
MailChimp List	Use Global	Select a MailChimp List for this resource
AcyMailing List	Dr Bar List	Select a AcyMailing List for this resource
Image:	abpro_resource_images/2.png	Image to display in the resource dropdown list. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen. Use the Joomla Media Manager to upload your images. Enter the image manager folder and filename here. Example 'abpro_resource_images/my_image.png' where you created a folder called abpro_resource_images for your images. Set Show in Grid to Yes if you wish to have the image displayed in the booking screen timeslot grid.
Image Text:	I'm Glad your came to see me!	Text to display, with the image, in the resource dropdown list. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen.
Display Order:	2	Enter a number to indicate what order this resource should appear in the dropdown list.
Published:	Yes	

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.6 - Copyright 2008-2015 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Name: A resource must have a name. ex: 'Meeting Rom A' or 'Dr. Allan Harper.'

Description: The description is often just set to the name but can also include more information.

Auto-Accept Bookings: You can set auto-accept in the resource so some resources can accept immediately while others can require admin manual acceptance. Setting to 'Global' means the auto-accept is controlled by the setting in the component's configure screen.

Access: You can set what Joomla user groups can see this resource. The default is 'Public' so everyone can see it. If you wish to restrict access to a resource to certain group(s) select them on the left. For example if you define a Joomla group called 'Foo', and set this resource's Access to only 'Foo', only users assigned to group 'Foo' will see the resource.

Category: [Optional] Resource Category. Left list shows all categories, right box shows categories this resource is assigned to. You can assign a resource to 0, 1 or more than 1 category. See Resource Category setup screen for more details on when/why/how to use categories. If you publish **any** categories that enables the feature and **ALL** resources must then be assigned to one or more categories.

ABPro supports a 2 level hierarchy for Categories.

Note: Ensure you do not assign a resource to a parent category that has children or you will get unpredictable booking screen results. Resources must only be assigned to sub-categories OR parent categories that have no sub-categories.

Limitations for multi-resource-category:

- Native mobile apps, using Categories, will not work. Development has stopped on them so they will not be modified to support multiple categories for a resource.
- Front-end admin screen will show all categories to res-admins, not just categories with resources that they admin to.

Mail Template: 'Global' or resource specific can be selected. New templates can be created in the message centre. The mail template contains a message set which is all messages used by ABPro, except shopping cart messages as they cannot be resource specific.

Cost: Cost is a free form text field so you can put things like `\$10/hr + \$20 deposit`. This appears in the resource dropdown list for the customer.

Rate: Rate is used by the PayPal implementation. Rate is the amount you charge as a decimal number. This is used by the system to calculate total charge for PayPal.

- per Hour = calculate costs as rate x hours
- per Booking = flat rate charge per booking

Early Booking Discount: You can use this setting to offer a discount for early booking. Service level discounts override resource level discounts. They are not additive. Early Booking Discounts must be **enabled in the Configure screen**. Cannot be used with coupons.

- Fixed amount discount = fixed dollar discount
- Percentage discount = discount is a percentage to the booking cost.

Days = number of days in advance the booking must be made to get the discount.

Deposit Required: If you enter an amount for a required deposit ABPro will **only** bill that amount to PayPal, Authnet or 2Checkout. The deposit can be either a **Fixed Amount** or a **Percent or Total** cost. 0.00 = no deposit, full cost is billed PayPal et al.

Cost Summary:	Resource Rate	Hours	Total Owing		
	\$ 10.52	1.00	\$ 10.52		
		1.23			
		Discount:	(0.00)		
		\$ 11.75			
		Deposit Required:	\$ 2.50		
	Submit Request Buy Now				
		VISA VISA	au 🔂 🔤 🖉	thorize.N	

PayPal Account: You can define a different PayPal account for each resource. If left blank the PayPal account set in the Configure screen will be used for all resources.

Email To: To have notifications for this resource sent to **one or more** special email addresses, enter them here. Example: foo@bar.com,abc.xyz.com (use comma to separate multiple addresses) If this field is left blank resource requests will be sent to the address specified in the configuration section. The resource level overrides the component level. If you set a notification address at the resource level, the component level is ignored, if you want both you will need to add both at the resource level.

SMS Phone: To have SMS text message notifications sent to this resource enter a cell phone here (only one supported). This feature requires a Clickatell account be setup and configured. See the Configure screen Clickatell tab. If this field is left empty, no SMS messages will be sent to the resource.

SMS notifications are sent, to the resource, on these events :

- New booking
- User cancel from front end
- Booking status change; [status any status] -> accepted, by admin or front-end admin.
- Booking status change; [status any status] -> cancelled, by admin or front-end admin.

Max Seats:

This setting works with 'Seat Types' (see Seat Types later in this guide). If no Seat Types are defined a booking will be counted as one seat and no 'seats' data entry box(s) will be shown to the customer. If Seat Types are defined, a single booking can be for x number of seats. This setting specifies the maximum number of seats that can be booked before the timeslot is shown as unavailable.

0 = unlimited.

(Max Seats replaces the old 'Max Duplicates'.)

Default Calendar Category: Enter a default calendar category for this resource. This is only applicable if you are using 'auto-accept' and a 3rd party calendar (JCalPro, not required for Google Calendar)

Resource Administrators: Select one or more users to be administrators for this resource. When a resource administrator accesses the front-end control they see only requests for their resources. A user can administer one or many resources and a resource can have one or many administrators.

Time Slots: Global = use 'Global' time slots, Resource specific = this resource has its own time slots defined. Use the Time Slots screen to set time slots.

Allow Booking on Days: Un-check any days of the week that the resource is NOT available for booking. For specific dates off, use Book-offs. See the Book-offs section of this guide for details.

Hide Non-Booking Days: If set to Yes, the GAD booking grid will not show non booking days (un-checked days above).

Non-Booking Days Message: If you do not *hide* non-booking days they will appear blank (no timeslots). If you would rather show a message enter text here.

Minimum lead time:** Enter the minimum number of hours a person can book ahead. This was added for sites allowing 'current day' booking.

Example: set to 1 = someone can book an appointment for 1 hour from now, set to 24 and attempts to book appointments less than 24 hours from now will be blocked.

Normal setting is '0' with Disable Dates Before set to 'Tomorrow' means a visitor can book anytime tomorrow.

Disable Dates Before:** Dates to disable on user's popup calendar and the GAD display.

- Today = Disable booking of dates earlier than today (allow current day booking)
- Tomorrow = Disable booking of dates earlier than tomorrow (normal setting)
- Specific date = disable booking of dates before the selected date

Disable Dates After:** Dates to disable on user's popup calendar and the GAD display.

- Not Set = allow bookings in the future with no limits (normal setting)
- Specific date = disable dates after the selected date

You can use the above two settings when you want to allow bookings on ONLY certain dates, ex: appointments during a 3 day event. Disable dates before and after the event so users can only book appointments during the event. Leave as 'Tomorrow' and 'Not Set' for day to day appointment booking on an on-going basis.

Force Gap: If you are using Service Based Duration and need to force a gap between bookings you can enter a number of minutes here. If you are not using Service Based Duration you should use timeslot definitions to create any gaps you require. The simple booking screen will enforce on submit and does not have the granularity to force gaps smaller than one timeslot. Only use if Max Seats = 1.

MailChimp List: You can have ABPro add booking customers to a MailChimp mailing list. The settings for MailChimp are in the Email Marketing screen. You can override the list to be added to by resource here.

AcyMailing List: You can have ABPro add booking customers to an AcyMailing mailing list. The settings for AcyMailing are in the Email Marketing screen. You can override the list to be added to by resource here.

Image: Image to display in the resource dropdown list. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen. Use the Joomla Media Manager to upload your images. Enter the image manager folder and filename here. Example `abpro_resource_images/my_image.png` where you created a folder called abpro_resource_images for your images. Set Show in Grid to Yes if you wish to have the image displayed in the booking screen timeslot grid.

Image Text: Text to display, with the image, in the resource dropdown list. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen.

Display Order: Enter a number to indicate what order this resource should appear in the dropdown list.

Published: Only resources with Published set to Yes will appear in the dropdown list on the Booking screen

** These settings do not change the Graphic Availability Display (GAD) booking screen grid but do effect the validation. That means a user may see a timeslot that shows as available but when they try to book it the validation may tell them there is not enough lead time.
Services

The first thing to point out is that Services are OPTIONAL - you **do not** need to set up any services unless you feel they would help or be useful to you.

Joomla	ca! Appoint	ment Booking Pro	- Services		
New	🗹 Edit	✓ Publish Onpublish	Copy 🗙 Remove 🔇	Close Help	
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	Resource	Services		Resource: Dr Bar	
Configure	See Help at	ove for more information on	when and why to use services.		
Resources Services	D 🔄	Service Name	Description	Resource	Order Crder Dublished
Time Slots UDFs	E 1	60 Minute	60 Minute desc	Dr Bar	1 0
	<u> </u>	90 Minute	90 Minute	Dr Bar	2

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

What is a Service?

A Service is an arbitrarily define entity that can be associated with resource. Services sit below resources in the structure hierarchy.

Why use Services?

If your resource can be booked to perform multiple tasks. Creating services for a resource allows your user to choose the resource AND what service is to be performed. An example would be a staff member in a Spa, she can be booked to do various services, massage, manicure, etc.

Things to know about Services.

- You can create as many services as you wish for a resource. A service is specific to a resource but you can copy services to other resources. For example, if your Spa has three staff and all do massage, you can copy the 'massage' service to the other staff members (resources).
- Services and categories can be used together and have no real relation to one another.
- The service selected by the user will appear in the booking detail.
- A booking can only contain one service.

Hierarchy

Resource Category -> Resource -> Resource Service

Email:		
Resource:	Mr Smith 🗸	
Services	Leap tall buildings 🔍	
Date/Time:	Leap tall buildings Race Speeding Train	
Comment:		

Toolbar Icons

New: Opens the New Service screen to allow you to add a new Service.

Edit: Opens the Service Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the Service.

Publish: Sets one or more services to Unpublished. Only Published services will appear in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Unpublish: Sets one or more services to Unpublished so they will not show in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Copy: Select one or more services to copy to another resource.

Remove: Deletes one or more services.

Help: Opens this help screen.

Filter

Resource: select the resource who's services you wish to see.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the Service.
Name: Service name.
Description: Service description, for internal use, does not appear on user screen anywhere.
Resource: the resource this service is for.
Display Order: Order the services will appear in the Service drop down list.
Published: Indicates the published state.

Click on the Name link to open the edit screen.

Service Detail

A Service is an arbitrarily define entity that can be associated with resource. Services sit below resources in the structure hierarchy.

n is seen to see the		
Inis screen is used to	10	
10.	10	
Resource:	Spa	
Service Name:	Massage	
Description:	60 Minute Booking at \$15/hr	
Service Rate:	15.00 Rate Unit: per Hour	Rate is the amount you charge as a decimal number. This is used by the system to calculate total charge for PayPal. This rate, if set, overrides the resource rate. o per Hour = calculate costs as rate x hours o per Booking = flat rate charge per booking
Service Duration:	60 Rate Unit: Minutes	The service duration will let you override the timeslot size for the length of the booking. Example: If the timeslot size is 60 minutes but you set a service duration of is 30 minutes, the end time of the booking will be forced to 30 minutes after the start time. Set to 0 to disable service duration for this service. NOTES: 1. Use with caution! If enabled, bookings are no longer constrained by timeslot boundaries and duplicate bookings are not supported as they depend on bookings matching timeslots. 2. ONLY works with GAD Booking screen 3. NOT compatible with Seats per Booking
Early Booking Discounts	0.00 Fixed amount discount 7 Days	Use this setting to offer a discount for early booking. Service level discounts override resource level discounts. They are not additive. Early Booking Discounts must be enabled in the Configure screen . Cannot be used with coupons.
Staff Only	No	Yes = This service will only appear on the staff booking screen.
Image:	abpro_service_images/massage.png	Image to display in the service dropdown list. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen. Use the Joomla Media Manager to upload your images. Enter the image manager folder and filename here. Example 'abpro_service_images/my_image.png' where you created a folder called abpro_service_images for your images.
Image Text:	We know how to rub you the right way.	Text to display, with the image, in the service dropdown list. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen
Category	Calgary Add >> Add >> Calgary	Optional - Specify what category you wish this resource service to display with. Leave empty to display with any/all categories.
Display Order:	1	
Published:	Yes	

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Resource: The resource this service will apply to.

Service Name: Name of the service, this will appear in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen. **Description:** For internal use only.

Service Rate: Rate is used by the PayPal implementation. Rate is the amount you charge as a decimal number. This is used by the system to calculate total charge for PayPal. This rate, if set, overrides the resource rate. **Rate Unit:**

- per Hour = calculate costs as rate x hours
- per Booking = flat rate charge per booking

Services Duration: The service duration will let you override the timeslot size for the length of the booking. *Example:* If the timeslot size is 60 minutes but you set a service duration of is 30 minutes, the end time of the booking will be forced to 30 minutes after the start time. Set to 0 to disable service duration for this service

Set to 0 to disable service duration for this service **Rate Unit:**

- Minutes
- Hours

NOTES:

- 1. Use with caution! If enabled, bookings are **no longer constrained by timeslot boundaries** and some other features will no longer work (seats per booking for example)
- 2. ONLY works with GAD Booking screen

Early Booking Discounts: Use this setting to offer a discount for early booking. Service level discounts override resource level discounts, they are not additive. Early Booking Discounts must be enabled in the Configure screen and cannot be used with coupons.

Staff Only: Yes = This service will only appear on the staff booking screen.

Image: Image to display in the service dropdown list. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen. Use the Joomla Media Manager to upload your images. Enter the image manager folder and filename here. Example `*abpro_service_images/my_image.png*` where you created a folder called *abpro_service_images* for your images.

Image Text: Text to display, with the image, in the service dropdown list. You can use only text if you do not want an image. Requires ddSlick enabled in the Configure screen

Category: Optional - Specify what category you wish this resource service to display with. Leave empty to display with any/all categories.

Order: This determines the order this service will appear in the service drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Published: Only services with Published set to Yes will appear in the drop down list on the Appointment Booking screen.

Service Copy

You can copy a service from one resource to one or more others. Select a service in the service list, then click on Copy.



Timeslots

A Time Slot is a block of time in the day that you wish to allow visitors to book. A day can have as many time slots as you like.

The Appointment Booking component stores a booking with a start and end date and time. The time slot just allows you to specify a fixed start/end that is easy for your visitor to choose.

Note: Changing a time slot has no effect on previously created bookings.

🌠 Joomla!'	Арр	oint	ment Bo	oking Pro -	Time Slots					
New	E E	dit	 Publish 	🕴 Unpublish	Copy Time Slot(s)	X Remove	🕴 Close	Help		
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Time	e Slots	List	Resource*:	Select a Resource		Day:	Monday		
Categories Configure Resources		ID ¥	Resource	Day	Start	End		Start Pub	End Pub	Published
Services Time Slots		1	Global	Monday	y 08:00	09:00				0
UDFs		2	Global	Monday	y 09:00	10:00		2010-05-28	2013-05-31	ø
		3	Global	Monday	y 10:00	11:00		0000-00-00	0000-00-00	ø
		4	Global	Monday	y 11:00	12:00		0000-00-00	0000-00-00	ø
		5	Global	Monday	y 13:00	14:00		0000-00-00	0000-00-00	ø
		6	Global	Monday	y 14:00	15:00				Ø
		7	Global	Monday	y 15:00	16:00				Ø
		172	Global	Monday	y 16:00	17:00		2011-10-15	2014-10-11	Ø

"Resources with their 'time slots' set to 'Global' will NOT appear in this list. To set resource specific timeslots for a resource you must first set the 'timeslots' setting for the resource to 'Resource Specific'

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Toolbar Icons

New: Creates a new time slot, allowing you to set the day, start and end time.

Edit: Opens the Time Slot edit screen to allow you to change the day, start time and/or end time.

Publish: Only Published time slots will appear on the Appointment Booking screen.

Unpublish: Hides a time slot.

Copy: Copy one or more time slots to a different day.

Remove: Deletes one or more time slots.

Help: Opens this help screen.

Filters

Resource: Show only time slots for a selected resource. Resources with their 'time slots' set to 'Global' will NOT appear in this list. To set resource specific timeslots for a resource you must first set the 'timeslots' setting for the resource to 'Resource Specific'

Day: Show only time slots for a selected day.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the time slot.
Day: Day the time slot applies to.
Start: Start time for the time slot.
End: End time for the time slot.
Start Pub: Start Publishing this timeslot.
End Pub: End Publishing this timeslot.
Click on the ID link to open the edit screen.
Click on the icon in the Published column to toggle the published state.

Click on the ID link to open the edit screen.

Timeslot Detail

A Time Slot is a block of time in the day that you wish to allow visitors to book an appointment. A day can have as many time slots as you like.

The Appointment Booking component stores a booking with a start and end date and time. The time slot just allows you to specify a fixed start/end that is easy for your visitor to choose.

Note: Changing a time slot has no effect on previously created bookings.

This screen is used to create or edit time slots. Note: The system does no validation that the time slot you create is correct. You must take care not to create overlapping time slots or slots with start time after end time.							
ID:	172						
Resource:	Global	(Resources with their 'time slots' set to 'Global' will not appear in this list.)					
Day:	Monday						
Start.	16 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)						
End:	17 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)						
Description:		The description is shown on the timeslot on the GAD booking screen. There is not much room so keep it brief. This would only be used if you need to provide special information about the timeslot, for example 'Morning Session'. If left blank, no description is shown and the green checkmark image is displayed.					
Start Publishing:	0000-00-00	If left blank (or at 0000-00-00), published state is controlled by the Published yes/no setting. You can select a date to start publishing which work in conjuctions with the Published setting. That is the timeslot must have Published = Yes AND the date be on or after the start publishing date. Normally leave blank but if Start Publishing is set, End Publishing must be set also.					
End Publishing:	0000-00-00	If left blank (or at 0000-00-00), published state is controlled by the Published yes/no setting. You can select a date to end publishing which work in conjuctions with the Published setting. That is the timeslot must have Published = Yes AND the date be on or before the end publishing date. Normally leave blank but if Start Publishing is set, End Publishing must be set also.					
Staff Only:	No	Yes = This timeslot will only appear on the staff booking screen. Do not define a staff timeslot that conflicts with or overlaps a non-staff slot. Used to allow staff to make bookings outside of the time public is allowed to book.					
Published:	No						

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Resource: Select either 'Global' or a specific resource name. Resources with their 'time slots' set to 'Global' will not appear in this list.

Day: Choose the day you want this time slot to apply to.

Start: Select the start time for this time slot.

End: Select the end time for this time slot. Ensure the end time is after the start time.

Description: The description is shown on the timeslot on the GAD booking screen. If left blank, no description is shown, the green checkmark image is displayed.

There is not much room so keep it brief. This would **only be used** if you need to provide **special information** about the timeslot, for example 'Morning Session'.

Start Publishing: If left blank (or at 0000-00-00), published state is controlled by the **Published** yes/no setting. You can select a date to start publishing which work in conjunction with the Published setting. That is, the timeslot must have Published = Yes AND the date be on or after the start publishing date. This would be used if you want to have additional timeslots on specific dates. For example if you run a promotion and will be open late during a show so you want evening timeslots just for a few days you could define the publishing to only show them at that time.

End Publishing: If left blank (or at 0000-00-00), published state is controlled by the **Published** yes/no setting. You can select a date to end publishing which work in conjunction with the Published setting. That is, the timeslot must have Published = Yes AND the date be on or before the end publishing date

Staff Only: Yes = This timeslot will only appear on the staff booking screen. Do not define a staff timeslot that conflicts with or overlaps a non-staff slot. Used to allow staff to make bookings outside of the time public is allowed to book.

Published: Only time slots with Published set to Yes will appear in the dropdown list on the Resource Booking screen

Notes:

- Changes to time slots will have NO EFFECT on existing bookings.
- When checking for duplicate bookings, ABPro uses (starttime + 1 second) to (endtime -1 second) so adjacent slots can be set with **common end points**
 - Example: 9:00-9:15 next slot can be 9:15-9:20.
- Currently no support for time slots going past midnight.

New Timeslot

Resource:	Global	×	(Resources with their 'time slots' set to 'Global' will not appear in this list.)
Day:	Monday	•	
Single or Series:	© Single	Start: 00 • 00 • (hh:mm) End: 00 • : 00 • (hh:mm)	Create a Single Timeslot only.
	© Series	Range Start 00 • : 00 • Range End 00 • : 00 • Slot Duration 60 minutes	Create a Series of Timeslots of specified duration within the specified range of hours. These slots can then be copied to other days and/or resources via the Copy Timeslots feature. Example: Range: 8:00 - 17:00 Duration: 15 This will create consecutive 15 minutes slots between 8:00 and 17:00. Duration must be a number between 10 and 1440.
Delete before adding:	No	•	Yes = Any existing slots, for this resource and day, will be deleted before the new one(s) are created. Existing bookings are not affected.
Un-Publish before adding:	No	•	Yes = Any existing slots, for this resource and day, will be un-published before the new one(s) are created. Existing bookings are not affected.
Description:			The description is shown on the timeslot on the GAD booking screen. There is not much room so keep it brief. This would only be used if you need to provide special information.

The Timeslot create screen has some extra fields not found on the Timeslot Edit screen.

Single or Series

You can create a single new timeslots or a series of slots from this screen.

Single: Set the start and end times for the slot.

Series: You caset a time range and duration and have ABPro create however many slots of the specified duration fit between the start and end times.

Example: Range: 8:00 - 17:00 Duration: 15 This will create consecutive 15 minutes slots between 8:00 and 17:00. Duration must be a number between 10 and 1440.

Delete before adding: Yes = Any existing slots, for this resource and day, will be deleted before the new one(s) are created. Existing bookings are not affected.

Un-Publish before adding: Yes = Any existing slots, for this resource and day, will be un-published before the new one(s) are created. Existing bookings are not affected.

Timeslot Copy

You can copy one or more timeslots to another day. This means you can setup one day's timeslots and copy them to any other days of the week you need. You can copy from Global to a specific resource or vice versa.

🔀 Joomla!' Appointm	nent Booking Pro - Copy Time Slot(s)
Copy Now Cancel	
Copy Time Slot(s)	
Destination Resource	Destination Day(s)
Global	Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat
	Check all days that wish the time slots copied to.
	Set publish start date:
	Set publish end date:
	Leave empty to copy start/end publishing value from source timeslot.

Notes:

- · Copying timeslots will have NO EFFECT on existing bookings.
- · Resources with their 'time slots' set to 'Global' will NOT appear in the Resource list.
- · You cannot copy multiple source days to multiple destination days. Each slot copied gets added to each of the destination days.

Book-Offs

A Book-Off is a **specific date or dates** that you do not want to allow bookings for a resource. Examples would be holidays, vacation days, etc. You can specify a range of hours if you do not want to book-off the full day.

For blocking **days of the week** (ie: only book Mon, Wed, Fri) - use Resource setup, Basic Setup tab, 'Allow Booking on Days'



Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Toolbar Icons

New: Creates a book-off, allowing you to set the resource, date and description*.
Edit: Opens the Book-Off edit screen to allow you to change the date or description*.
Publish: Only Published book-offs will affect the popup calendar in the Resource Booking screen.
Unpublish: Only Published book-offs will affect the popup calendar in the Resource Booking screen.
Copy: Copy a book-off to a different resource.
Remove: Deletes one or more book-offs.
Help: Opens this help screen.

*Description is for internal use only and is not shown to the public.

Filters

Resource: Show book-offs for a selected resource.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the book-off record.
Resource: Resource the book-off applies to.
Date Off: Date of book-off.
Full Day: Yes or No
Hours: If not Full Day, shows what hours are booked-off.
Description: Text entered here will appear in booking screen.
Click on the ID link to open the edit screen.
Click on the icon in the Published column to toggle the published state.

Click on the ID link to open the edit screen.

Book-Off Detail

A Book-Off is a specific date or dates that you do not want to allow bookings for a resource. Examples would be holidays, vacation days, etc.

Detail for Edit:

ABPro - Bo	ook-Off Detail: [EDIT]	[somal]
✓ Save & Close	+ Save & New Olose	Help
This screen is used to c Note: The system will n	reate or edit book-offs. ot prevent book-offs over existing appointments. You will nee	d to manually cancel or reschedule any existing appointments.
ID:	246	
Resource:	Dr Bar	
Daily Book-Off	No	Book-offs are normally date specific. A daily book-off is a special case which ignores date and appears based on day of the week . This would typically be used for Lunch or a break time that you want to enforce every day. By creating a daily book-off you will prevent service based duration bookings from encroaching on your break time.
Date:	2015-03-27	
Full Day:	No	If Full Day = No, use the start/end times to determine the booking start and ending times. These times are ignored if you set Full Day = Yes.
Start.	00 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	Tou must set the bookon range to match timesion boundaries. For example in you have a timeslot that runs from 10:00-11:00 do not start you book-off at 10:30. This works by covering the timeslots with a non-clickable div. As such, the use of service
End:	00 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	based duration does not honor book-off hours ranges. Also, do not start or end a book-off range beyond your grid, if your day starts at 8:00AM, start your book-off range at 8:00AM not at 0:00.
Description:	Boxing Day	Text entered here will be displayed in the book-off area on the GAD booking screen.
Published:	Yes	

ABPro - B	ook-Off Detail: [EDIT]	🔀 Joomla!"
✓ Save & Close	+ Save & New O Close	• Help
This screen is used to Note: The system will	create or edit book-offs. not prevent book-offs over existing appointments. You will nee	ed to manually cancel or reschedule any existing appointments.
ID:	246	
Resource:	Dr Bar	
Daily Book-Off	Yes	Book-offs are normally date specific. A daily book-off is a special case which ignores date and appears based on day of the week. This would typically be used for Lunch or a break
	Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri S	time that you want to enforce every day. By creating a daily book-off you will prevent service based duration bookings from encroaching on your break time.
	VVVVV	Ð
Date:	2015-03-27	Note: Date is ignored and Full Day is forced to No, if Daily Book-Off = Yes
Full Day:	No	If Full Day = No, use the start/end times to determine the booking start and ending times. These times are ignored if you set Full Day = Yes.
Start:	00 • : 00 • (hh:mm)	You must set the bookoff range to match timeslot boundaries. For example if you have a timeslot that runs from 10:00-11:00 do not start you book-off at 10:30. This works by covering the timeslots with a non-clickable div. As such, the use of service
End:	00 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	 based duration does not honor book-off hours ranges. Also, do not start or end a book-off range beyond your grid, if your day starts at 8:00AM, start your book-off range at 8:00AM not at 0:00.
Description:	Boxing Day	Text entered here will be displayed in the book-off area on the GAD booking screen.
Published:	Yes	

Setting *Daily Book-off* to **Yes** will display checkboxes for days of the week, and also disable *Date* and *Full Day* as they have no meaning for Daily Book-offs.

Detail for add NEW has a 'To' date box for creating a group of book-offs between two dates:

ABPro - Boo	ok-Off Detail: [NEW]	🔀 Joomla!"
✓ Save & Close 4	Save & New O Cancel	• Help
This screen is used to cre Note: The system will no	eate or edit book-offs. t prevent book-offs over existing appointments. You will need t	to manually cancel or reschedule any existing appointments.
ID:		
Resource:	Dr Bar	
Daily Book-Off	No	Book-offs are normally date specific. A daily book-off is a <i>special case</i> which ignores date and appears based on day of the week . This would typically be used for Lunch or a break time that you want to enforce every day. By creating a daily book-off you will prevent service based duration bookings from encroaching on your break time.
Date:	To:	Book-offs are stored as individual dates, NOT date ranges. This screen will create a series of book-offs between two dates. To edit or remove the book-off you must deal with them as individual dates.
Days:	Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat	Select which week-days you want these book-offs added to.
Full Day:	Yes	If Full Day = No, use the start/end times to determine the booking start and ending times. These times are ignored if you set Full Day = Yes.
Start:	00 • : 00 • (hh:mm)	You must set the bookoff range to match timeslot boundaries. For example if you have a timeslot that runs from 10:00-11:00 do not start you book-off at 10:30. This works by covering the timeslots with a non-clickable div. As such, the use of service based diviation does not book off hours ranges.
End:	00 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	Also, do not start or end a book-off range beyond your grid, if your day starts at 8:00AM, start your book-off range at 8:00AM not at 0:00.
Description:		Text entered here will be displayed in the book-off area on the GAD booking screen.
Published:	Yes	

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Resource: In edit mode this will show the name of the resource owning this book-off record. In Add New mode, you select the specific resource name.

Daily Book-off: Book-offs are normally date specific. A daily book-off is a special case which ignores date and appears based on day of the week. This would typically be used for Lunch or a break time that you want to enforce every day. By creating a daily book-off you will prevent service based duration bookings from encroaching on your break time. **Date:** Date for the Book-Off, use the popup calendar to choose a date.

Days: Which days to book-off when creating a series. For example, specify July 1-31 and day Wed, Fri will create Book-Offs on Wednesdays and Fridays between July 1-31.

Full Day & start/end: If Full Day = No, use the start/end times to determine the booking start and ending times. These

times are ignored if you set Full Day = Yes.

You must set the book-off range to match timeslot boundaries. For example if you have a timeslot that runs from 10:00-11:00 do not start you book-off at 10:30.

To: (only for add new) Book-offs are stored as individual dates, NOT date ranges. This screen will create a series of book-offs between two dates. To edit or remove the book-off you must deal with them as individual dates.

Description: Description of the book-off is for internal use only and is not shown to the public. **Published:** Only Book-Offs with Published set to **Yes** will affect the popup calendar.

Copy Book-offs

You can copy a book-off from one resource to one or more others. In ABPro 2 you can also specify a new date. Select a book-off in the book-off list, then click on Copy.



Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Choose your destination resources for the copy and click Copy Now.

UDFs

The UDF system within ABPro allows you to add any number of additional data entry fields to your booking screen. You can add textboxes, checkboxes, dropdown lists or radio buttons to your screen. The values entered by the user will be displayed in the appointment detail screen.

	Enter header text here - clear for no header
Your Name:	
Phone:	
Email:	
Favorite Fruit	Apples
	Oranges
	Bananas
Sex:	Yes Please -
ife:	
05.10	
	o'boy
Category:	Select a Category 👻
Resource:	
	Submit Request
	Enter fester text bars, clear for no fester

powered by AppointmentBookingPro.com v1.4

🎽 Joomla!	Appointment Booking Pro - UDFs									
New	₿ E	dit	✓ Publish	🕴 Unpublish	X Remove	Close	Ø Help			
Control Panel	User Defined Fields									
Appointments		ID	Screen Labe	•	Туре	Required	User Help	Order	Published	
Book-Offs Categories		4	Accept Terms		Checkbox	Yes		11	•	
Resources Services		6	Cell		Textbox	No		1	ø	
Time Slots UDFs		1	Comments		Textarea	No		10	•	
		12	Directions		Content			10	0	
		8	Event Type		List			12	•	
		3	Favourite Fruit		Radio	No	Select your favourite	2	Θ	
		13	Favourite Veg		Radio	No		11	•	

Toolbar Icons

New: Creates a new UDF.
Edit: Opens the UDF edit screen to allow you to change the UDF's information.
Publish: Only Published UDFs will appear in the booking screen.
Unpublish: Only Published UDFs will appear in the booking screen.
Remove: Deletes one or more UDFs.
Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the UDF record.
Screen Label: The label for the UDF on the booking screen.
Type: Textbox, Checkbox, List or Radio Button.
Required: You can set any Textbox UDFs to be a required field.
User Help: You can define help text that will appear below the UDF on the booking screen. This is intended to assist the user in filling in the box.
Order: The order in which the UDFs are presented on the booking screen.

Click on the **ID link** to open the edit screen.

Click on the icon in the Published column to toggle the published state.

UDF Detail

The UDF system within ABPro allows you to add any number of additional data entry fields to you booking screen. You can add textboxes, checkboxes or radio buttons to you screen. The values entered by the user will be displayed in the appointment detail screen.

ABPro - l	JDF Detail: [EDIT]	🔀 Joomla!
Save & Close	+ Save & New OClose	Help
This screen is used to	o create or edit User Defined Fields.	
ID:	3	
Screen Label:	Favourite Fruit	
Type:	Radio Buttons	
Size:	40	Only applies if control type = Textbox.
Rows:	2	Only applies if control type = Textarea
Columns:	40	Only applies if control type = Textarea or Radio buttons For Radio type, this setting determines how many colums of radio buttons to display. Set to 1 for verticle display. Mobile always displays verticle.
Radio Buttons or List Items:	Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas	Comma separated radio button or dropdown list values, use '(d)' to indicate default selection. Example: 'Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas'. MAX 255 characters
Required Field:	No	Only applies if control type = Textbox, Textarea or Radio button (when no button default is specified)
Help Text:	Select <i>your</i> favourite	Enter help text for this UDF. If 'Show help icon' = Yes, a help icon will be displayed with your help
	Help format: Text	text as a JQuery popup dialog. If set to No, the help text is displayed below the UDF. If 'Help format' set to 'Text' means the box above contains the help text, if set to 'Link' it contains the link to an html page that will be loaded into the JQuery dialog
Tooltip:	Select your favourite	
Text for 'Content' UDF type:		Unlike other UDFs the 'Content' type is for presenting information TO the customer. This can be used for common information like terms & conditions, or for resource specific information. HTML is allowed.
Show on Booking Screen:	Yes	If set to No, this content will not show on the booking screen. You can use the token system to include this text in your confirmation messages

You can assign this	UDF to one or more resources. If NOT assign	ed, it will be shown for ALL.	
Resources:	Dr Bar Add >> </th <th>re Empty = ALL</th> <th>Select one or more resources that this UDF applies to. If you wish this UDF to be shown for ALL resources, do not select any.</th>	re Empty = ALL	Select one or more resources that this UDF applies to. If you wish this UDF to be shown for ALL resources, do not select any.
If you are using the . Only Textbox or Texts empty.	Joomla Profile plug-in and wish to populate an area fields can pre-fill from the Joomla Profile.	ABPro UDF field from a Joo NOTE: The plug-in must be	omla profile field, set the field mapping here. enabled AND at least one user profile value entered or the list will show
Joomla Profile plug-in Field:	Select a Joomla profile value		
Read Only:	No		Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to JS. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.
Set to Yes if you do r Note: Changes, if al Changes are only st	not want visitor to change the value. lowed, are never written back to the Joomla pr tored in the ABPro booking.	ofile.	
CB Profile Field:	Select a CB profile value		
Read Only:	No		Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to CB. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.
If you are using Jom Only Textbox or Texta	Social and wish to populate an ABPro UDF fie area fields can pre-fill from JomSocial.	ld from a JS profile field, se	t the field mapping here.
JS Profile Field:	Select a JS profile value		
Read Only:	No		Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to JS. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.
Staff Only	No		Yes = This UDF will only appear in the staff (front desk) booking screen.
Display Order:	2		
Published:	Yes		

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Screen Label: The label for the UDF on the booking screen.

Type: Textbox, Textarea,	List, Checkbox,	Radio Butto	n or Content.
56			

Size: You can set the size that textboxes will be shown on the booking screen. The size of the textbox does not limit the amount of text that can be entered, just the on-screen size of the box. The max text allowed is 255 characters.

Rows: This will set the number of rows if the 'Type' is textarea. The size of the textbox does not limit the amount of text that can be entered. The max text allowed is 255 characters.

Columns: This will set the number of columns if the 'Type' is textarea. The size of the textbox does not limit the amount of text that can be entered. The max text allowed is 255 characters. For Radio type, this setting determines how many columns of radio buttons to display. Set to 1 for vertical display. Mobile always displays vertical.

Radio Buttons or List Items: Enter a comma separated list of words or phrases that are to be used as the radio button labels or listbox items. You can specify one to be initially selected by adding a "(d)" (to indicate default selection). Example: "Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas", will open the booking screen with the Oranges selected.

Required Field: You can set any Textbox, or Textarea, UDFs to be a required field. This setting is ignored for non-Textbox/Textarea UDFs.

Help Text: You can define help text that will appear below the UDF on the booking screen. This is intended to assist the user in filling in the box.

Show help icon: If 'Show help icon' = Yes, a help icon will be displayed with your help text as a JQuery popup dialog. If set to No, the help text is displayed below the UDF.



Help format: If 'Help format' set to 'Text' means the box above contains the help text, if set to 'Link' it contains the link to an html page that will be loaded into the JQuery dialog.

Note the link must point to a simple HTML file, **not a Joomla content page** because the Joomla content page will mess up the JQuery already established in the booking screen.

Tooltip Text: You can define tooltip text that will appear when the user puts the mouse over the UDF on the booking screen.

Text for 'Content' UDF type: Unlike other UDFs the 'Content' type is for presenting information TO the customer. This can be used for common information like terms & conditions, or for resource specific information. HTML is allowed.

Show on Booking Screen: If set to No, this content will not show on the booking screen. This would be to show a message in the confirmation email or screen that does not appear on the booking screen. You can use the token system to include this text in your confirmation messages. See section 'Using UDFs' later in the guide for more detail.

Resources: By default UDFs show for all resources. You can set a UDF to only show for one or more specific resources.

For UDFs set to show for ALL resources, they appear above the resource dropdown, resource specific below.

Mapping to Community Builder, JomSocial or Joomla Profile Plug-in. See appropriate sections later in this guide. Example 'Community Builder and ABPro'

	Enter header text here - clear for no header	UDFs for ALL resources
Your Name:		/
Phone:		
Email:	K	
Refreshments:		
	(ex: coffee for 101)	
City:		
D-1	o'boy	
Jategory.		
lesource:	Dr Foo 🗸	UDFs for specific resources
	Favorite Fruit Apples Oranges	
	Bananas help here	
Grid Start Date	Bananas help here 2009-05-15	Grid Start: 8:00 AM 👻 End: 5:00 PM

To have a UDF show for a specific resource select the resource from the left list and 'Add' to the right.

You can assign this UDF to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be shown for ALL.					
Add >> Resources: Dr Foo	Dr Foo	Select one or more resources that this UDF applies to. If you wish this UDF to be shown for ALL resources, do not select any.			

To have a UDF appear for ALL resources, do not 'Add' any.

Community Builder: You can map UDF textboxes to Community Builder profile data. See 'Community Builder and ABPro' for details.

JomSocial: You can map UDF textboxes to JomSocial profile data. See 'JomSocial and ABPro' for details.

Staff Only: Yes = This UDF will **only** appear in the staff (front desk) booking screen.

Order: The order in which the UDFs are presented on the booking screen.

Published: Only Published UDFs will appear in the booking screen.

Coupons

The coupon system allows you to create coupon codes, assign discount levels and expiry dates to them and give them to customers. With the coupon system enabled (done in the Payment Processors/General Settings screen) the booking screen will show a coupon entry box. When the customer enters a code, it is validated and the discount applied to the total cost.

Coupons are only meaningful when PayPal and/or Authorize.net is enabled.

X Joomk	⊐! [°] ABPro - Pay	ment Process	sors	
✓ Save & Close	Cancel @ Help			
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Payment Processo General Settings	rs PayPal Auti	horize.net (SIM)	2CheckOut
Categories Configure	Additional Fee:	1.23	Fixed	Additional charge, can be fixed fee or percentage. Set to 0 for no fee.
Resources Services Time Slots	Enable Coupons:	Yes		Set to yes if you wish to enable the coupon system and show a coupon entry box on the booking screens.
Coupon:	1234 10% off	Apply Coupo	on]	
	Resource Rate	Hours	Total	
	\$ 20.00	1.00	\$ 20.00	
		Additional Fee:	1.00	
	2	Discount	(2.10)	
		Total:	\$ 18.90	

To offer a FREE booking set Value = 100 and the Type = Percent.

If the booking total after discount is \$0, no trip to PayPal or Authorize.net is made and the booking is placed immediately.

The Booking detail will show a coupon code is one was used in the booking.

The Coupons screen is accessed via the **Coupons** control panel icon.

🔀 Joomla	l Ap	poi	ntment Bool	king Pro -	Coupor	าร					
New		Edit	✓ Publish	3 Unpublish	X Delete	Clos	e 🛛 🖗 Help)			
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Coup	ion Li	ist Description ❤	Coupon Code	Value	Туре	Max/User	Max Total	Current	Expiry Date	Published
Categories Configure		2	\$5.00 OFF	1122	5	fixed	0	0	3	Fri Nov 30, 2012	Ø
Resources Services Time Slots UDFs		1	10% off	1234	10	percent	0	0	0	Fri Dec 30, 2011	Ø

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Toolbar Icons

New: Opens the New Coupon screen to allow you to add a new coupon.

Edit: Opens the Coupon Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the coupon.

Publish: Sets one or more coupons to Unpublished. Unpublished coupons will return 'Invalid Coupon' on the Appointment Booking screen.

Unpublish: Sets one or more coupons to Unpublished.

Remove: Deletes one or more coupons.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the coupon.

Description: This text appears on the booking screen.

Coupon Code: The Coupon Code is what the customer enters to get the discount. When the user enters a coupon code it is validated by the system and the appropriate discount is applied. This code is stored in the booking so you can tell a customer used a coupon with the order.

Value: This is the amount that will be discounted.

Type: This tells what type of discount will be applied, fixed amount or percentage.

Expiry: This tells when the coupon will expire. An expired coupon will return 'Coupon Expired' when the user attempts to use it.

Max, Total & Current: User/usage counts **Published:** Indicates the published state.

Click on the **ID** to open the edit screen.

Coupon Detail

ABPro - Cou	pon Detail: [EDIT]	Joomla!
✓ Save & Close +	Save & New O Close	Help
Use this screen to add/edi	it a coupon. Coupons cannot be used when Early Booking Dis	scounts are enabled.
ID:	2	
Description:	\$5.00 OFF	This text will appear on the booking screen when the coupon has been validated. Example: 5% seniors discount
Coupon Code:	1122	Enter a alphanumeric string of characters to be the coupon code given to users to enter in order to receive the discount. Example: ABC123
Value:	5	
Type:	Fixed Value	
Max User Usage:	10	This is the maximum times an <i>individual user</i> can use this coupon. Only works if booking requires login. Set to 0 for no limit.
Max Total Usage:	100	This is the maximum times the coupon be used in total (by all users)Set to 0 for no limit.
Current Useage:	7	This shows the number of bookings that have used this coupon.
You can assign this Coup	on to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be available	for ALL resources.
Resources:	Dr Bar Add >> Dr Bar C <remove empty="ALL</td"><td>Select one or more resources that this Coupon applies to. If you wish this Coupon to be available for ALL resources, do not select any.</td></remove>	Select one or more resources that this Coupon applies to. If you wish this Coupon to be available for ALL resources, do not select any.
Expiry	0000-00-00 📰 Clear	After this date, the coupon will not be accepted. Leave blank (or 0000-00-00) for NO Expiry. Note: This is the date the coupon is entered into a booking screen. If a coupon expires tomorrow, you can still use it today to make a booking 2 weeks from now. Valid range is the next two settings.
Valid Range Start	0000-00-00 III Clear	The earliest booking date for which this coupon can be used. Leave blank (or 0000-00-00) for no booking date start restrictions.
Valid Range End	0000-00-00 m Clear	The lastest booking date for which this coupon can be used. Leave blank (or 0000-00-00) for no booking date end restrictions.
Published:	Yes	

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Description: This text appears on the booking screen when the user enters a coupon code it it is validated by the system. Examples: '10% OFF', 'Summer Special'

Coupon Code: The Coupon Code is what the customer enters to get the discount. This code is stored in the booking so you can tell a customer used a coupon with the order.

Value: This is the amount that will be discounted. Must be a number.

Type: This tells what type of discount will be applied, fixed amount or percentage.

Max User Usage: This is the maximum times an individual user can use this coupon. Only works if booking requires login. Set to 0 for no limit.

Max Total Usage: This is the maximum times the coupon be used in total (by all users)Set to 0 for no limit. If non-0 Max Total must be equal to or greater than Max User.

Resources: You can assign this coupon to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be available for ALL. Select one or more resources that this coupon applies to. If you wish this coupon to be available for ALL resources, do not select any.

Expiry: This tells when the coupon will expire. And expired coupon will return 'Coupon Expired' when the user attempts to use it.

Valid Range Start: The earliest booking date for which this coupon can be used. Leave blank (or 0000-00-00) for no booking date start restrictions.

Valid Range End: The lastest booking date for which this coupon can be used. Leave blank (or 0000-00-00) for no booking date end restrictions.

Published: Indicates the published state.

Configuration The configuration screen is made up of several tabs.

Basic Setup

Appointmen	it booking Pro -	Conligurat	ion				14	
🗹 Save	✓ Save & Close	Close						Ø H
Control Panel	Appointment Booking	g Configuration						
Appointments Book-Offs	Basic Setup	Calendars G	AD Setup	Front-End Admin	Shopping Cart	Columns	Staff	
Categories Configure	Send email notifications TO:	support@s	oftventures.c	om		(multiple joe@abo	e recipient example: c.com,frank@xyz.com)	
Coupons Email Marketing	Email notification FROM address:	support@s	oftventures.c	om				
Gift Certificates Message Centre	Email notification SUBJECT:	ABPro 3.0.	6					
Payment Processors	HTML email:	Yes		•		Yes = se No = ser	end HTML email nd plain text email.	
Rate Adjustments Rate Overrides	Login Required:	No		•		Yes = us book an	ers not logged in will not be a appointment.	llowed to
Resources Seat Adjustments Seate/Booking	Name Read Only	No		•		If the use name AE	er is logged in, do not let them BPro pulled from the Joomla U	change th Jsers table
Services SMS Processors	Phone:	Optional		*		If set to Y	res, Phone number will be a r	equired fie
Time Slots UDFs User Credits		Read Only: No		•		Set to Ye value. Note: Ch CB or FS booking.	is if you do not want the visitor nanges, if allowed, are never v S. Changes are only stored in	to change written baci the ABPro
		[optional] Fet profile.pho	ch data from . ne	Joomla profile:		lf you ha you can	ve enabled the Joomla User F map the Phone to a Profile fie	Profile plug Id here.
		[optional] Fet Select a C	ch data from (8 profile valu	CB profile:		lf you are populate profile fie	e using Community Builder an e the ABPro booking screen fro eld, set the field mapping here	d wish to om a CB
		[optional] Fet Select a J	ch data from . S profile valu	JS profile: e		If you are ABPro U mapping Only Text JomSoc	e using JomSocial and wish to DF field from a JS profile field g here. tbox or Textarea fields can pre ial.	o populate , set the fie -fill from
	Email:	Required		*		If set to Y	Yes, Email address will be a re	equired fiel
	Hide logo:	No		•		If set to 1	Yes, the logo at the bottom of t	he booking

Date Picker Start Day:	Sunday	•	Sets what day of the week the popup date picker starts with.
Date Picker Format:	DD-MM-YYYY	•	Set the popup date picker format for all front end screens.
Limit a User's Bookings:	0 in 1 days		You can limit the maximum number of bookings a user can make. Only applies to logged in users so only usable with Login Required = Yes. 0 = NO LIMIT
Auto-Accept Bookings:	Yes		If set to Yes, new bookings will skip the <i>New</i> status and go automatically to 'Accepted' status. This can be overridden at the resource level.
Block on New:	No	•	If Auto-Accept = No, then new bookings go in as status `new'. Set this to Yes if you wish new, non-accepted booking requests to block the timeslot so no one esle can request it. If Auto Accept = Yes, this setting is ignored.
Allow Cancellation:	No	•	If set to Yes, and you include the cancellation_id in the confirmation message, the user will be able to cancel their booking. If set to 'From My Bookings Only', the booking screen cancel box will not show.
	up 4 hours before bo to range hours.	ooking. Absolute hours, not	Note: This system does not do PayPal refunds so if you have PayPal enabled AND you 'Allow Cancellation' you must manually refund payments.
Allow Credit Refunds:	Yes	•	Only applies to User Credit System. Yes = Cancel re-instates user credit No = No Refunds, cancel does not return credits.
Time Format:	12 hour AM/PM	•	Time Format effects front end display only
Use JQuery Tooltips:	No	•	If set to yes, the JQuery code can be found/edited in file sv_tooltips.js and css in sv_tooltips.css Note: Due to a problem with IE dropdown lists, JQuery tooltips are disabled for dropdown lists if the user is running IE.
Enable Early Booking Discounts:	No	•	When enabled, you can define percentage or flat rate discounts to be given if bookings are made x days in advance. The discounts are defined in the resource and service setup screens. Cannot be used with coupons.
Force Gap:	0		If you are using Service Based Duration and need to force a gap between bookings you can enter a number of minutes here. If you are not using Service Based Duration you should use timeslot definitions to create any gaps you require. Note: The <i>simple booking screen</i> will enforce on submit and does not have the granularity to force gaps smaller than one timeslot. Only use if Max Seats = 1.

Just-in-time Submit:	No		If set to Yes, the submit button will not appear until after the customer has selected a timeslot.
Enable ddSlick:	Yes		Enable the jQuery ddSlick plug-in to display images and text in Category, Resource and Service, dropdown lists.
Enable Auto Resource:	Yes		If set to yes, when a user accesses the front end Control Panel , and they are not a resource administrator, the system will create a resource for them and make them the administrator. This means any user can become a resource and resource admin so they can accept their own appointments.
Auto Resource Groups:	ABPro Member Add >> < Remove	ABPro Member	You can control which users can create resources for themselves by using Joomla Groups. The Auto Resource setting, above, must be enabled for this setting to have any effect. Default = Registered, so all registered users can create resources.
Auto Resource Category:	Calgary Add >>	Calgary	If you are using Categories in ABpro, you can set the default category to which new auto resources are assigned when created. Changes made here have no effect on existing auto resources. The Auto Resource setting, above, must be enabled for this setting to have any effect.
Header Text:	[Your header text here]		
Footer Text:	[Your footer text here]	4	

Send email notifications TO: When a new booking request is created by the front-end screen, a notification is emailed to the address specified here. Note this can be overridden at the resource level, so different resources can send notifications to different addresses.

Email notification FROM address: Any emails sent from the component must have a FROM address. This should be the same domain as you web site. Example: if your web site is **abc.com**, the FROM must be **somebody@abc.com** or else you mail server may reject the outgoing mail as 'relayed' or spam.

Email notification SUBJECT: This will be the subject used in email notifications

HTML email: Yes = send HTML formatted email, No = send plain text emails.

Login Required: If set to Yes only registered users will be allowed to submit a booking.

Phone: Make the phone number a required input field, optional field or hide altogether. You can also map the phone number to either Community Builder, JomSocial or Joomla Profile Plug-in. See the appropriate sections later in the guide.

Email: Make the email address a required input field, optional field or hide altogether.

Hide logo: Hide the AppointmentBookingPro.com link on the front-end screen.

Use DIV calendar: If set to Yes, the popup calendar used by the booking screens will be a CSS div based object, if No it will be a popup window.

Date Picker Start Day: The date picker popup calendar can be set to start the week with Sunday or Monday.

Date Picker Format: Set the popup date picker format for all front end screens. Choices are DD-MM-YYYY, MM-DD-YYYY or YYYY-MM-DD

Limit User's Daily Bookings: You can limit the maximum number of booking a user can make x days. This requires the user to be logged in.

Setting **1 booking in 1 days** means it will only allow a user to make one booking per day. Setting **1 booking in 7 days** means it will only allow a user to make one booking between now and 7 days from now. It **does not limit** beyond 7 days from now. If you do not want people making bookings beyond the 7 day window you can set the resource 'Disable Dates After' to 7 days from now. ABPro does not currently have the ability to limit in a floating window of x days.

Auto-Accept Bookings: Normally a booking 'request' is created, with the status of 'new', and notification is send to the address specified above. A designated administrator would make the decision to accept or decline the booking request. With Auto-Accept = Yes, the 'new' status is skipped and the booking as added with the status of accepted. Bookings with status of 'new' do not lock the timeslot. Only 'accepted' bookings do that. You can have any number of 'requests' for the same timeslot but only one can be accepted. With Auto-Accept enabled the first booking locks the slot to prevent duplicates. (Unless multiple duplicates are allowed – see resource set for details)

Block on New: If Auto-Accept = No, then new bookings go in as status `new`. Set this to Yes if you wish new, non-accepted booking requests to block the timeslot so no one else can request it. If Auto Accept = Yes, this setting is ignored.

Allow Cancellation: If set to 'Yes', a system generated, unique, code is created and added to the booking. You can add this code to the confirmation sent to the user via tokens (see Tokens on the Messages tab). With Allow Cancellation = Yes, a section will be shown, at the bottom of the booking screen, where the user can enter their cancellation code and have their booking cancelled. This does not remove the booking, it just changes the status to 'cancelled' It will remove the booking from the calendar if one is in use.

Note: PayPal refunds are not handled by ABPro so if you allow cancellation and are using PayPal you will need to manually refund as required.

up to x hours..: You can set a minimum time, before the booking, that cancellation will be accepted. For example, if you set it to 24 hours and the customer attempts to cancel 4 hours before, they will get a message saying cancellations are only allowed up to x hours before the booking starts. See Messages tab for setting the exact wording you want.

Allow Credit Refund: Yes = reinstate credits on appointment cancel, No = do not reinstate credits. Only applies to the ABPro User Credit system, has not effect on PayPal/AuthNet. ABPro never does PayPal/AuthNet refund. **Time Format:** You can specify the time format to be used on the front-end screen, either 24 hour or 12 hour +AM/PM. All internal times and administrator screens are in 24 hour format.

Use JQuery Tooltips: If set to yes, the JQuery code can be found/edited in file sv_tooltips.js and css in sv_tooltips.css

Enable Early Booking Discounts: When enabled, you can define percentage or flat rate discounts to be given if bookings are made x days in advance. The discounts are defined in the resource and service setup screens. Cannot be used with coupons.

Force Gap: If you are using Service Based Duration and need to force a gap between bookings you can enter a number of minutes here. If you are not using Service Based Duration you should use timeslot definitions to create any gaps you require.

Note: The simple booking screen will enforce on submit and does not have the granularity to force gaps smaller than one timeslot. Only use if Max Seats = 1.

Just-in-time Submit: If set to Yes, the submit button will not appear until after the customer has selected a timeslot.

Enable ddSlick: Enable the jQuery ddSlick plug-in to display images and text in Category, Resource and Service, dropdown lists. See How-To on AppointmentBookingPro.com for details on using images in ABPro.

Enable Auto Resource: If set to yes, when a user accesses the front end Control Panel, and they are not a resource administrator, the system will create a resource for them and make them the administrator. This means any user can become a resource and resource admin so they can accept their own appointments. See How-To on AppointmentBookingPro.com for details on using auto resource in ABPro.

Auto Resource Groups: You can control which users can create resources for themselves by using Joomla Groups. The Auto Resource setting, above, must be enabled for this setting to have any effect. Default = Registered, so all registered users can create resources.

Auto Resource Category: If you are using Categories in ABpro, you can set the default category to which new auto resources are assigned when created. Changes made here have no effect on existing auto resources. The Auto Resource setting, above, must be enabled for this setting to have any effect.

Header Text: Enter any information text that you would like to be displayed above the input fields of the booking screen.

Footer Text: Enter any information text that you would like to be displayed above the input fields of the booking screen.

Calendars

Appointment	Booking Pro - Confi	guration	🌠 Joomla!
🗹 Save	Save & Close	950	• Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories Configure	Appointment Booking Config Basic Setup Calenda Choose which optional 3rd p	ars GAD Setup Front-End Admin barty Calendar you want the Appointment	Shopping Cart Columns Staff Booking System to talk to.
Coupons Email Marketing Extras Gift Certificates Message Centre	Google (click here for m Calandar Eialde	nore information about Google Calendar)	Requires an account with Google and Zend Google Data Client Libraries installed on your server. See Tutorial
Payment Processors Rate Adjustments Rate Overrides Resources Seat Adjustments	Event Title:	request.name	This is the value that will appear in the calendar view on the day cell. resource.name = the name of the resource being booked request.name = the person making the booking UDFs, the screen labels for published UDFs of type textbox, radio or list, will be in the list also. If you select one of those, the user's choice or text entry will be used as the calendar entry title. Use caution with textbox types as anything the user enters will appear in the calendar.
Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Event Body:	<i>Thank you for your order. </i> font color="red">[resource] , has been booked for	 This will appear in the calendar detail area. You can use the tokens as iisted on the 'Messages' tab.
	Daylight Savings Time:	Yes	ABPro stores times in local time but some 3rd party calendars store in UTC (or GMT) and ABPro needs to convert local to UTC by using the Joomla time zone setting. Not everywhere in the world implements DST.
	DST Start Date: DST End Date:	2014-03-09	This setting lets you tell ABPro if it should apply DST when converting to UTC.

Note: This system does not attempt to validate that you have any of the selected calendars installed or that they are operating correctly. You must install and test the calendar you wish to use according to the calendar's documentation.

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.6 - Copyright 2008-2015 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Appointment Booking Pro can be set to work with Google calendar.

There is no direct connection between ABPro and the calendars; ABPro just adds/removes data from the calendar's tables. This means the communication is one-way, ABPro knows about the calendar but the calendar has no knowledge of ABPro. You cannot initiate a booking from the 3rd party calendar and have it talk to ABPro.

When a calendar is chosen, a section dealing with the calendar will appear in the booking details screen.

Request Status:	Accepted 💌
Current Calendar:	JCalPro
Post to Calendar:	Yes 👻
Calendar Category:	General 👻
Calendar Comment:	

None: do not use a 3rd party calendar

Google: Use Google calendar. See 'Google Calendar and ABPro' later in this guide for details.

Calendar Fields: 3rd party calendars have a 'title' and 'body' area. The title is what appears in the calendar cell, the body is what appears when you open a calendar date for details on the event. You can tell ABPro which field to put in which area.

Event Title: Choose either resource.name (name of the resource) or request.name (name of the requestor)

Event Body: This is what will be placed in the calendar body area. You can use tokens too insert booking information.

These are the **tokens available**:

Tokens that can be used in the Booking Complete message. These will be replaced at runtime by the system.	Token	Will be replaced with	Token	Will be replaced with
	[resource]	name of the resource being booked	[resource_category]	the resource category
	[requester name]	the name of the requester	[resource_service]	the resource service
	[startdate]	start date of the booking	[phone]	the phone number of the requester
	[starttime]	start time of the booking	[email]	the email address of the requester
	[enddate]	end date of the booking	[cancellation_id]	the system generated cancellation_id
	[endtime]	end time of the booking	[booking_total]	
	[booked_seats]		[booking_due]	
	[coupon]		[booking_id]	
			[booking_deposit]	
	for LIDEs		LIDE example	
	101 0 01 3		Obl example	value entered by user for Equarite
	[screen label]	the UDF label	[Favorite Fruit]	Fruit
	for Extras		Extras example	
	[screen label]	the Extras label	[Red Pencil]	number of Red Pencils ordered
	for Seat Types		Seat Types example	
	[screen label]	the Seat Types label	[Adult]	number of Adult seats ordered

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Example:

Event Body:

<i>Thank you for your order.</i></br>

This will appear in the calendar detail area. You can use the tokens as listed on the 'Messages' tab.

Yields..

10am test Boo 11am kfir	kin 10am Oscar 10am www	10:30am x 11am Rob Test	بېنگان 11am 12pm John Smith		
4 11am john 1pm test	Rob Test When Description	Rob Test When Wed, October 31, 11am – 12pm Description Thank you for your order.			
11		Dr Bar, has been bo date/time: Wednesday Octobe	16		
18		to Wednesday Octo Smile	ber 31, 2012 12:00 PM	23	
4	more details	copy to my calendar	2 al		

Daylight Savings Time: ABPro stores times in local time but some 3rd party calendars store in UTC (or GMT) and ABPro needs to convert local to UTC by using the Joomla time zone setting. Not everywhere in the world implements DST. This setting lets you tell ABPro if it should apply DST when converting to UTC.

DST Start Date: What date does DST start. Required so bookings for DST dates can be made outside of DST.

DST End Date: What date does DST end. Required so bookings for DST dates can be made outside of DST.
Graphic Availability Display

Appointment I	Appointment Booking Pro - Configuration											
🗹 Save	✓ Save & Close 🛛 😵 Clos	e			Help							
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	Appointment Booking Configu Basic Setup Calendars These settings are used for t	ration GAD Setup Front-End A ne Graphic Availability Display (G/	.dmin AD) and V	Shopping Cart Columns Sta Vizard booking screens only.	aff							
Configure Coupons Email Marketing Extras	Default Grid Start Time: Default Grid End Time:	8:00 •										
Gift Certificates Message Centre Payment	Hide Grid Start/Stop controls:	No	•	Yes=Do not show the grid start/end dropdown lists on the GAD screen. The grid will be fixed at the values above.								
Processors Rate Adjustments Rate Overrides Resources Seat Adjustments Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Time Slots	Grid Start Day:	 Today Tomorrow Monday 3 days from now Specific date: Tomorrow 		Today = Grid will start with today's da Tomorrow = Grid will start with tomor x days from now = Grid will start at x Specific date = Grid will start at the s	tte rrow's date days from now. elected date							
UD⊢s User Credits	Grid Width:	-1		You may need to adjust this to work with your template. If you wish the grid to resize to your template set this value to -1. Automatic resizing does not work in all templates. The recomm method is to set a fixed size that work for your template. (default								
	Name Width:	100		This is the with of the Y-Axis for the availablity table. Either date or This is ignored is the grid width is set to -1 (default is 90)								
	Available Time Slot image:	tick.png		Grid slot 'available' image, located in directory. If you want a different imag absolute path to the image. Specifty image.	n components/com_rsappt_pro3 e place it there or specify and `no_image.png` is you want no							
	Booked Time Slot image:	publish_x.png		Grid slot 'booked' image, located in a directory. If you want a different imag absolute path to the image. Specifty image.	components/com_rsappt_pro3 e place it there or specify and `no_image.png` is you want no							
	Grid Date Format:	%a %d-%b-%Y		This sets the date format for the date string info can be found at http://ca2. Do not use %e even though it says y reliably.	es on the left of the grid. The format php.net/strftime. ou can, it does not seem to work							
	Long Date Format:	%W %B %e, %Y		This date format is used in the token more room allows a longer date form	system for showing start date where nat to be displayed.							
	Number of days to show:	7		When viewing by resource, this sets grid. Default is 7. More days = longer screen and slow be calculated and added to the grid.	the number of days to show in the er response as more days need to							

Time on Y-Axis:	No		If set to Yes, the GAD screen will display time down the side (y-axis) of the screen and either resources or dates along the top (x-axis). This view is prone to css problems plus some(many?) optional settings to not work property with this work of a work, great a fact do not work and the set of the set
Row Height:	40		Limitations: This option is NOT compatible with the resource setting 'Hide non-Booking Days'. Not usable for more than 6 or 7 resources and/or 7 days, or else columns get too narrow.
Show Seats Available:	Yes	•	Instead of a checkmark indicating a free timeslot, show the number of available seats.
Who Booked in Toollip:	No	•	If a slot with Max Seats > 1 is not fully booked, setting this to Yes will make the mouseover show a list of who has already booked. Requires server call on mouse over.
Display Simple on Mobile:	No	•	If a mobile device is detected, display the Simple booking screen.

These settings are used for the Graphic Availability Display (GAD) booking screen only.

This display presents an alternate booking screen in which the user chooses a timeslot from a table of available slots.

Time on Y-Axis: If set to Yes, the GAD screen will display time down the side (y-axis) of the screen and either resources or dates along the top (x-axis).

Limitations: Not usable for more than 6 or 7 resources and/or 7 days, or else columns get too narrow.

YES

d Start Date:	2010-03-29		->>		Grid Start 8:0	OAM - End	5:00 PM 👻	
	Mon 29-Mar-2010	Tue 30-Mar-2010	Wed 31-Mar-2010	Thu 01-Apr-2010	Fri 02-Apr-2010	Sat 03-Apr-2010	Sun 04-Apr-2010	
8 AM	*	test book off	~	*	*	Not available on Saturdays	¥	
9 AM	~		4	4	*			
10 AM	~		~	4	4		*	
11 AM	0		0	4	*			
Noon								
1 PM	-	0	0	test book off	~			
2 PM	~	0			~		~	
3 PM	_	0	4		4		4	
4 PM								

NO (default setting):

	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM
ton 29-Mar-2010	4	1	4	0	-	4	4		
Tue 30-Mar-2010		test	book off			0	0	0	•
Wed 31-Mar-2010	<<	1	4	6)	0 /		4	
Thu 01-Apt-2010	4	0	4	1			test	book off	
FH 02-Apr-2010	4	4	4	4		4	1	4	
Sat 03-Apr-2010				Not a	available on	Saturdays			
Sun 04-Apr-2010	<<		1	4			4	4	
-	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM

Row Height: Sets row height when Time on Y-Axis is used.

Default Grid Start Time: The user can adjust the grid or table of timeslots to display an appropriate range of hours. This setting is the default when the screen opens.

Default Grid End Time: The user can adjust the grid or table of timeslots to display an appropriate range of hours. This setting is the default when the screen opens.

Hide Grid Start/Stop controls: If you do not need or want your visitors to change the grid range you can turn off the controls. If you use many small timeslots the grid start/stop gives the visitor the ability to zoom in on a block of time to better see small timeslots.

Grid Start Day: Set what day the grid opens on.

Grid Width: This is the width of the timeslots grid. You may need to adjust this to work with your template. This must be a number of pixels, not a percentage, as the system must calculate a ratio of pixels to grid minutes for resizing grid. (default is 700)

Name Width: This is the width of the Y-Axis for the availability table. Either date or name. Again, it must be a number of pixels not a %. (default is 100)

Available Time Slot image: You can specify an image to be shown in the available timeslots.

Booked Time Slot image: You can specify an image to be shown in the booked or unavailable timeslots.

Number of days to show: This setting determines the number of days to display in the availability grid. Default is 7.

The colors for this screen are set in the css file and can be tailored to you site. See the section on CSS elsewhere in this guide.

Front-End Screens

Appointment	Booking Pro - Configura	ition		SC 🐹	omla!"
🗹 Save	✓ Save & Close Octobe				Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Appointment Booking Configuration Basic Setup Calendars	GAD Setup Front-End Admin	Shopping Cart Column	s Staff	
Categories Configure	Show Resources tab:	Yes	•		
Coupons Email Marketing Extras	Show Services tab:	Yes	•		
Gift Certificates Message Centre	Show Timeslots tab:	Yes	•		
Payment Processors Rate Adjustments	Show Book-Offs tab:	Yes	•		
Rate Overrides Resources	Show Coupons tab:	Yes	×		
Seat Adjustments Seats/Booking	Show Extras tab:	Yes			
Services SMS Processors	Show Rate Adjustments tab:	Yes	×		
UDFs User Credits	Show Seats Adjustments tab:	Yes	×		

To display payment transactions tabs, select in the Payment Processor setup screen.

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.6 - Copyright 2008-2015 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Select which tabs you wish to have displayed in the front end Advanced Admin screen.

To display payment transactions tabs, select in the Payment Processor setup screen.

	Appointment Booking Admin											
	Bookings	Resources	Services	Time Slo	ts Bo	ok-Offs	PayPal	Coupons	Extras	3		
	Bookings					Send Er	nail Remi	nders Sen	d SMS Re	minders		
		Date Filter:	2010-08-30		Ē	🗒 Clear Dat	tes Selec	t Resource 👻	Select	Status 👻		
	🔲 Name	e Email		F	lesource	Date/Tin	пе	Service	Status	Payment		
	Super	User rob.stever	s@softventure	es.com D	r Bar	Tue Nov 3	30 11:00	60 Minute	New	Pending		

	1	Appointment Booking Admin									No PayPal tab				
		Book	tings F	Resources	Services	Time S	lots	Book-Offs	С	oupons	Extras				
		Book	kings					Send	Ema	il Remind	ers Sen	d SMS Re	eminders		
		Date Filter: 2010-08-30						Dates	Select R	esource 👻	Select	Status 👻			
e			Name	Email			Resour	rce Date/	Time	\$	Service	Status	Payment		
			Super User	rob.steven	s@softventure	es.com	Dr Bar	Tue No	ov 30	11:00 6	60 Minute	New	Pending		

Shopping Cart

Appointment B	ooking Pro	- Configuration 🧏 Joomla
🗹 Save	 Save & Close 	Close Hel
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	Appointment Bool Basic Setup	King Configuration Calendars GAD Setup Front-End Admin Shopping Cart Columns Staff there you enable the ABBro shopping cart and set the cart specific confirmation messages Staff Staff Staff
Configure Coupons Email Marketing Extras Gift Certificates Message Centre Payment Processors Rate Adjustments	Enable Cart	Yes When the ABPro cart is enabled, the booking screens will display 'Add to Cart' and 'View Cart' buttons. The cart will work for most common configurations of ABPro but not all. When the ABPro cart is enabled, the booking screens will display 'Add to Cart' and 'View Cart' buttons. ABPro features not compatible with the shopping cart are: User Credits / Gift Certificates. • No cart level coupon, the coupon system still works at the individual booking but there are no cart wide coupons. No ics attachments. • No cart for mobile apps. Mobile views yes, mobile apps no. No SMS to resource as a cart can can have bookings for multiple resources
Rate Overrides Resources Seat Adjustments Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Carl Header:	Edit ▼ Insert ▼ View ▼ Format ▼ Table ▼ Tools ▼ The confirmation message for a cart can cover multiple bookings of different resources. The message is created with a [header] + [per/booking body] + [footer]. Image:
	Confirmation:	Image: Continuation message for auto-accepted bookings. Tokens are supported here. See bottom of the Message Center screen, Gloabl section, for available Tokens. Per booking: [requester name] for [resource]. [startdate] [starttime], cost
	In Prograds	S[booking_total], Your Cancellation ID is [cancellation_id] span
	In Progress:	Edit ▼ Insert ▼ View ▼ Format ▼ Table ▼ Tools ▼ For bookings that are not auto-accepted, the <i>In</i> B I U S E E E E Paragraph ▼ :E E E E I D ↑ ♂ ∅ II ○ - 田 ▼ x₂ x² Ω Request awaiting approval: [requester name] for [resource], [startdate] [starttime] Startdate
		span

Cart Footer:	Edit • Insert • View • Format • Table • Tools •	This text will appear below the per/booking section. It supports one Token only, [cart_total].
	B I 및 S 등 등 등 등 등 Paragraph ▼ :Ξ }Ξ	
	E Ξ h h d 2 ≤ ≤ → − m × x ₂ x ² Ω	
	Cart total is \$[cart_total]	
	span	
	Toggle editor	
PayPal Item:	Appointment booking cart.	When the customer is sent to PayPal, this is the item description they will see. As the cart transaction can contain many bookings, the Token system is not available here.
The cart will v ABPro feature User Cre No cart I No ics at No cart f No SMS	ork for most common configurations of ABPro but not all. in not compatible with the shopping cart are: tits / Gift Certificates. rel coupon, the coupon system still works at the individual booking but there are no achments. r mobile apps. Mobile views yes, mobile apps no. o resource as a cart can can have bookings for multiple resources	cart wide coupons.

ABPro features not currently compatible with the shopping cart are:

- User credits system.
- No cart level coupon, the coupon system still works at the individual booking but there are no cart wide coupons.
- No ics attachments.

If you enable the shopping cart the buttons normally found on the booking screen are replaced by 'Add to Cart' and 'View Cart' buttons.

When the user selects a timeslot and clicks on 'Add to Cart', a 'pending' booking is added to the system so the slot is captured for them. The pending booking will be held for a limited time, then removed from the cart and made available to others if the customer does not finish their order. The amount of time to hold the slot is set in the Payment Processors screen as 'Purge Stale Bookings'.

			enter booking as payment due.
Purge Stale Bookings:	Yes	after 30 minutes	This is used to free timeslots when customer bails out of PayPal/AuthNet without paying. The stale booking will have its status set to 'timeout'. Use with caution as this will cause PayPal eChecks to fail as they can take several _days_ to clear. This setting is also used as the time to allow a booking to be held in a shopping cart.

Note: If you disable this setting a booking will never timeout and if the user abandons their cart you will need to manually delete the booking(s).

When a user opens the cart to 'View Bookings' the timer is reset to prevent them from being sent to PayPal with a booking just about to expire and be removed.

When a booking expires, its status is set to 'timeout' and it is removed from the cart.

View Cart

The 'View Cart' button opens a popup showing the cart's contents.

ed 13-Mar-201	3 10	10	10	10		10	10	10				
u 14-Mar-201	a 10	10	10	10		10	10	10				
15-Mai	Appointm	ents C	art								/	
	Resource		Da	ite		From	U	ntil	Total			
	Dr Bar		Fri Mar	8, 2013		10:00 AM	11:0	MA 00	5.	00	Remov	e
	Dr Bar		Thu Mar	14, 2013		11:00 AM	12:0	0 PM	5.	00	Remov	e 🚽
	Bus Tour		Tue Mar	12, 2013		1:00 PM	2:0	0 PM	20.	00	Remov	e
on:								Total	\$ 30.	00		
/	Appointment Book	king Pro Ve	r. 3.0.1 - Copj	right 2008-2	013 - Soft V	fentures, Inc.	Add Mor	e Subr	nit Order			OBERET
	[Your tooter tex	xt here]										

That cart can contain a mixture or resources and it shows the time limit note, and has 'Remove' buttons to allow the user to remove an item from their cart.

The above example also shows PayPal enabled with a non-Pay booking button enabled also.

If you are not using PayPal, only the two left buttons appear. If you enable PayPal but not a non-Pay button, only the 'Add More' and PayPal will display.

Cart Messages

Because the cart is a single transaction but can place multiple bookings, it cannot use the normal ABPro messages. The normal messages are tied to booking ids and the cart can have many of those.

The cart message id built by taking the cart header + a booking specific message for each booking + cart footer.

Example:

108 12-118-201.		
Wed 13-Mar-2013	3 10 10 10 10 10 10	
Thu 14-Ma	[cart header here] New Booking: Super User for Dr Bar, Friday March 8, 2013 9:00 AM, cost \$10.52 New Booking: Super User for Dr Bar, Wednesday March 13, 2013 2:00 PM, cost \$10.52 Request awaiting approval: Super User for Bus Tour, Tuesday March 12, 2013 11:00 AM Cart total is \$30.00	Remove Remove Remove
	Print this page Close	

Each booking gets a line in the confirmation.

The above example shows one resource auto-accept and the other requiring admin acceptance.

The individual rows can contain tokens to display booking specific information.

The footer has only one token [cart_total] that you can use to show cart total if you like.

In the above example, the Dr Bar resource only requires a deposit of \$5.00 so the total does not match. You could alter the booking line to show [booking_deposit] if you wish.

The same message is email to the customer as is displayed to them on-screen.

The same message is sent to admin and/or resource admins. There is no admin specific message for cart transactions.

Columns

Appointmen	t Booking Pro - Confi	guration					🐹 Joomla!"
🗹 Save	Save & Close 🛛 😵 Clo	se					• Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Appointment Booking Config Basic Setup Calendar	aration s GAD Setup	Front-End Admin	Shopping Cart	Columns	Staff	
Categories	Joomla 3 offers less admin s Appointments screen to mail	creen real-estate d	ue to the left menu imp e of available space.	osed by the J-Tean	n. This scree	n lets you turn	on/off columns in the
Configure Coupons Email Marketing	Display Email:	Yes					
Extras Gift Certificates	Display Category:	No					
Message Centre Payment Processors	Display Resource:	Yes	•				
Rate Adjustments Rate Overrides	Display Service:	Yes	•				
Resources Seat Adjustments	Display Seats:	No	•				
Seats/Booking Services	Display Payment ID:	No	•				
SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs	Display Payment Status:	Yes	•				
User Credits							
	Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.	8 - Copyright 2008-2015	- Soft Ventures, Inc.				

This screen allows you to alter what columns are displayed in the administrator Appointments list.

Example default setting..

🔀 Joomla!	Appoin	tment Bo	oking Pro - Appointr	nents					
🗙 Remove 🗾 Edit	✓ EMail Re	eminders	Export/CSV Support/ICS	Close	@ Help				
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	Appointme	ent List	Sea	rch Date R	ange: 2013- ttegory 💽	03-01 Select a F	2013-03-0 Resource	8 📷 🕅	Clear Dates
Configure Coupons	D ID	Name	Email	Category	Resource	Service	Date/Time +	Payment	Status
Extras Payment Processors	1547 1546	Super User Super User	support@softventures.com support@softventures.com		Dr Bar Dr Bar	60 Minute 90 Minute	Mar 6 08:00 Mar 6 10:00	Paid Paid	Accepted
Resources Seats/Booking	1553	Super User Super User	support@softventures.com		Bus Tour Bus Tour		Mar 6 13:00 Mar 6 13:00	Paid Paid	Accepted Accepted
Services Time Slots UDFs	1542	Super User	support@softventures.com		Dr Bar	60 Minute	Mar 6 14:00	Paid	Accepted
User Credits	1545	Super User Super User	support@softventures.com		Bus Tour Bus Tour		Mar 6 14:00 Mar 6 15:00	Pending Paid	Accepted

Example with Email OFF but Payment ID ON...

🔀 Joomla!	Appointme	nt Booking Pro	- Appointr	nents				
🗙 Remove 🚺 Edit	 EMail Reminder 	ers 🗸 Export/CSV	 Export/ICS 	Close	Help			
Control Panel Appointments	Appointment Li	st	Sea	arch Date f	Range: 2013-03	-01 📷 2013-03-0)8 📷 (Clear Dates
Book-Offs Categories Configure	🕅 ID Nar	ne Category	Resource	Select a C	Date/Time -	Select a kesource	Status: Sho	status
Coupons Extras	1547 Sup	er User	Dr Bar	60 Minute	Mar 6 08:00	3U2541705A468872P	Paid	Accepted
Payment Processors	1546 Sug	er User	Dr Bar	90 Minute	Mar 6 10:00	85W344140J7363928	Paid	Accepted
Resources	📄 1553 Sug	er User	Bus Tour		Mar 6 13:00	6CR723539M462160M	Paid	Accepted
Seats/Booking Services	📰 1544 Sug	er User	Bus Tour		Mar 6 13:00	2A805095C3610625H	Paid	Accepted
Time Slots	🕅 1542 Su;	er User	Dr Bar	60 Minute	Mar 6 14:00	4JT475966R289151H	Paid	Accepted
UDHs User Credits	📄 1545 Sug	er User	Bus Tour		Mar 6 14:00		Pending	Accepted
	1554 Sug	er User	Bus Tour		Mar 6 15:00	6CR723539M462160M	Paid	Accepted

Staff

Appointment	Booking Pro - Configuration	🌠 Joomla!
🗹 Save	✓ Save & Close	• Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Appointment Booking Configuration Basic Setup Calendars GAD Setup Front-End Admin Shopping Cart Columns Staff	
Categories Configure	This screen contains settings that adjust how the staff screens operate.	
Coupons Email Marketing	Staff booking 0 Enter the number of days in the past that staff can create a b in the past: 0 = no days, only future bookings allowed (default)	iooking.
Extras Gift Certificates Message Centre	Status Quick Change: Yes If set to Yes, staff will be shown a status dropdown on the ap (Front Desk day and week views, Admin and Advanced Adm booking's status without opening the booking detail screen.	pointments lists screens in) so they can change a
Payment Processors		
Rate Adjustments	If you are using the ABPro Invoice plugin to talk to convoices, here is where you set the Item Name and Item Descritption	. Both can use ABPro tokens.
Rate Overrides Resources	ccInvoice Item Name: [resource] booking	
Seat Adjustments Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors	convoice Item Description: [resource], booked for [requester name] for : [startdate] [starttime] to [endtime]	
UDFs USer Credits	Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.6 - Copyright 2008-2015 - Soft Ventures, Inc.	

Staff booking in the past: Enter the number of days in the past that staff can create a booking. 0 = no days, only future bookings allowed (default)

Status Quick Change: If set to Yes, staff will be shown a status dropdown on the appointments lists screens (Front Desk day and week views, Admin and Advanced Admin) so they can change a booking's status without opening the booking detail screen.

Settings for ccInvoice

If you are using the ABPro Invoice plugin to talk to ccInvoices, here is where you set the Item Name and Item Description. Both can use ABPro tokens.

ccInvoice Item Name: This is what will be added to a ccInvoice as the item name. Default = [resource] booking ccInvoice Item Description: This is what will be added to a ccInvoice as the item description. Default = [resource], booked for [requester name] for : [startdate] [starttime] to [endtime]

For more details on using ccInvoice in ABPro see the How-To page on AppointmentBookingPro.com

Gift Certificates

Introduction

Gift Certificates in ABPro are essentially the User Credits system modified to support a credit balance applied to a number rather than a user.

ABPro does not print certificates.

ABPro does not sell certificates.

You 'create' a certificate by entering a number and a balance into the Gift Certificate screen.

Now if you give/sell that number to a customer, they can use it to pay for bookings. The certificate's balance will be adjusted by each booking made.

The certificate number is like cash to ABPro, anyone can use the number until its balance comes down to \$0.

Setup



Appointment Booking Pro - User Credits / Gift Certificates

New	2	Edit	🗙 Remove 🛛 🔇 Clo	se		Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	Gift C The G A cus Gift C	ertificat ift Certi tomer o ertificat	es List ificate system allows you can use the gift certificate es not not expire . If you	u to create a gift certificate number e to pay for appointment bookings. u want to `expire` a certificate you o	and assign credits to it. can set its balance to \$0 manually	
Configure Coupons Email Marketing Extras	Enabl	e Gift C	Certificates: Yes			
Gift Certificates	1	ID	Gift Certificate	Name	Gift Certificate Bala	ance
Message Centre Payment		18	98765	Test	\$ 1	10.00
Processors		19	GIFT1234	Test gift certificate	S 1	12.11
Rate Adjustments		16	123456	Rob	S	0.00
Rate Overrides						
Resources						
Seat	Appoin	itment Bo	ooking Pro Ver. 3.0.6 - Copyrig!	t 2008-2015 - Soft Ventures, Inc.		

🔀 Joomla!"

ABPro - Gift Certificate Detail: [EDIT]



The Gift Certificate system allows you to create a gift certificate number and assign credits to it.

A customer can use the	gift certificate to pay	y for appointment	bookings
------------------------	-------------------------	-------------------	----------

Gift Certificates not not expire. If you want to 'expire' a certificate you can set its balance to \$0 manually

ID:	18						
Gift Certificate:	98765		Enter a num if you like, ex	ber to be used as ample `GIFT123	s the gift certif 4`. This certifi	licate numbe cate number	r. It can be non-numeric must be unique.
Certificate Name:	Test		You can ass perhaps a p records and	ociate a name w erson`s name or has no effect on	ith this certific a promotion use of the cer	ate. The nam or `sale` nan rtificate.	ne is free form text, ne. This value is for your
Amount	s 10.00		Enter a cred	t amount. It mus	t be a currenc	y number, 0.0	00 or higher.
Comment							
Gift Certificate Activi Bookings paid for wi	ly h the gift certificate will a	ppear below. Any edits m	ade by Admin will a	ppear here also			
ID Comment	E	ooking	Increase	Decrease	Balance	Operator	Timestamp
239 Admin EDIT, b	alance now: 10.00				10.00	Super User	2015-01-27 16:33:41

The screen is pretty much self-explanatory.

Gift Certificate used for booking

231

The Activity section at the bottom provides a limited audit trail of the certificate. Clicking on a booking id will open a detail view of the booking that was used to consume the amount shown in the 'Decrease' column.

50.00

0.00

Super User

If you enter a comment it will be logged, if not it will just enter 'Admin EDIT' and the current balance.

(3202) Jan 27/14:00 - Dr Bar desc

🗹 Joomla!

2015-01-26 11:08:38

Using Gift Certificates

When Gift Certificates are enabled (at the top of the Gift Certificates list screen) the booking screen will display a box for the customer to enter a certificate number. When they click 'Apply Certificate' the current balance will be show below the certificate and the booking totals will be adjusted.



Issues and Limitations

Gift Certificates are component wide and cannot be limited to specific resources.

Because they are not tied to any resource, they can only be created/managed from the back end. There is no Gift Certificate screen in the front end Advance Admin.

By design, they do not expire. If you want 'expire' a certificate you can manually set its balance to \$0.

Limitations of the User Credit System apply to the Gift Certificates also.

- ABPro is not a banking system and Soft Ventures will not be liable for any discrepancies. Limited activity logging will be maintained but NOT at an auditing level one would find in financial system software.
- A payment processor must be enabled to turn on the financial parts of the screens.
- Certificates are purchased outside of ABPro and entered manually by Admin.
- If a user needs to pay part via PayPal (the certificate balance was not enough) and he bails out of PayPal without paying, he would need to contact admin to get his credit restored manually.
- The credit system only applies to the public booking screens and Front-Desk booking screen. Admin manually setting a booking to 'accepted' will have no effect on the certificate balance. If admin sets a booking to 'canceled', and the booking was paid all or in part by a certificate , the credit is re-instated. If part was paid by PayPal, that will be added to the certificate balance no PayPal refunds are ever initiated by ABPro.
- Not compatible with manual booking acceptance (Auto-Accept = No)
- Not compatible with the Shopping Cart.

Message Centre

🕀 New	e	New	from Global	🗹 Edit	 Publish 	8 Unpublish	Copy Message Set	× Remove	S Close
									🕑 He
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	Email I ABPro confirm has pre You cre	Mess allow nation ecede eate	ages List vs you to define n message, ABf ence over categ messages here	confirmatio Pro first loo ory, finally i , then assig	on messages e ks to see if you t uses Global i gn them in the	ither Globally, by I have assigned a f no Resource or Resource or Cate	Resource, or by Category message at the Category Category level message is gory setup screens as rec	/. When it come / level and Reso defined. quired.	es time to send a ource level, Resourc
Comgure	500	ID	Namo						Publishe
Extras		_	Name						rubiisite
Message Centre		1	Global						ø
Payment		10	for CAT 1						Ø
Rate Overrides		11	Dr Bar						Ø
Resources Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs USer Credits	Appointr	ment l	Booking Pro Ver. 3.().3 - Copyrigh	t 2008-2014 - Soft	Ventures, Inc.			

Overview

ABPro allows you to define messages globally, for all resources and categories, resource specific or category specific.

A Message Set includes confirmation, in-progress, cancellation, reminder, too late to cancel and sms texts.

In the Resource and Category setup screens you can assign a Message Set as Global or specific.

When it comes time to send a confirmation message, ABPro first looks to see if you have assigned a message at the Category level and Resource level, Resource has precedence over category, and finally it uses Global if no Resource or Category level message is defined.

New: Creates a new, empty, Message Set.

New from Global: Creates a new Message Set, pre-setting message text from the current Global settings. This would be used if you want to create a resource specific set which differs from the Global set in only some areas.

Edit: Opens a Message set for editing.

Copy Message Set: Makes a new Message Set that has the same messages as another exiting set.

Message Centre Detail

ABPro - Message Ce	ntre: [EDIT]	🔀 Joomla!"
Save & Close	© Close	e Help

These messages are used for both email and screen display.

SMS Note: The only SMS sent to a customer is the reminder, all other SMS messages are notifications to the resource administrator.

Milti-language Note: For multi-language operation when placeing language keys in place of messages you MUST wrap the key with {svkey}. Example: {svkey}MY_CONF_MSG{svkey}

Mail ID:	1	
Name:	Global	The name for the mail template.
Booking Complete (to Customer):	Edit • Insert • View • Format • Table • Tools • B I U S = = = Paragraph • := := E = := : ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ?	This is the confirmation of request processing completion sent to the customer.
Booking Complete (to Admin):	Edit • Insert • View • Format • Table • Tools • B I U • = = = = Paragraph • = = = = = • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	This is the confirmation of request processing completion sent to Admin.
Attach .ics file to confirmation email:	To Customer: No 💌 Admin: No 💌 Resource: No 💌	You can have a .ics file attached to confirmation emails so the appointment can be added to the customer's/admin's/resource's MS Outlook.
SMS Booking Complete:	New Booking: [requester name] for [resource], [startdate] [starttime] to [enddate] [endtime]	This is the booking notification sent as a text message if Clickatell is enabled and the <u>resource</u> has an SMS phone number set. MAX 160 characters for a text message.





completed

Tokens that can be used in the Booking	Token	Will be replaced with	Token	Will be replaced with
Complete message. These will be	[resource]	name of the resource being booked	[resource_category]	the resource category
replaced at runtime by the system.	[requester name]	Token Will be replaced with Token Will be replaced with [resource] name of the resource being booked [resource_category] the resource category [requester name] the name of the requester [resource_service] the resource service [startdate] start date of the booking [phone] the phone number of the requeste [startdate] start time of the booking [cancellation_id] the email address of the requeste [startdate] end date of the booking [cancellation_id] the system generated cancellation [enddate] end time of the booking [booking_lotal] the system generated cancellation [coupon] end time of the booking [booking_deposit] [coupon] [coupon] [booking_deposit] [coupon] [coupon] [screen label] the UDF label [Favorite Fruit] value entered by user for Favorite f [screen label] the UDF label [Red Pencil] number of Red Pencils ordered [screen label] the Extras label [Red Pencil] number of Red Pencils ordered	the resource service	
	Token Will be replaced with Token Will be replaced with Token name of the resource being booked (resource_category) the resource category [requester name] the name of the requester (resource_service) the resource service [startdate] start date of the booking (phone) the email address of the [startdate] end date of the booking (cancellation_id) the system generated of [endtime] end time of the booking (booking_due)	the phone number of the requester		
	[starttime]	Vill be replaced with Token Will be replaced with cel name of the resource being booked [resource_category] the resource category ster name) the name of the requester [resource_service] the resource service ter name) start date of the booking [mail] the enail address of the requester tel start time of the booking [mail] the enail address of the requester tel end date of the booking [cancellation_jd] the system generated cancellation_jd] tel end the of the booking [cooking_due]		
	[enddate]	end date of the booking	[cancellation_id]	the system generated cancellation_id
	[endtime]	end time of the booking	[booking_total]	
	[booked_seats]		[booking_due]	
	[coupon]		[booking_id]	
	[today]		[booking_deposit]	
	[admin_comment]			
	for UDFs		UDF example	
	[screen label]	the UDF label	[Favorite Fruit]	value entered by user for Favorite Fruit
		sken Will be replaced with Token Will be replaced with esource] name of the resource being booked [resource_category] the resource category equester name] the name of the requester [resource_category] the resource service tartdate] start date of the booking [phone] the phone number of the requ tartdate] start time of the booking [cancellation_id] the system generated cancell inddate] end date of the booking [booking_due] the system generated cancell indtime] end time of the booking [booking_due] the system generated cancell indtime] end time of the booking [booking_due] the system generated cancell indtime] end time of the booking [booking_due] the system generated cancell indtime] end time of the booking [booking_due] the system generated cancell indtime] end time of the booking [booking_due] the system generated cancell indtime] end time of the booking [booking_due] the system generated cancell indtima_comment[] [booking_due] [bo		
	for Extras		Extras example	
	[screen label]	the Extras label	[Red Pencil]	number of Red Pencils ordered
	for Seat Types		Seat Types example	
	[screen label]	the Seat Types label	[Adult]	number of Adult seats ordered

Several important messages produced by the system are represented here for you to edit.

There are two types of most messages, an email message and an SMS text message. SMS text messages are limited to 160 characters in length so we need essentially a short version and a long version.

Booking Complete (to Customer): This message is used when the booking is complete. You can use the tokens listed at the bottom of the screen in this message.

Example:

Booking Complete:	 Thank you for your order. <br< th=""><th>*</th></br<>	*
		4

Appointment Booking

Thank you for your order.

Dr Bar has been booked for *Rob Stevens* for this date/time: Monday October 27, 2008 3:00 PM to Monday October 27, 2008 4:00 PM

Your Cancellation ID is c42124feb2766ab2b1457c9e9eae146c To cancel your booking enter this code into the booking screen.

Booking Complete (to Admin): This is a message for Admin or resource admin used when the booking is complete. You can use the tokens listed at the bottom of the screen in this message.

Attach .ics file to confirmation email: You can have ABPro create an ics attachment for the confirmation email. If the recipient uses MS Outlook they will be able to use the ics attachment to add the booking to their Outlook or iCal calendar. This is a **one-way** operation, changes made in Outlook or iCal have NO EFFECT on ABPro.

In Progress is used when Auto-Accept is set to No, or when using PayPal and the visitor gets back to the site, from PayPal.com, before the PayPal ipn has confirmed payment.

Cancellation: This is the confirmation message for user initiated cancellation. It appears on the booking screen so best to keep it short and sweet ;-)

	Copy me on the email request	
	Submit Request	
Cancel Code:	44cfd4dcd5e96090c41563f380b6779b	Cancel Now
	Your booking has been cancelled. Thank you.	
	Enter footer text here - clear for no footer	

Too late to Cancel: You set the number of hours before a booking that you will allow a cancellation. (See basic setup) This is the message the user will get if they try to cancel too close to the booking time. This is also on the booking screen so it should be kept brief.



Submit Request

1f93680d0e262940fc6b43aabeb57c25

Cancel Now

Cancellation is only accepted up to 24 hours before your booking. Please call our office at 403-555-1212. Enter footer text here - clear for no footer

Reminder: This message can be sent by Admin.

These are the **tokens available**:

Cancel Code:

Tokens that can be	Token	Will be replaced with	Token	Will be replaced with
Complete message. These	[resource]	name of the resource being booked	[resource_category]	the resource category
will be replaced at runtime by the	(requester name)	the name of the requester	[resource_service]	the resource service
system.	[startdate]	start date of the booking	[phone]	the phone number of the requester
	[starttime]	start time of the booking	[email]	the email address of the requester
	[enddate]	end date of the booking	[cancellation_id]	the system generated cancellation_id
	[endtime]	end time of the booking	[booking_total]	
	[booked_seats]		[booking_due]	
	[coupon]		[booking_id]	
			[booking_deposit]	
	for UDFs		UDF example	
				value entered by user for Favorite
	[screen label]	the UDF label	[Favorite Fruit]	Fruit
	for Extras		Extras example	
	[screen label]	the Extras label	[Red Pencil]	number of Red Pencils ordered
	for Deal Trace		Seat Types	
	for Seat Types		example	
	[screen label]	the Seat Types label	[Adult]	number of Adult seats ordered

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

New tokens

For Seats: [enter seat type]

Example confirmation message:

Thank you for your order.

Where your seat types you have created are 'Adult', 'Youth' and 'Child'.

-	Seat Typ	Des	1	Publish U	Inpublish Delete Edit	New Help
Contro	ol Panel App	ointments Categories	Resources Services Tim	e Slots Book-Offs UDFs Config	gure More.	
Seat Typ Seats are To disable	pe List e optional and shou e the seats/booking	id only be used if you are allowing capability, do not publish any seat	type	ng individuals to appointements DO NOT use seats.	Profess	Deblished
1	U.	Seat type	Price	Group Pricing	Urdera	Published
П	1	Adut	10.00	No	1	~
Г	2	Youth	5.00	No	2	4
	5	Child	0.00	No	3	1

For Extras: [Screen Label]

Example confirmation message:

```
<b>Thank you for your order.</b>
<br/><br/><br/><b>[resource], [resource_service]</b> has been booked for <b><i>[requester name]</i></b> for this
date/time:<br>
<b>[startdate] [starttime]</b><br>to <b>[enddate] [endtime]</b><br/><br/>Vour Cancellation ID is
<b>[cancellation_id]</b><br/>To cancel your booking enter this code into the booking screen.
<br/><br/>Extras:<br/>Red Widgets: <i>[Red Widgets]</i>
```

Yields..





\$ *	Extra	5	1	Publish Unpublis	sh Delete Edit	New Help
Con	trol Panel	Appointments Categories Res	sources Services Time Slots	Book-Offs UDFs Configure	More.	
Extras	i List	stomer can choose to add to a booking that	ive a cost associated and will adjust the booking	a total charoe.		
	are nema your c	istomer can choose to abu to a booking that he				
Г	ID	Screen Label	Extra Charge	How to charge	Order+	Published
Г	ID 1	Screen Label Red Widgets	Extra Charge 2.50	How to charge Hour	Order+	Published
Г Г	10 1 3	Screen Label Red Widgets Blue Deluxe Wigets	Extra Charge 2.50 4.95	How to charge Hour Hour	Order+ 1 2	Published

User Credits

Overview

The first thing to point out is that User Credit is OPTIONAL - you do not need to implement user credits unless you want to.

What is a User Credit?

User Credit is a number, representing a currency amount, associated with a registered user. You can sell your customer user credits OUTSIDE of ABPro then enter their number of credits into ABPro. Now when they go to make a booking, the cost of the booking is deducted from their credits.

Why use User Credit?

A few reasons:

If you want to sell your customer the ability to make multiple bookings without paying each time. For example, selling a package of 5 appointments.

Quantity discounting. You can sell a package of 10 appointments for less than the cost of 10 individual appointments. This could be done for example by selling \$100 of credits for \$75.

Support additional payment gateways, for example sell credits through Virtumart or an existing gateway, then just add the credits into ABPro.

Limitations

- ABPro is not a banking system and Soft Ventures will not be liable for any discrepancies. Limited activity logging will be maintained but NOT at an auditing level one would find in financial system software.
- PayPal must be enabled to turn on the financial parts of the screens.
- Credits are purchased outside of ABPro (PayPal buy now or Virtumart, etc.) and entered manually by Admin.
- A resource can have only one rate, that is you cannot offer a different rate for customers paying by PayPal vs paying by credits. Discounting would be handled outside ABPro when credits are purchased (ex: sell \$100 worth of credits for \$75)
- No partial cancel, ie: no cancel 1 seat of 3, cancel all and reorder.
- If a user needs to pay part via PayPal (his credit balance was not enough) and he bails out of PayPal without paying, he would need to contact admin to get his credits restored manually.
- The credit system only applies to the public booking screens and Front-Desk booking screen. Admin manually setting a booking to 'accepted' will have no effect on the user's credit balance. If admin sets a booking to 'canceled', and the booking was paid all or in part by user credit, the credit is re-instated. If part was paid by PayPal, that will be added to the user's credit balance no PayPal refunds are ever initiated by ABPro.
- Not compatible with manual booking acceptance (Auto-Accept = No)

The List screen shows all user credit accounts and their current balances.

🔀 Joomla!	Арр	ointm	ent Booking Pr	o - User Credits	
New	🖉 Ed	it 🗙	Remove Close	@ Help	
Control Panel Appointments	User C The Us	redits Lis er Credit	st is system allows you t	o assign credits to a user which can be us	sed to pay for appointment bookings.
Book-Offs		ID	User ID 🎔	Name	User's Credit Balance
Categories Configure		14	177	Super User	\$ 1000.00
Resources		15	178	John Doe	\$ 17.02
Services Time Slots		13	179	Jane Doe	\$ 100.00
UDFs					

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

View account activity

Click on the User ID in the list screen (above) to open the detail screen for a specific user.

🔀 Joomla	ABPro - User's Credit Detail: [EDI	Τ]
Save & Close	Close	
Use this screen to add/ The use of the credit sy To use it you would sell from his/her credit balar	edit a user's credit balance. stem in ABPro is optional . the user credits OUTSIDE of ABPro then enter the amo nce.	unt here. When the user goes to make a booking, the booking charge is deducted
ID:	15	
User ID:	178	
User Name:	John Doe	
Credit Balance:	s 17.02	Enter a credit amount for this user. Must be a currency number, 0.00 or higher.

Credit Activity

As bookings are made they will appear below. Any edits made by Admin will appear here also.

ID	Comment	Booking	Increase	Decrease	Balance	Operator	Timestamp
153	Credit used for booking	(1467) Nov 2/13:00 - Bus Tour desc		21.23	17.02	John Doe	2012-11-01 14:48:23
152	Credit used for booking	(1466) Nov 2/09:00 - Dr Bar desc		11.75	38.25	John Doe	2012-11-01 14:47:33
151	Admin EDIT, balance now: 50				50.00	Super User	2012-11-01 14:39:51

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

In the top section of the screen, you can manually adjust the current balance.

The lower section shows all activity with most recent activity at the top of the list. The ID of any bookings is a link to the booking detail.

The timestamp column shows when the change was made, the operator column shows who made the change.

Adding a New account

Select New on the User Credits list screen.

🔀 Joomla	[!] ABPro - User's Credit Detail: [NE\	W]
Save & Close	3 Cancel	
Use this screen to add The use of the credit s To use it you would sel from his/her credit bala	/edit a user's credit balance. ystem in ABPro is optional . I the user credits OUTSIDE of ABPro then enter the amou nce.	unt here. When the user goes to make a booking, the booking charge is deducted
ID:	0	
User ID:		
User Name:	Select a User	Select user to create a credit account for. This list will only show users who are not already in the credit system.
Credit Balance:	\$ 0	Enter a credit amount for this user. Must be a currency number, 0.00 or higher.

Select a user from the drop down list. The list will only show users not currently in the credit system.

Enter a starting balance and hit Save.

That's it. The Booking screen will now use the credit balance to pay for bookings.

		This Logi	is a demo for n as test/test t	User's Cre to see cred	dit. dit in action.				
Your Name:		Tes	ty Tester]			
Email:		foot	@bar.com						
Resource: My Resource 1 - (\$10/hr)									
Appointment Sele	ction:	My F	lesource 1 - T	ue 09-Feb	-2010 - 11:00	AM - 12:00	PM		
Grid Start Date: 2	2010-02-09		<<-] ->>]	Grid Start:	8:00 AM	End:	5:00 PM
09-Feb-2010	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM
My Resource 1	1	1	4	*		4	1	1	
Nudder Resource	4	4	4	*		4	1	1	
	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM
	- Indicate	s an available s an unavaila	e timeslot, dick o ble timeslot	n green che	dimark to select	Total			/
		-	\$ 10.0	0	1.00	\$ 10.00	*		
				Ap	plied Credit:	(10.00)	-		
					Table	6.0.00			

If the user's credit balance is insufficient to cover the cost of the booking, the shortfall will be charged to PayPal. If you allow refunds on cancellation (see next section), no refund is made to PayPal.

ABPro NEVER initiates PayPal refunds. If there was a shortfall amount it will be added to the user's credits on cancellation.

Allow Refunds

You can set weather you want ABPro to refund credits if a booking is cancelled or not.

The setting to allow refunds or not is on the Configure screen, Basic Settings tab.

	Yes	Allow Credit Refunds	be
Allow Cancellation.	Note: This system payments.	Only applies to User Credit System. Yes = Cancel re-instates user credit No = No Refunds, cancel does not return	'e F
Allow Credit Refunds:	Yes 🖵 🚺	Geolg.	18

My Bookings Screen

							Select Status
Resource	Date	From	Until	Se	ats		Status
My Resource 1	Sat Feb 6, 2010	11:00 AM	12:00 PI	и 1	Delet	te Now	Accepted
My Resource 1	Sat Feb 6, 2010	11:00 AM	12:00 PI	и 1	Dele	te Now	Canceled
Nudder Resource	Mon Feb 15, 2010	2:00 PM	3:00 PM	2	Cano	cel Now	Accepted
Credit Activity				of recent or	dit adjuitu	itame	•
is bookings are made ti Comment	ney will appear below. Bool	This list shows king	Increase	Decrease	Balance	Operator	Timestamp
is bookings are made to Comment Credit used for booking	Feb 15 / 2:00 PM Resource	This list shows king - Nudder	Increase	Decrease 33.00	Balance 957.00	Operator Testy Tester	Timestamp 2010-02-08 10:55:55
is bookings are made to Comment Credit used for booking Credit used for booking	Feb 15 / 2:00 PM Resource Feb 6 / 11:00 AM	This list shows king - Nudder - My Resource	Increase	33.00 10.00	Balance 957.00 990.00	Operator Testy Tester Testy Tester	Timestamp 2010-02-08 10:55:55 2010-02-05 12:26:11
s bookings are made to Comment Credit used for booking Credit used for booking Admin EDIT, balance now: 1000.00	Feb 15 / 2:00 PM Resource Feb 6 / 11:00 AM 1	This list shows king - Nudder - My Resource	Increase	33.00 10.00	957.00 990.00 1000.00	Operator Testy Tester Testy Tester Admin2	Timestamp 2010-02-08 10:55:55 2010-02-05 12:26:11 2010-02-05 11:06:26
is bookings are made to Comment Credit used for booking Credit used for booking Admin EDIT, balance now: 1000.00 Refund on cancellation	Feb 6 / 11:00 AM 1	This list shows king - Nudder - My Resource - My Resource	Increase	33.00 10.00	Balance 957.00 990.00 1000.00 100.00	Operator Testy Tester Testy Tester Admin2 Testy Tester	Timestamp 2010-02-08 10:55:55 2010-02-05 12:26:11 2010-02-05 11:06:26 2010-02-05 10:10:25
IS bookings are made to Comment Credit used for booking Credit used for booking Admin EDIT, balance now: 1000.00 Refund on cancellation Credit used for booking	Feb 6 / 11:00 AM 1 Feb 6 / 11:00 AM 1 Feb 6 / 11:00 AM 1 Feb 6 / 11:00 AM 1	This list shows king - Nudder - My Resource - My Resource - My Resource	Increase	33.00 10.00	Balance 957.00 990.00 1000.00 100.00 90.00	Operator Testy Tester Testy Tester Admin2 Testy Tester Testy Tester	Timestamp 2010-02-08 10:55:55 2010-02-05 12:26:11 2010-02-05 11:06:26 2010-02-05 10:10:25 2010-02-05 10:09:48

The user can view his current balance and activity on his account via the My Bookings screen.

The Credit Activity section shows the most recent 20 events only, in reverse chronological order. The Timestamp shows when the change was made and the Operator column shows who made the change.

Seats/Booking

ABPro was originally designed for individuals to book appointments. With version 1.4.3 the concept of 'seats per booking' was added. You can set 'maximum seats' for a resource (normally 1 for individual appointments) and customers can select how many seats they want to book. This allows ABPro to be used for booking seats in a class or on a tour

Seats are **optional** and should only be used if you are allowing multiple seats per timeslot. For sites booking individuals to appointments DO NOT use seats.

Your Name:	
Phone:	
Email:	
City:	
Resource:	Resource 2 (e) 🔹
Adult	2 - \$10.00 (whatever text you want here ;-)
Youth:	0 • \$ 5.00 (12-18 yrs)
Child:	0 - Free (under 12 yrs - must be accompanied by an Adult)
Family:	0 - \$25.00 (Select total seats required)
Large Group;	0 + \$75.00 (Select total seats required)
Total Seats:	2
Appointment Selection:	Resource 2 - Mon 03-Aug-2009 - 11:00 - 12:00

To disable the seats/booking capability, do not publish any seats types.

When in use, seat types appear in the booking details screen to show what types of seats the customer requires.

Start Time.	14 💌 - 00 💌 (m.mm)
End Date:*	2009-08-05
End Time:	15 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)
Booked Seats:	3
	Type Number
	Adult 2
	Child 1
Comment	
User Defined Fiel	ds
	Label Value Type
	City Calgary Textbox

The Seat Type screen is accessed via the **Seats/Booking** control panel icon.

🎽 Joomla!	Ар	poir	ntment Booking Pro -	Seat Typ	bes		
😌 New	2 E	dit	✓ Publish Onpublish	X Delete	Close Help		
Control Panel	Seat	Туре	List				
Appointments		ID	Seat Type 🎔	Price	Group Pricing	Order	Published
Book-Offs	17	1	Adult	10.00	No	1	ø
Categories		6	Child	2.50	No	2	0
Configure		9	Child	2.00	NO	3	0
Resources Services		3	Family	25.00	Yes	4	0
Time Slots		4	Large Group	75.00	Yes	5	0
UDFs		2	Youth	5.00	No	2	Ø

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Toolbar Icons

New: Opens the New Seat Type Edit screen to allow you to add a new seat type.

Edit: Opens the Seat Type Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the seat type.

Publish: Sets one or more seat types to Unpublished. Only Published seat types will appear on the Appointment Booking screen.

Unpublish: Sets one or more seat types to Unpublished so they will not show in the Appointment Booking screen. **Delete**: Deletes one or more seat types.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for this seat type.

Seat Type: Seat Type name. This will become the booking screen label for the seat type.

Price: Price, per hour or per booking, for this seat type.

Group Pricing: Group Pricing allows you to define a fixed price for a group of up to x seats.

Order: Order the seat types will appear in the booking screen.

Published: Indicates the published state.

Click on the Seat Type to open the edit screen.

Seat Type Detail

🔀 Joomla	I ABPro - Seat Type Detail: [EDIT]						
Save & Close	Close Help						
Use this screen to add Seats are optional an To disable the seats/bo Seats per Booking is N	I/edit a seat type. Id should only be used if you are allowing multiple seats per timeslot poking capability, do not publish any seats types. NOT compatible, and DOES NOT work with, with service based durat	. For sites booking individuals to appointments DO NOT use seats.					
ID:	1						
Seat Type:	Adult	This will be the label used on the booking screen for the seat type.					
ToolTip:	Select the number of Adult seats you wish to order.	This text will appear when the customer hovers over the type.					
Seat Cost:	\$ 10.00	This will be the amount charged per seat of this type. Exception; in the case of 'group pricing' the price is charged per booking regardless of how many seats.					
Help Text:	\$10.00 (whatever text you want here ;-)	This text appears to the right of the dropdown list where the user selects how many seats of this type they want.					
Group Seat Type:	No	If set to Yes, this seat type is a 'group seat' an the charge will be fixed regrades of how many seats a chosen. See Help for more details on group seating prices.					
Max Group Size:	10	Maximum number in the group price, example: Family rate max may be 5. This will allow a family of up to 5 seats for the fixed Family rate. This is also used as the max number of seats in the dropdown list for this seat type.					
You can assign this Se	You can assign this Seat Type to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be shown for ALL.						
Resources:	Dr Bar Add >> Bus Tour *	Select one or more resources that this Seat Type applies to. If you wish this Seat Type to be shown for ALL resources, do not select any.					
Order	1						
Published	Yes						

Use this screen to define details of a seat type.

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Seat Type: Seat Type name. This will become the booking screen label for the seat type.

Tool Tip: This text will appear when the customer hovers over the dropdown list for this seat type.

Seat Cost: This will be the amount charged **per seat** of this type. Exception; in the case of 'group pricing' the price is charged **per booking** regardless of how many seats.

Help Text: This text appears to the right of the dropdown list where the user selects how many seats of this type they want. Example: Child (12 years or under)

Group Seat Type: If set to Yes, this seat type is a 'group seat' and the charge will be fixed regardless of how many seats are being booked (to max group size). Example: Family price, *\$x* for a family of 5.

Max Group Size: Maximum number in the group price, example: Family rate max may be 5. This will allow a family of up to 5 seats for the fixed Family rate. This is also used as the max number of seats in the dropdown list for this seat type.

Resources: You can assign this seat type to one or more resources. **If NOT assigned, it will be shown for ALL**. Select one or more resources that this seat type applies to. If you wish this seat type to be available for ALL resources, do not select any.

Order: This determines the order this seat type will appear in the Appointment Booking screen.

Published: Only seat types with Published set to Yes will appear in the Appointment Booking screen.

Extras

You can define any number of extra items that the user can add to a booking. These 'Extras' can have a cost associated with then and the booking total will be adjusted based on the user' choices.

Extras are **optional** you do not need to set up any extras.

Extras can be used in conjunction with PayPal and the appropriate totals will be calculated.

To disable the Extras capability, do not publish any Extras.

	Enter header text here - clear for no header
our Name:	
hone:	
mail:	
les <mark>ourc</mark> e:	Resource 1 -
Extras:	
Red Widgets:	1 → red info here (\$1.50 /hour)
Blue Widgets:	3 - blue info here (\$1 /hour)
Flux Inverter:	0 - flux help (\$100 flat)

When in use, extras appear in the booking details screen.

End Time:	09 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)
Booked Seats:	1
	Adult (R1): 1 💌
	Youth: 0 💌
Extras:	
	Red Widgets: 2
	Blue Widgets: 3
Comment:	
User Defined Fiel	ds

The Extras screen is accessed via the Extras control panel icon or More | Extras.

🔀 Joomla!	Pro - Extras								
New	₿ E	dit	✓ Publish Onpublish	X Delete OClose	@ Help				
Control Panel Appointments	Extra Extra	Extras List Extras are items your customer can choose to add to a booking that have a cost associated and will adjust the booking total charge.							
Book-Offs		ID	Screen Label	Extra Charge	How to charge	Order 🎔	Published		
Categories Configure		2	Red Pencil	5.00	Flat	1	0		
Coupons	[[]]	3	Green Pencil	1.23	Hour	2	Ø		
Extras Resources		1	EXTRA_1	10.00	Flat	3	•		
Seats/Booking Services Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Appoir	ntment	Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008	-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.					

Toolbar Icons

New: Opens the New Extras Edit screen to allow you to add a new extra.
Edit: Opens the Extras Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the extra.
Publish: Sets one or more extras to Unpublished. Only Published extras will appear on the Appointment Booking screen.
Unpublish: Sets one or more extras to Unpublished so they will not show in the Appointment Booking screen.
Delete: Deletes one or extras.
Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for this extra.
Screen Label: This is the booking screen label for the extra.
Extra Charge: Charge, per hour or flat rate per booking, for this extra.
How to Charge: Charge this extra item per hour of the booking or as a flat rate or fixed charge.
Order: Order the extras will appear in the booking screen.
Published: Indicates the published state.

Click on the Screen Label to open the edit screen.
Extra Detail

✓ Save & Close	Close Help	
Jse this screen to a	add/edit an Extra item.	
Extras are items you	ur customer can choose to add to a booking that have a cost associa	ated and will adjust the booking total charge.
ID:	2	
Screen Label:	Red Pencil	This is the screen label for the extra.
Tooltip:	How many do you need	This text will appear when the customer hovers over the extra's dropdown list.
Extra Charge:	\$ 5.00 per Booking	This amount will be added to the booking (either as a flat charge or a per hour charge)
Duration:	10 Minute per Booking	Extras can be made to add duration to the booking if service based duration is in use. Use <u>caution</u> not compatible Simple Booking screen or some ABPro features like seats/booking. Once you set durations into Extras, <i>bookings are no longer constrained by timeslot boundaries!</i> . Per Item means the duration minutes are added for each item, if user selects 3 of this extra, 3x the duration is added. Per Booking means duration minutes are added once regardless of how many items user requests.
Help Text:	Any # pencils adds 10 min to booking duration	This text appears to the right of the dropdown list where the user selects how many of the Extra item they want.
Maximum Number:	5	This text appears to the right of the dropdown list where the user selects how many of the Extra item they want. Setting the max value = 1 will display a checkbox rather than a dropdown list.
Default Number:	0	This is the default number selected when the customer opens the booking screen. Note: This setting is not compatible with extra durations or ABPro Mobile. If you are using extra durations or ABPro Mobile, you must set this to 0. The user changing the item count is what triggers new duration calculation.
You can assign this	Extra to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be shown for ALL	-
Resources:	Dr Bar Add >> Dr Bar C <remove empty="ALL</td"><td>Select one or more resources that this Extra applies to. If you wish this Extra to be available for ALL resources, do not select any.</td></remove>	Select one or more resources that this Extra applies to. If you wish this Extra to be available for ALL resources, do not select any.
Order	1	
Published	Yes	

Use this screen to define details of an extra.

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen. **Save:** Save changes and return to the previous screen. **Help:** Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Screen Label: This is the booking screen label for the extra.

Tool Tip: This text will appear when the customer hovers over the dropdown list for this extra.

Extra Charge: Charge per hour or per booking, for this extra. How to charge; per Hour or flat rate per booking.

Duration: Extras can be made to add duration to the booking. Use <u>caution</u> not compatible Simple Booking screen or some ABPro features like seats/booking. Once you set durations into Extras, **bookings are no longer constrained by timeslot boundaries!**

Per Item means the duration minutes are added for each item, if user selects 3 of this extra, 3x the duration is added.

Per Booking means duration minutes are added once regardless of how many items user requests.

Help Text: This text appears to the right of the dropdown list where the user selects how many extras of this type they want.

Maximum Number: This sets the maximum number in the dropdown list. This should be kept between 1 and 10 to keep the dropdown list size from being too large. For extras where you need large numbers you can define packages (example: 'Package of 10'). If combined with individuals and the customer wanted 32, he could specify 3 'Package of 10' and 2 individuals. The dropdown list starts from 0 so the **user can specify they do not want any by choosing 0**.

Default Number: This number is the default the booking screen will open with.

Resources: You can assign this Extra to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be shown for ALL. Select one or more resources that this Extra applies to. If you wish this Extra to be available for ALL resources, do not select any.

Order: This determines the order this Extra will appear in the booking screen.

Published: Only extras with Published set to Yes will appear in the booking screen.

Payment Processors

This screen is used to setup PayPal, Authorize.net and/or 2CheckOut

You can also choose to have ABPro display booking costs even though you are not using either payment gateway.

General Settings

ABPro - Pay	ment Process	ors					🎽 Joomla!
Save & Close	Cancel						Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Payment Processors General Settings	PayPal	Google Wallet	Authorize.n	net (SIM)	Authorize.net (AIM)	2CheckOut
Categories Configure	Additional Fee:	0.00	Fixed		Additional of fee.	charge, can be fixed fee o	or percentage. Set to 0 for no
Coupons Extras	Enable Coupons:	Yes			Set to yes it coupon ent	f you wish to enable the try box on the booking sc	coupon system and show a reens.
Message Centre Payment Processors	Non-Pay Booking Button:	Yes			ABPro alwa are disable	ays shows a submit butto ed.	on when payment processors
Rate Overrides Resources Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs User Credits					No = Do no processors Yes = Still s processors Display & E AND blocks Display On	It show a non-pay bookin s are enabled.(non-pay b show a non-pay booking s are enabled. (non-pay l Block = Display costs w/ s booking if amount due ly = Display a non-Pay b	ng button when payment bookings are not allowed) button when payment bookings are optional) o payment processors button > 0.00 utton AND show booking costs,
	Purge Stale Bookings:	Yes	after 30	minutes	will enter b This is use PayPal/Auti status set t eChecks to This setting in a shoppi	ooking as payment due. I do free timeslots when hNet without paying. The to 'timeout'. Use with cau o fail as they can take sev g is also used as the tim ing cart.	customer bails out of stale booking will have its ution as this will cause PayPal veral _days_ to clear. e to allow a booking to be held
	Appointment Booking Pro	Ver. 3.0.3 - Copyr	right 2008-2014 - Soft	Ventures, Inc.			

Additional Fee: You can optionally add an additional fee to the transaction. This can be either a fixed fee or percentage for the total. An example may be a processing fee you wish to charge.

Enable Coupons: Turns on ABPro's coupon system.

Non-Pay Booking Button: If you are not using PayPal or Authorize.net, ABPro will show a submit button to make the booking. If you enable PayPal or Authorize.net the customer much choose one of those payment buttons to make a booking. If you wish to allow the customer to **make a booking without paying**, for example to *pay at the door*, this option allows you to show a submit button alongside the payment buttons.

• **Yes** = Show submit button, allow bookings without paying.

- **No** = Do not show the button.
- **Display Only** = Normally, if PayPal and Authorize.net are **both disabled** ABPro treats the bookings as free and does not show any financial information on the booking screen. Setting this to 'Display Only' will show booking costs even though no payment gateway is enabled. This would be used if you collect payment outside of ABPro such as pay-at-the-door.
- **Display & Block** = Display booking costs, without payment buttons, but block the booking from being processed if there is an amount due. This would be used in conjunction with the User Credit system such that if the user has run out of credit, they cannot book.

Note: normally the User Credit system would be used with PayPal or AuthNet so the customer could still book but would be sent to the appropriate payment site to cover any shortfall in their credit.

Purge Stale Bookings: This is used to free timeslots when customer bails out of PayPal/AuthNet without paying. The stale booking will have its status set to `timeout`. Use with caution as this will cause PayPal eChecks to fail as they can take several *days* to clear.

PayPal

🌠 Joomla!	ABPro - Payı	ment Processors	
Save & Close	Cancel 🛛 🖗 Help		
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Payment Processor General Settings	s PayPal Authorize.net (SIM) 2CI	heckOut
Categories Configure	Enable PayPal:	Yes	Yes = show a PayPal button No = PayPal not enabled.
Coupons Extras Payment	PayPal button image URL:	https://www.paypal.com/en_US/i/btn/	For different buttons, use PayPal's make button facility, then cut&paste the button url here.
Processors Resources	Currency Code:	CAD - Canadian Dollar	
Seats/Booking Services Time Slots	PayPal Account:	svtest@softventures.com	Enter your PayPal business account, normally that is your email address.
UDFs User Credits	PayPal Sandbox URL:	https://www.sandbox.paypal.com/us/e	Use of the PayPal sandbox for testing is recommended but not mandatory.
	PayPal Production URL:	https://www.paypal.com/us/cgi-bin/we	
	Use PayPal Sandbox:	Yes	If set to Yes, a booking request will go to the PayPal sandbox.
	Your Logo image:		If you want the PayPal payment screen to display your logo, enter a full url here (ex: http://mysite.com/mylogo.png)
	ltem Name:	[resource]: [startdate] [starttime]	In PayPal, this will be show as what is being purchased. Supports same tokens messages. Max 127 characters (PayPals rule)
	Optional Field Name 0:	Red Pencil count in your order	You can pass optional data to PayPal which will appear in the order details on PayPal. You need to specify a name/value pair like 'Adult Seats'/[Adult] to show in PayPal as 'Adult Seats: 5'
	Optional Field Value 0:	[Red Pencil]	
	Optional Field Name 1:	Green Pencil count in your order	You can pass optional data to PayPal which will appear in the order details on PayPal.

Your customers do not need a PayPal account to purchase via PayPal.

With PayPal enabled, the booking screen will show the calculated cost at hours x rate, or flat rate depending on how you set it up.

The other main difference when enabling PayPal, is that a new request will get inserted with a status of 'pending' rather than 'new'. The user is sent to PayPal to make their payment. They are sent back to your site. In a separate thread, PayPal processes the payment and sends an IPN (Instant Payment Notification) message to your site. This IPN is really not 'instant' and your customer may have been returned to your site before the IPN arrives. In this case the in-progress message is shown to the customer. When PayPal completes the payment processing, they send the customer an email and send your site an IPN message. When the customer comes back to your site; the return page checks to see if the transaction has completed. If it has, it displays the confirmation message, if not it displays the in-progress message. These messages are set in the 'Messages' tab.

There is a possibility that the customer may abandon the booking after being sent to PayPal. In this case the booking will stay in **'pending'** and need to be cleared either **manually** or by the **stale booking purge** option. If the customer elects to 'Cancel' the payment in PayPal, the IPN will reflect that and ABPro will set the request from 'pending' to 'cancelled'.

The relation between ABPro's 'Auto-Accept' and 'PayPal Enabled' is show below.

PayPal = No (no PayPal submit button)

Auto-Accept = Yes

New booking status = 'Accepted' (timeslot locked)

Auto-Accept = No

New booking status = 'New' (timeslot not locked)

PayPal = Yes (ONLY PayPal submit button shown)

Auto-Accept = Yes

New booking status = 'Pending' -> goes to 'Accepted' on IPN ok (Pending locks appointment)

Auto-Accept = No

New booking status = 'New' Accept on Payment = Yes -> goes to 'Accepted' on IPN ok

Important!!

When a booking is made with status 'Pending', the timeslot is locked just as if it were accepted. The display GAD display will show a dashed border so you can see what timeslots are 'Pending'. Normally a slot should only be 'Pending' for a few minute (seconds?) while PayPal is processing the payment. If the user aborts out of PayPal without paying, the slot will stay 'Pending' (and locked) until admin deletes it or it is cleared by the stale booking option below.

Enable PayPal: Enable ABPro to use PayPal. You require either a **Premier** (recommended) or **Business** PayPal account to accept payments.

PayPal button image URL: This is the location used to fetch the PayPal button image. For other images, use PayPal to 'create a buy now button' then cut&paste the button URL.

Currency Code: What currency you wish to charge in.

PayPal Account: Enter your PayPal business account, normally your email address.

PayPal Sandbox URL: Use of the PayPal sandbox for testing is recommended but not mandatory. How to use the sandbox is beyond the scope of this help file.

PayPal Production URL: This is the URL to access PayPal, it was made editable as it may change for non-North American PayPal accounts(?).

Use PayPal Sandbox: If set to 'Yes', the buy-now button will be send you to the PayPal sandbox URL rather than the production URL.

Logo Image PayPal: You can display your logo on the PayPal screen. Enter a URL here.

Item Name: You can modify the item name, this is what PayPal shows as the thing being purchased.

Optional Fields (0-3): You can specify additional information to be show on the PayPal screen.

PayPal Optional Fields Example

Single Language (ie: not using language file keys)

In this example we will define an Extra call 'Red Pencil' and show how many were ordered in the PayPal screen.

First define the Extra..

Use this screen to add/edit Extras are items your custo	an Extra item. omer can choose to add to a booking that have a cost a
ID:	
Screen Label:	Red Pencil
Tooltip:	How many do you need
Extra Charge:	\$ 0.25 per Hour 💌
Help Text:	Writes in red!
Maximum Number:	5
Default Number:	0

Now set the PayPal optional field.

rour Logo image.	
Item Name:	[resource]: [startdate] [starttime]
Optional Field Name 0:	Red Penoil count in your order:
Optional Field Value 0:	[Red Pencil]
Ontional Field Name 1	

The Name is whatever text you want to display on the PayPal screen for this optional item.

The Value is a token ABPro will replace with the number the customer chose. For Extras, Seat and UDFs you use the screen label as the token. In our case the screen label is "Red Pencil" so the token is [Red Pencil].

In the booking screen...

Resource:	City Tour
Adult	1 - \$10.00 (whatever text you want here ;-)
Child:	0 - Free (under 12 yrs - must be accompanied by an Adult)
Total Seats:	1
Extras: Red Pencil:	3 - Writes in red!
Appointment Selection:	City Tour - Fri 18-Dec-2009 - 10:00 AM - 11:00 AM

I choose 3 pencils.

In the PayPal screen..

		Total:	\$11.75 CAL
		Item total:	\$11.75
City Tour: Friday December 18, 2009 10:00 Red Pencil count in your order: 3	\$11.75	1	\$11.75
Description	Unit Price	Quantity	Amount

Authorize.net

X Jooml	리 [*] ABPro - Payn	nent Processors	
✓ Save & Close	Cancel @ Help		
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Payment Processors General Settings	PayPal Authorize.net (SIM) 2Ch	neckOut
Categories Configure	Enable Authorize.net	Production Server	Requires account setup with Authorize.net to accept payments.
Coupons Extras Payment	API Login ID:	6.PhrSex6Aj	This value is supplied by Authroize.net
Processors Resources	Transaction Key:	468m872qc2152s88w	This value is supplied by Authroize.net
Seats/Booking Services	Button image URL:	http://www.authorize.net/resources/imag	If you wish to use an image for your buy now button, enter the URL here.
UDFs User Credits	Payment form header text:	[header here]	This text will appear in the header of the Authorize.net payment form that your customer sees.
	Payment form footer text:	[footer here]	This text will appear in the footer of the Authorize.net payment form that your customer sees.

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Enable Authorize.net: This enables Authorize.net in ABPro. You need an account with Authorize.net to use this gateway.

API Login ID: Supplied by Authorize.net.

Transaction Key: Supplied by Authorize.net.

Button image URL: This is the URL for the image button that ABPro will display on the booking screen. You can create your own button, and set this URL to point to it, if you like.

Payment form header/footer: You can enter text to be displayed in the standard Authorize.net payment form.

	∕			SECURE	CHECKOU
Order Information				* Re	ouired Field
order morning on				Invoice	Number 7
Description: Dr Bar desc:	2010-11-22 11	00:00		invoice	Number, 75
/				Total:	US \$10.0
Payment Information					
Pay by	Bank Accourt	nt (USA only)			
	VISA	DISCOVER			
Card Number:		* (enter numb	er without spaces	or dashes)	
Expiration Date:		* (mmyy)			
Billing Information					
Customer ID:					
First Name:	Rob	Last Name:	Stevens		
Company:					
Address:					
City:					
State/Province:		Zip/Postal Code:			
Country:					
Email:					
Phone:					
Fax					
Shipping Information					
Copy Billing Informatio	n to Shipping Ir	formation			/
First Name:		Last Name:			
Company:				_/	
Address:				/	
City:		7-0-110-1			
State/Province:		Zip/Postal Code:			
Country:					
		[footer here]			

2CheckOut

Joomla! ABPro - Payment Processors								
Save & Close	Cancel 🛛 🖗 Help							
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Payment Processo General Settings	PayPal Authorize.net (SIM) 2Ch	eckOut					
Categories Configure	Enable 2CheckOut:	No	Requires an account with 2CheckOut.com					
Coupons Extras Payment	Demo Mode:	Yes	Transaction will be demo only					
Processors Resources	2CO Account #:	1589123	Enter the account number given to you by 2CheckOut					
Seats/Booking Services Time Slote	Button image URL:	https://www2.2checkout.com/static/-	If you wish to use an image for your buy now button, enter the URL here.					
UDFs User Credits	Item Name:	[resource]: [startdate] [starttime]	This will be show as what is being purchased in 2CheckOut. Supports same tokens messages.					

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Enable 2CheckOut: This enables 2CheckOut.com in ABPro. You need an account with 2CheckOut.com to use this gateway.

Demo Mode: If set to YES, transactions go to the 2ChcekOut demo servers.

Account #: Supplied by 2CheckOut.com.

Button image URL: This is the URL for the image button that ABPro will display on the booking screen. You can create your own button, and set this URL to point to it, if you like.

Item Name: This is the text used for the item name. It can include ABPro tokens.

Payment Transactions

Close Control Panel Payment Transactions Appointments Payment Transaction data is read only. Book-Offs Categories Categories PayPal Configure Google Wallet Coupons Authorize.net Message Centre Authrize.net (AIM) Payment 2Checkout.com Processors Resources Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.3 - Copyright 2008-2014 - Soft Ventures, Inc. UDFs User Credits	ABPro - Pa	ayment Transactions	🔀 Joomla!
Control PanelPayment TransactionsAppointmentsPayment Transaction data is read only.Book-Offs	8 Close		
Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.3 - Copyright 2008-2014 - Soft Ventures, Inc. UDFs User Credits	Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories Configure Coupons Extras Message Centre Payment Processors Rate Overrides Resources Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors	Payment Transactions Payment Transaction data is read only. PayPal Google Wallet Authorize.net Authrize.net (AIM) 2Checkout.com	
	Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.3 - Copyright 2008-2014 - Soft Ventures, Inc.	

Select the payment processor you wish to see transactions for.

ABPro - Pay	/Pal	Transactions							M	Joomla!°
🗙 Remove 🛛 🗹 View		Export/CSV SCION	e							P Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Paył	Pal Transactions			Date Range:	2014-03-20				🛗 Clear Dates
Categories Configure		txnID	Request ID	Buyer`s Name	Date	Status	Total	Fee	Тах	Timestamp 🔺
Coupons Extras		8LA885491W359590A	2117	test, test	07:41:59 Mar 21, 2014 PDT	Completed	10.00	0.59	0.00	2014-03-21 08:42:00
Payment Processors		7W836464A6320054X	2118	test, test	08:12:23 Mar 21, 2014 PDT	Completed	10.59	0.61	0.00	2014-03-21 09:12:23
Rate Overrides Resources		4G0614005N1993416	2120	test, test	08:24:22 Mar 21, 2014 PDT	Completed	10.59	0.61	0.00	2014-03-21 09:24:21
Seats/Booking Services		1XM675712V9585917	2123	test, test	08:35:19 Mar 21, 2014 PDT	Completed	10.00	0.59	0.00	2014-03-21 09:35:22
SMS Processors Time Slots		2G440287KS3725942	2124	test, test	08:38:05 Mar 21, 2014 PDT	Completed	22.03	0.94	0.00	2014-03-21 09:38:06
User Credits		7XM21247R9535584P	cart	test, test	11:20:21 Mar 21, 2014 PDT	paid	20.00	0.88	0.00	2014-03-21 12:20:22

Your customers do not need a PayPal account, and can purchase with a credit card via PayPal.

Toolbar Icons

Remove: Deletes one or more booking requests.

View: Opens the PayPal Transactions screen to allow you to view the details as received from PayPal.

Export/CSV: Exports request details for one or more PayPal Transactions to a csv file. The csv file can be read into Excel for reporting purposes.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

PayPal txnID: Unique identified generated by PayPal for the transaction.
Request ID: The ABPro request to which this PayPal transaction refers.
Buyer's Name: Name of the person who made the PayPal transaction. This may not be the same name as on the booking request.
Date: Date and time of the PayPal transaction.
Status: PayPal status.
Total amount of transaction.
Fee: Fee if any
Tax: Tax if any
Timestamp: Date and time PayPal IPN was received by ABPro.

Click on the PayPal Txn link to view the details of the PayPal transaction (read only)

Click on the **Request ID** to see a read only view of the booking. 121

Google Wallet

ABPro - Go	oogle Wallet Transactions			X,	loomla!°
🗙 Remove 🗹 Vie	ew Export/CSV SCIose				🕑 Help
Control Panel Appointments		Date Range: 2014-04-0)1		Clear Dates
Book-Offs Categories	Google Order ID	Request ID Item	Description	Price	Timestamp
Configure Coupons Extras	GWDG_S.1f0af1e4-68d7-447e-b6a5-46367f74c24e	2432 Appointment	Appointment Payment	2432	2014-04-08 15:38:17
Message Centre Payment	GWDG_S.3fd541cf-80bb-4f33-98e8-c64d460af81c	2433 Appointment	Appointment Payment	2433	2014-04-08 16:09:59
Processors Rate Overrides	GWDG_S.59c60b1f-01ab-4e1d-8a5d-d7f1202368ed	2434 Appointment	Appointment Payment	2434	2014-04-08 16:15:38
Resources Seats/Booking	GWDG_S.15922b5a-5bb5-4fd0-a78a-45b00411ea96	2435 Appointment	Appointment Payment	2435	2014-04-08 16:22:18
Services SMS Processors Time Slots	GWDG_S.a7cc6a95-4511-49d2-9ee6-7ac3992569b3	2436 Appointment	Appointment Payment	2436	2014-04-08 16:22:50
UDFs User Credits	GWDG_S.247fdc56-4a46-48d4-8984-d935f0ddad91	2437 Appointment	Appointment Payment	2437	2014-04-08 16:33:02
	GWDG S.c470b8ce-1583-4402-8512-3d6a36115f5e	2438 Appointment	Appointment	2438	2014-04-08

Authorize.net

ABPro - Aut	ABPro - Authorize.net Transactions 🧖 Joomla!											
🗙 Remove 🛛 🗹 View	v Export/CSV	Close					P Help					
Control Panel Appointments					Date Range: 2014-02	-23	Clear Dates					
Book-Offs	Txn ID	Request ID	First	Last	Email Phone	Amount	Timestamp 🔺					
Configure	2208998582	2125	Super	User		10.59	2014-03-21 09:50:57					
Coupons	2209037922	cart	rob			20.00	2014-03-21 13:45:15					
⊨xtras Message Centre	2209069735	2172	Super	User		50.00	2014-03-21 19:05:18					
Payment Processors	2209092938	2182	Super	User		10.00	2014-03-22 07:00:37					
Rate Overrides	2209092955	2183	Super	User		10.00	2014-03-22 07:05:10					
Resources Seats/Booking	2209093004	2184	Super	User		10.00	2014-03-22 07:12:45					
Services	2209093056	2185	Super	User		10.00	2014-03-22 07:17:19					
SMS Processors	2209093218	cart				20.00	2014-03-22 07:28:13					
UDFs	2209093351	2190	Super	User		10.00	2014-03-22 07:39:21					
User Credits	2209093408	2192	Super	User		10.00	2014-03-22 07:46:06					

Toolbar Icons

Remove: Deletes one or more booking requests.

View: Opens the Authorize.net Transactions screen to allow you to view the details as received from v.

Export/CSV: Exports request details for one or more Authorize.net Transactions to a csv file. The csv file can be read into Excel for reporting purposes.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

Txn ID: Unique identified generated by Authorize.net for the transaction.

Request ID: The ABPro request to which this Authorize.net transaction refers.

First/Last: Name of the person who made the Authorize.net transaction. This may not be the same name as on the booking request.

Email: Email address of the person who made the Authorize.net transaction. This may not be the same name as on the booking request.

Phone: Phone number entered by purchaser.

Amount: Total amount of transaction.

Timestamp: Date and time the Authorize.net data was received by ABPro.

Click on the Txn ID link to view the details of the Authorize.net transaction details (read only)

Click on the **Request ID** to see a read-only view of the booking.

2CheckOut

🔀 Joomla!	ABPro - 20	heckOut.	com 1	Fransad	ctions			
X Remove View	V Export/CSV	Close	() Help					
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	2CheckOut.com	Transactions			Date Range:			📷 Clear Dates
Categories Configure	E ID	Request ID	First	Last	Email	Phone	Amount	Timestamp 💙
Coupons Extras	454934699	8 1023	rob	stevens	rob.stevens@softventures.com	403-555-1212	11.73	2011-10-05 11:37:18
Payment Processors Resources	454978139	5 1025	rob	stevens	rob.stevens@softventures.com	403-555-1212	11.73	2011-10-06 07:17:35
Seats/Booking Services	454978406	8 1026	rob	stevens	rob.stevens@softventures.com	403-555-1212	11.73	2011-10-06 07:22:15
Time Slots UDFs	454978570	6 1027	rob	stevens	rob.stevens@softventures.com	403-555-1212	11.73	2011-10-06 07:27:13
User Credits	454978696	3 1028	rob	stevens	rob.stevens@softventures.com	403-555-1212	11.73	2011-10-06 07:30:47

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Toolbar Icons

Remove: Deletes one or more booking requests.

View: Opens the 2CheckOut Transactions screen to allow you to view the details as received from 2CheckOut. Export/CSV: Exports request details for one or more 2CheckOut Transactions to a csv file. The csv file can be read into Excel for reporting purposes.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique identified generated by 2CheckOut for the transaction.

Request ID: The ABPro request to which this 2CheckOut transaction refers.

First/Last: Name of the person who made the 2CheckOut transaction. This may not be the same name as on the booking request.

Email: Email address of the person who made the 2CheckOut transaction. This may not be the same name as on the booking request.

Phone: Phone number entered by purchaser.

Amount: Total amount of transaction.

Timestamp: Date and time the 2CheckOut information was received by ABPro.

Click on the ID to open the detail view of a transaction. (read only)

Click on the **Request ID** to see a read-only view of the booking.

Rate Adjustments

Rate Adjustments is an optional feature that allows you to adjust a resource rate based on day, time or day and time. This allows you to charge a premium for some bookings and a discount for others.

Resource:	Cou	rt #1				•								
Grid Start Date:	2014-0)8-24								<<-	->>]		
	7 AM	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM	5 PM	6 PM	7 PM	8 PM
Sun 24-Aug-2014	0	0	0	0	0	۲	\$6	5 0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mon 25-Aug-2014	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tue 26-Aug-2014	0	2°E	0	0	۲	0	° 10	0	0	0	0	e a	e [©]	0
Wed 27-Aug-2014	0	မှုဒ္ဓခ	0	0	0	0	Pau	0	0	0	0	ୃଷ୍ଣ	ာ္စ	ब्र
Thu 28-Aug-2014	0	0	۲	0	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	ø
Fri 29-Aug-2014	0	۲	۲	0	۲	۲	٢	۲	۲	٢	0	۲	٢	0
Sat 30-Aug-2014	0	0	0	0	0	0	\$6	i5°	۲	0	0	0	0	0
	7 AM	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM	5 PM	6 PM	7 PM	8 PM
	- Indicates an available timeslot, click on green checkmark to select.													
	- Ind	icates an	unavail	able time	eslot									

List screen

Appointment Booking Pro - Rate Adjustments											mla!"					
New	Ø	Edit	✓ Publish	O Unpubli	sh	× Dele	te	Close	,							Help
Control Panel Appointments	This Adjus	scree	en allows you nts here are a	to define rate a added to the ba	djustm ise rate	ents for . For m	a reso ore info	urce. Ini ormation	itial rate see A	e setu BPro	pisdo User's	ne in the Guide s	e resourc ection "L	e setup screen Jsing Rate Adju	stments'	
Book-Offs Categories Configure		ID	Resource	Ву	Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Start	End	Adjustment	Unit	Published
Coupons		1	Dr Bar	DayAndTime				Yes				13:00	16:00	10.00	Percent	Ø
Email Marketing	1	2	Bus Tour	DayOnly		Yes						00:00	00:00	10.00	Flat	Ø
Extras																Ū
Message Centre																
Payment	Annoi	ntmer	t Booking Pro V	er 3.0.5 - Convright	2008-20	14 . Soft	Venture	s 100								
Rate Adjustments	- appen		i booning i to ti		2000 20											
Rate Overrides																
Resources																
Seats/Booking																
Services																
SMS Processors																
Time Slots																
UDFs																
User Credits																

By: Shows when the discount applies.

- DayOnly = The adjustment applies to all bookings in the day(s) specified, regardless of time.
- TimeOnly = The adjustment applies to all bookings in a specified time range, regardless of day.
- DayAndTime = The adjustment applies to specified day(s) in specified time ranges only.

Sun-Sat: Days to be used in adjustment determination.

Start / End: Time range to be used in adjustment determination.

Adjustment: The amount to adjust the rate by. Can be (+) or (-), flat rate or percentage of rate.

Click on the ID to open the detail screen.

Rate Overrides

Rate Overrides is an **optional** feature allowing you to define special rates charged based on what Joomla Group a customer is assigned to. These overrides can be applied to resource(s), service(s), extra(s) or seat type(s).

Initial rate setup is done in the respective entity's setup screen. For example, the resource rate is set in the resource setup screen.

Rates set here override those rates so you can do things like, offer a different rate for registered users or users assigned to specific Joomla Groups.

Before setting up an override rate, you should be aware of ABPro's order of preference in different types of rates.

Order of Precedence

Service rate has precedence over resource rate. If you define both, the service rate is used.

Seat price has precedence over both resource and service rates.

The Override rates **do not** compromise this order of precedence.

For example, if you define an override rate for a Resource but you have a Service rate, the Service rate it used.

🔀 Joomla	l [™] App	ooir	itment B	ooki	ing Pro	- Rate (Overrides						
🕀 New	🛛 Ed	sit	✓ Publish	8	Unpublish	X Remo	ve 🔇 Close	Ø I	lelp				
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	This s scree	creer n. Fo	n allows you r more inform	to defination	ine rate over see ABPro	rides for res User's Guid	source, service, e le section 'Using I	dra o Rate (r seats type. Ir Overrides'	nitial rate	setup is done in th	e respec	tive setup
Categories		ID	Туре		Resource		Service		Extra	Seat	Group	Rate	Published
Coupons		6	extra	3					Green Pencil		ABPro Member	4.44	ø
Extras		7	extra	2					Red Pencil		ABPro Member	3.33	ø
Payment Processors		2	resource	3	Bus Tour						ABPro Member	8.88	ø
Rate Overrides Resources		4	resource	2	Dr Bar						Registered	9.99	ø
Seats/Booking		1	resource	2	Dr Bar						ABPro Member	6.66	ø
Services Time Slots		5	resource	40	Nudder Re	source					ABPro Member	5.55	ø
UDFs		23	seat	5						Child	ABPro Member	1.50	ø
User Credits		8	seat	1						Adult	ABPro Member	2.22	ø
		3	service	20	Nudder Re	source	90 Minute Bookin	9			ABPro Member	7.77	ø
		9	service	2	Dr Bar		90 Minute				Registered	1.01	ø

Toolbar Icons

Publish: Sets one or more override rates to Published.

Unpublish: Sets one or more override rates to Unpublished.

Remove: Deletes one or more override rates.

Edit: Opens the Override Rates Edit screen to allow you to view and modify the override.

New: Opens the New Override Rates screen to allow you to add a new override.

Help: Opens this help screen.

List Area

ID: Unique ID for the override rate.
 Type: This will be what type of rate you are overriding and will be one of 'resource', 'service', 'extra' or 'seat'.
 Resource: This is the resource that is getting the override rate. As Services are attributes of a resources, this column will show the resource for any service overrides.

Service: This is the service that is getting the override rate.

Extra: This is the extra that is getting the override rate.

Seat: This is the seat type that is getting the override rate.

Group: This shows what Joomla Group the override applies to.

Rate: This is the rate used in the override.

Published: Indicates the published state.

Click on the ID to open the edit screen.

Rate Overrides Detail

New Override

Joomla! ABPro - Rate Overrides: [NEW]	
Save & Close Cancel Help	

This screen allows you to define rate overrides for resource, service, extra or seats type. Initial rate setup is done in the respective setup screen. For more information see ABPro User's Guide section 'Using Rate Overrides'

ID	0	
Туре	Select Type	
Name		
Group	ABPro Member	Select the Joomla Group that this override applies to. When a logged in user is in this group they will get the rate here. Note: If the user is assigned to multiple groups with overrides, the lowest rate is given to the user.
Rate		
Published	Yes	

Edit Existing Override

🔏 Joomla! 🛛 ABPro - Rate Overrides: [EDIT]

```
✓ Save & Close Source Sour
```

This screen allows you to define rate overrides for resource, service, extra or seats type. Initial rate setup is done in the respective setup screen. For more information see ABPro User's Guide section 'Using Rate Overrides'

ID	2	
Туре	resource	
Name	Bus Tour	
Group	ABPro Member	Select the Joomla Group that this override applies to. When a logged in user is in this group they will get the rate here. Note: If the user is assigned to multiple groups with overrides, the lowest rate is given to the user.
Rate	8.88	
Published	Yes	

Care should be taken to avoid multiples of the same override. In that case the lowest published rate is used.

Toolbar Icons

Cancel: Abort changes and return to the previous screen.

Save: Save changes and return to the previous screen.

Help: Opens this help screen.

Edit Area

Type:

[Edit] This shows the type of override being edited. [New] This drop down list allows you to choose the type for a new override.

Name:

[Edit] This shows the specific entity (resource, service, extra or seat type) for the override.

[New] This drop down list populates with the specific entities based on the Type selection. Selecting type of 'Extra' will cause this box to fill with all the 'Extas' so you can pick a specific one to override.

Group: This shows what Joomla Group the override applies to. If you setup your resource with a rate of \$10, then add a resource type override for group 'registered' as \$8, when a logged in user makes a booking, they will receive the \$8 rate. If you create multiple overrides for different groups, ABPro will give the customer the lowest rate they are eligible for based on group(s) to which they are assigned.

Rate: This is the rate for this override. You cannot change the units of a rate. For example if you resource rate is setup as *per hour*, the override will be *per hour* also.

Published: Indicates the published state.

Email Marketing

ABPro can add booking customers to your AcyMailing or MailChimp mailing lists for newletters and such.

ABPro - E	mail Marketing 🎽 Joomla!"
✓ Save & Close	Cancel
Control Panel Appointments	General Information MailChimp AcyMailing
Book-Offs Categories	Use this screen to setup ABPro with access information for adding customers to your MailChimp and AcyMailing lists. When enabled, ABPro will call MailChimp or AcyMailing and insert a new mailing list user as part of the appointment booking process.
Configure Coupons Email Marketing	Note: Changing the status of a booking has no effect on MailChimp or AcyMailing. Cancelling a booking does not remove a list entry.
Extras Message Centre	ABPro <u>never</u> removes list entries from MailChimp or AcyMailing.
Payment Processors	
Rate Adjustments Rate Overrides Resources Seats/Booking	
Services SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0.5 - Copyright 2008-2014 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

MailChimp

ABPro - E	mail Marketing		🔀 Joomla!
✓ Save & Close	Cancel		• Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	General Information You must have a MailC	MailChimp AcyMailing	. See http://mailchimp.com/
Configure Coupons	Enable No MailCimp:	•	
Email Marketing Extras	API Key: 296a7	c2e92b794d0059c77f3b97bea	Get this from your MailChimp Account, under 'Extras'.
Message Centre Payment Processors	Split Name: Yes	•	MailChimp supports Firstname/Lastname but ABPro, like Joomla, only captures a 'Name'. If you set this to Yes, ABPro will attempt to split the name into first and last when adding the customer to your MailChimp list.
Rate Adjustments Rate Overrides Resources Seats/Booking	Default List. ABP	ro Integration	Select a default MailChimp list to receive new customers. You can override this at the ABPro resource level in the resource setup screen. Note: ABPro uses the API Key to fetch lists so when you first setup this screen you will need to enter your API Key, Save, then re-open the screen to see your lists.
SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Send Yes Welcome:	•	If set to Yes, ABPro will set the "Send Welcome" flag in the MailChimp API call to add a user.

You must have a MailChimp account in order for ABPro to add people to MailChimp.

Enable MailChimp: Enable ABPro to add booking customers to a MailChimp list.

API Key: This key is required for ABPro to access you MailChimp and add people to a list. It can be found on your MailChimp account page under 'Extras'.

Split Name: MailChimp supports Firstname/Lastname but ABPro, like Joomla, only captures a `Name`. If you set this to Yes, ABPro will *attempt* to split the name into first and last when adding the customer to your MailChimp list.

Default List: Select a default MailChimp list to receive new customers. You can override this at the ABPro resource level in the resource setup screen. Note: ABPro uses the API Key to fetch lists so when you first setup this screen you will need to enter your API Key, Save, then re-open the screen to see your lists.

Send Welcome: If set to Yes, ABPro will set the `Send Welcome` flag in the MailChimp API call to add a user.

AcyMailing

You must have the AcyMailing Joomla component installed to use this feature.

ABPro - E	Email Marketing	J			🔀 Joomla!
Save & Close	Cancel				Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	General Informat You must have the Enable	ion MailChimp AcyMailing compon	AcyMailing ent installed to us	e this	option. See https://www.acyba.com/acymailing.html/
Configure Coupons Email Marketing	AcyMailing:	Tes			
Extras Message Centre Payment Processors	Default List:	Newsletters		•	Select a default AcyMailing list to receive new customers. You can override this at the ABPro resource level in the resource setup screen.
Rate Adjustments Rate Overrides Resources	Appointment Booking F	Pro Ver. 3.0.5 - Copyright	2008-2014 - Soft Ven	tures, Ir	nc.
Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Time Slots					
UDFs User Credits					

Enable AcyMailing: Enable ABPro to add booking customers to a AcyMailing list.

Default List: Select a default AcyMailing list to receive new customers. You can override this at the ABPro resource level in the resource setup screen.

Edit Files

This screen allows the administrator to change the component's CSS and/or language file from within the Administrator area.

The language file can be used for translation of the component's front-end to another language or merely to **change labels on front-end screens**. The language file ONLY relates to front-end screens not the administrator screens.

Toolbar Icons

Save: Save changes. Help: Opens this help screen.

Tabs

Edit CSS : This tab displays the component CSS file. Make changes as desired then click on 'Save'.

🔀 Joomla	l [®] Appointment Booking Pro - Edit Files
✓ Save & Close	Cancel Help
Control Panel Appointments	Edit CSS Edit Language File(s)
Book-Offs	CSS: /components/com_rsappt_pro3/sv_apptpro.css
Categories	/**************************************
Configure	CSS file for Appointment Booking Pro Front End
Coupons	***************************************
Extras	#sv_anntnro_request {
Payment	font-family: Arial, Helvetica, sans-serif;
Processors	font-size:12px;
Resources	background-color:#FFFFF;
Seats/Booking	border:dashed; border width:1ew:
Services	border-width tpx, border-color:#999999:
Time Slots	padding:4px;
UDFs	/* un-comment the following line to set booking screen width */
User Credits	/*width:500px;*/
out ordato	1
	#sv_apptpro_request td, tr{
	border:0px;
	}
	they approve request h3/
	#sv_appcho_request inst

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Edit Language File: This tab displays the component's English language file. Make changes as desired then click 'Save'.

Save & Close	Cancel @Help	
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	Edit CSS Edit Language File(s) C:\xampplhtdocs\dev30_abp_30\language\en-GB\en-GB.com_rsappt_pro3.ini	
Categories Configure Coupons Extras Payment	; user screen RS1_INPUT_SCRN_TITLE="Appointment Booking" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT="Midnight" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_NOON="Noon" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_OK="OK"	C
Processors Resources Seats/Booking Services Time Slots	; input fields RS1_INPUT_SCRN_NAME="Your Name:" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_PHONE="Phone:" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_EMAIL="Email:" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_RESOURCE_CATEGORIES="Category:" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_RESOURCE_CATEGORIES_PROMPT="Select a Category" PROF. INPUT_SCRN_RESOURCE_CATEGORIES_PROMPT="Select a Category"	
UDFs User Credits	RS1_INPUT_SCRN_RESOURCE="Resource:" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_SERVICE="Service:" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_SERVICES="Services:" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_RESOURCE_PROMPT="Select a Resource" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_TIMESLOT_PROMPT="Select a Time" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_DATE_PROMPT="Select Date" RS1_INPUT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOTS_AVAILABLE="No Times Available"	
	RS1_INPUT_SCRN_FROM="Start:"	

The file format is [key]=[value]

Change ONLY the value, or, the text AFTER the "=".

All values must be in quotes.

Use caution. A single extra or missing quote will cause Joomla to reject the language file.

See also http://docs.joomla.org/Specification_of_language_files

Backup/Restore

The Backup and Restore functions built into the Appointment Booking component are primarily intended for use when upgrading from one version to another. All component data is saved to backup tables in the database. Old backup tables are removed before new ones are created.

🎽 Joomla!	Appointment Booking Pro - Backup/Restore	e
Close Ø Help		
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories Configure Coupons Extras Payment Processors	The Backup and Restore functions built into the Appointment Booking of version to another. All component data is saved to backup tables in the database. Old backup tables in the database. Old backup tables in the database. Old backup tables are sequence of actions to upgrade from one version to another is this Backup data> Uninstall ABPro component> Install new version> Warning! Backup/Restore WILL NOT RETAIN YOUR CSS file across an manually backup and restore sv_apptpro.css. If you have added language file keys you must either include the language keys after restore. ONLY the ENGLISH language file is touched in backup/restore.	component are primarily intended for use when upgrading from one kup tables are removed before new ones are created. :: <u>Restore data</u> o uninstall/reinstall because Joomla deletes the directory, you must age file in your backup/restore OR manually re-add your language file
Resources Seats/Booking	Backup Now!	Restore Now!
Services	Include Error Log* in Backup	Include Error Log* in Restore
UDFs	Include Reminder Log* in Backup	Include Reminder Log* in Restore
User Credits	Include Language File** in Backup	Include Language File** in Restore Backfill Category IDs*** in Restore
		Restore from an ABPro 2.x backup

* The error and reminder log files can be very large and should only be backed up if you really need the information brought to the new version.

** Not recommended unless you have made a lot of changes to the standard language file. If you are installing a new version of the component that has additional language file keys you will need to manually add them.

/language/en-GB/en-GB.com_rsappt_pro3.ini

*** If restoring from a version prior to ABPro 2.0.3 beta 4 AND you use categories, this option will bring category information from all old bookings.

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

The sequence of actions to upgrade from one version to another is this: Backup data -> Uninstall RB component -> Install new version -> Restore data

With database tables you can merge old data into new table structures. This cannot be done with the language file because it is a plain text file. If you are doing a backup/restore because you are moving from one ABPro version to the next, the new version will have a new language file with, possibly, new language keys defined. If you choose to backup/restore the language file it will overwrite the new file with your old one. That will keep all you old modifications but it will also remove any new language keys. You will need to manually re-apply these keys.

Toolbar Icons

Help: Opens the help screen.

Actions

Backup Now! : This will create backup database tables and copy your current settings to them. If the backup tables already exist, they will be overwritten. If a table has no data it will not be copied. This is to prevent accidentally backing up empty tables over your real backup.

Restore Now! : This will look to see if there are backup tables and if there are, it will replace the contents of the production tables with the contents of the back tables. If a backup table has no data in it it will not be copied. This is to prevent accidentally restoring up empty tables over your production tables.

Restore from an ABPro 2.0.x backup: Restore data and settings from ABPro version 2.0.x _backup files.

Include Error log in Backup/Restore: These can get large and may be of little value brought forward on an upgrade.

Include Reminder log in Backup/Restore: These can get large and may be of little value brought forward on an upgrade.

Include Language File in Backup : Make a backup copy of your English language file.

Include Language File in Restore : Restore a previously created English language file backup.

Backfill Category IDs : Select this if you are upgrading from a version prior to ABPro 2.0.3 beta 4.

Error Log

Check here if you are experiencing problems. This is also a good place to look if PayPal does not work correctly.

Reminder Log

Originally added as a way to keep track of reminders sent, especially by automated cron jobs, it is also used now for logging SMS text messages.

Joomla!" Appointment Booking Pro - Reminder Log

X Remove S Close

Control Panel	Rem	inder	r Log				
Appointments			Req	User			Timestamp
Book-Offs		ID	ID	ID	Name	Description	*
Categories		28	-1	-1		No bookings found for 2 hours out.	2012-10-29
Configure							14:06:14
Coupons	100	29	1455	177	Super User	SMS to Recipient: Super User, 6:00 PM - Ok - Return Code:	2012-10-29
Extras						54c9732274c39ff70397001d9b0b74ba	14:06:14
Payment Processors	F	30	-1	-1		No bookings found for 2 hours out.	2012-10-29
Resources						SMS to Recipient: Super User, 6:00 PM - Ok - Return Code:	14:06:14
Seats/Booking						54c9732274c39ff70397001d9b0b74ba	
Services						No bookings lound for 20 hours out.	
Time Slots	100	31	103	62	Administrator	Recipient: rob.stevens@softventures.com - Request start date/time	2012-11-01
UDFs						403-555-1212. Bus Tour, 10:00 AM, Monday January 18, 2010	11:37:49
User Credits							
		32	1466	178	John Doe	New booking: Message sent	2012-11-01
							14.47.37

It can get big and should be emptied when it does.

Req ID: The booking that this entry refers to.

User ID: The user doing the activity, example a resource administrator sending reminders interactively. A '-1' indicates no user can be determined.

Name: Name from the booking request.

Description: Description of the entry.

Timestamp: When it happened.

About

License information

SMS Processors

ABPro supports three SMS service providers:

- 1. Clickatell.com (USA and Canada only)
- 2. EZTexting.com
- 3. Twilio.com

General Settings

🔀 Joomla	! ABPro - SMS	Processors		
✓ Save & Close	Cancel 🚱 Help]		
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	ABPro sends two ty • Reminders - to t • Notifications - to	pes of SMS messages: he customer Admin or the Resource Admi	n.	
Categories Configure Coupons	General Settings	Clickatell EzTexting	Twiloi	
Extras Payment Processors	SMS to Admin only:	Yes		If set to Yes, the SMS prompt on the booking screen with NOT be displayed. Only SMS to admin or resource admin will be generated.
Rate Overrides Resources Seats/Booking	Default Dialing Code:	USA - 1		This is your international dialing code. Example: Anywhere in Canada or USA = 1
Services SMS Processors	Show Code List	No	•	Yes=Show the dropdown list of country dial codes on the booking screen. You would only do this if your customer might be outside your dialing code. (country code, not area code)
Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Appointment Booking Pro	> Ver. 3.0.2 - Copyright 2008-2013 - 5	Soft Ventures, In	ne.

When you enable an SMS processor the booking screen will show a box for the customer to enter their cell phone number and a box for them to check to 'opt-in' to SMS. SMS carriers are very concerned about SMS SPAM and require the customer specifically indicate they **want** to receive SMS from you.

SMS to Admin only – Setting this to Yes will prevent then SMS phone and checkbox from being displayed to the customer. It is used when you want SMS to be sent to resource admins (notifications) but not customers (reminders).

Default Dialing Code – Enter the country code applicable to your location.

Show Code List – Yes if you wish to show a list of country codes to the customer on the booking screen.

SMS – Clickatell

M Joomla	a! ABPro - SN	IS Process	ors		
✓ Save & Close	😵 Cancel 🛛 🔞 Hel	p			
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs Categories	ABPro sends two • Reminders - t • Notifications -	types of SMS me o the customer to Admin or the l	essages: Resource Admi	in.	
Configure	General Setting	s Clickatell	EzTexting	Twiloi	
Coupons Extras Payment	*** Non-USA ONL on your Clickatell.	Y *** To use Clic com 'Manage My	katell.com you Products' scre	need to l	nave an HTTP/S account with them. The values below will be found
Processors Rate Overrides Resources	Enable Clickatell:	No			Yes = Messages will be sent via sms text messaging through your Clickatell.com account. No = No text messaging reminders. Do Not enable multiple SMS processors.
Services SMS Processors	Login User:				Your Clickatell.com login so ABPro can connect and send SMS reminders.
Time Slots UDFs	Login Password:	•••••			Your Clickatell.com login so ABPro can connect and send SMS reminders.
User Credits	API_ID:				This ID will be supplied by Clickatell.com when you open an HTTP/S account.
	SENDER_ID:				[Optional] If you enter your Clickatell registered sender ID the SMS will show as coming from you.
	Enable Unicode:	No			Set to Yes for non-English sites to support special character sets.

This screen is where you set ABPro to use Clickatell.com for sending SMS text messages.

You must have an account with Clickatell.com.

The data for this screen comes from your Clickatell.com account's 'Manage My Products' page.

You should ensure your account is functioning properly before incorporating it into ABPro.

DO NOT enable multiple SMS processors.

This service should be used is you are outside of the United States. (Clickatell no longer works in the USA)

SMS - EzTexting

Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	ABPro sends two types of SMS messages: • Reminders - to the customer • Notifications - to Admin or the Resource Admin.	
Categories Configure	General Settings Clickatell EzTexting Twiloi	
Coupons Extras Payment	*** USA & Canada ONLY *** To use EzTexting you need to have an account w for ABPro to talk to their service.	ith them. You will need to request 'API access
Processors Rate Overrides Resources	Enable No Yes = Messages wi EzTexting: EzTexting.com acco No = No text messa	II be sent via sms text messaging through your ount. aging reminders.
Seats/Booking Services	Login User: Your EzTexting.com reminders.	Iple SMS processors. Iogin so ABPro can connect and send SMS
Ime Slots	Login Password: Your EzTexting.com reminders.	login so ABPro can connect and send SMS
User Credits		

This screen is where you set ABPro to use EzTexting.com for sending SMS text messages.

You must have an account with EzTexting.com.

You should ensure your account is functioning properly before incorporating it into ABPro.

DO NOT enable multiple SMS processors.

This service can be used for USA or Canada only.

SMS – Twilio

Save & Close	Cancel Ø Help
Control Panel Appointments Book-Offs	ABPro sends two types of SMS messages: • Reminders - to the customer • Notifications - to Admin or the Resource Admin.
Categories Configure	General Settings Clickatell EzTexting Twiloi
Coupons Extras Payment Processors	To use Twilio.com you need to have an account with them. The values below will be found on your Twilio.com 'Account' scree You will also need to upload the twilio-php helper library to your web server. See setup instructions at appointmentbookingpro.com
Rate Overrides	Epoble Twiller
Resources Seats/Booking	Twilio.com account. No = No text messaging reminders. Do Not enable multiple SMS processors.
Resources Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors	No Image: Second strike the second str
Resources Seats/Booking Services SMS Processors Time Slots UDFs User Credits	Enable Twild. No No Twild.com account. No = No text messaging reminders. Do Not enable multiple SMS processors. Account SID: This is from your Twilio.com Account screen. Auth Token: This is from your Twilio.com Account screen.

This screen is where you set ABPro to use Twilio.com for sending SMS text messages.

You must have an account with Twilio.com.

You should ensure your account is functioning properly before incorporating it into ABPro.

DO NOT enable multiple SMS processors.

Front End Screens

To access front end screen you need to assign a menu to them.

Normally the booking screen(s) would be on the Joomla 'Main Menu' and the others would be on the 'User Menu' (only accessible after login)

🐹 Joomla!" Me	enu Manager: New Menu Item	
🖉 Save 🗹	Save & Close + Save & New Cancel Help	
Details Advanced Option	s Module Assignment for this Menu Item	
Status	Published Unpublished Trashed Access Public	
Menu Item Type *	Articles	\sim
Menu Title *	Smart Search	
Alias	Newsfeeds	
Link	Appointment Booking Pro 3	
Menu Location *	ABPro Admin Display the ABPro Admin screen	E
Devest here	ABPro Advanced Admin Display the ABPro Advanced Admin screen	
Parent item	GAD Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display GAD) Booking screen	
Ordering	Simple Booking Screen Display the ABPro simple Booking screen	
	GAD Wizard Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display(GAD) Wizard Booking screen	
	ABPro Front Desk Screen	
	My Bookings Display the My Bookings screen	
		•

Booking Screen

The booking screen's appearance will vary greatly depending on what options you have configured in. The screen here is fairly basic, it has a few UDFs and uses categories.

	Enter header text here - clear for no header	
Your Name:		
Phone:		
Email:		
Refreshments:		
	(ex: coffee for 101)	
Favorite Fruit	Apples	
	Oranges	
	© Bananas	
	help here	
Sex	Male -	
Category:	Select a Category 👻	
Resource:		
	Submit Request	
	Enter footer text here - clear for no footer	

Select a Category to fetch Resources..

Category:	Select a Category 👻	
Resource:	Select a Category	
Resource.	Calgary Office	0
	Edmonton Office	
	Enter footer text here -	Select a Resource Category

Category:	Calgary Office 🔹	
Resource:	Select a Resource 👻	
	Select a Resource Dr Foo	
ered by AppointmentBr	new guy Mr Smith Dr O'Bar	lear for no footer

Then it fetches the available dates..



Finally choose available timeslot..


GAD Booking Screen

The booking screen's appearance will vary greatly depending on what options you have configured in. The screen here is fairly basic, it has a few UDFs and uses categories.

	Enter head	er text he	e - clear for no header	
Your Name:				
Phone:	1	11		
Email:	1			
Refreshments:				
	(ex: coffee for	(101)		
Favorite Fruit:	Apples			
	Orange	25		
	 banani help here 	35		
Sex:	Male			
Category:	Select a C	ategory	•	
Resource:				
	Submit F	Request	1	

Again, category..

Category:	Select a Category 💌	
Resource:	Select a Category	
	Calgary Office	0
	Edmonton Office	
	Enter footer text here	Select a Resource Category

If you have multiple resources it will show in day mode – all resources for one day.

Resource:	All (Day \	/iew) 👻							
Grid Start Date:	2009-2-16					Grid Start	8:00 AM	• End §	5:00 PM 👻
	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM
Dr Foo	4	1	1	~		1	*	*	
Mr Smith	1	4	0	1		1	1	4	
new guy	4	4	1	4		0	1	4	
Dr O'Bar	1	1	1	1		4	1	~	
	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM

Things to note; the grid date selectable by the customer as is the time range.

Available timeslots are green and clickable (can be changed in css). To select a timeslot click a green box.

My Bookings

IF you have Require Login = Yes, a booking can only be made by a registered user. If a logged in user makes a booking, ABPro will record the UserID with the booking. This means you can offer them a 'My Bookings' screen if you like.

My Appointment Bookings John Doe								
	C	Date Filter: 2012-1	1-02		<u> </u>	lear Dates	Select Status	
Resource	Date 💙	From	Until	Seats			Status	
Dr Bar	Fri Nov 2, 2012	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	1	Cance	Now	Accepted	
Bus Tour	Fri Nov 2, 2012	1:00 PM	2:00 PM	2	Cance	Now	Accepted	
Credit Activity As bookings are Comment	made they will appe	ar below. This list s Booking	hows the 20 Increase	most recent Decrease	credit act Balance	ivity items. Operator	Timestamp	
Credit used for boo	king Nov 2 / 1:	00 PM - Bus Tour desc		21.23	17.02	John Doe	2012-11-01 14:48:23	
Credit used for boo	king Nov 2 / 9:	00 AM - Dr Bar desc		11.75	38.25	John Doe	2012-11-01 14:47:33	
Admin EDIT, balance	e now: 50				50.00	Super User	2012-11-01 14:39:51	
Appointment Booking	g Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright	2008-2012 - Soft Ventu	res, Inc.					

The 'Cancel Now' link will only appear if you have 'Allow Cancel'=Yes, see the Configuration section of this guide.

The top section shows bookings, the lower section shows User Credit activity.

Front End Admin

The Front End Admin screen is activated by a menu call...

Articles
Smart Search
Newsfeeds
Appointment Booking Pro 3
ABPro Admin Display the ABPro Admin screen
ABPro Advanced Admin Display the ABPro Advanced Admin screen
GAD Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display GAD) Booking screen
Simple Booking Screen Display the ABPro simple Booking screen
GAD Wizard Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display(GAD) Wizard Booking screen
ABPro Front Desk Front Desk Screen
My Bookings Display the My Bookings screen

You can delegate administration duties to other users. Rather than having to give them access to the Joomla Admin back end, which can be intimidating, ABPro offers two front-end admin screens.

To use these a user must be designated as a 'Resource Administrator', see the Resource setup for details on how to do that.

The simple Admin screen has very basic capabilities.

Appointment Booking Admin									
					Export/CS	SV Printer F	riendly		
		Q	Date Filter:	2012-11-02		Clea	r Dates		
				Select R	tesource 💌	Select Statu	JS 🔻		
ID	Name	Email	Resource	Date/Time 📥	Service	Status	Pmt		
1466	John Doe	jd@softventures.com	Dr Bar	Fri Nov 2 09:00	60 Minute	Accepted	Paid		
1467	John Doe	jd@softventures.com	Bus Tour	Fri Nov 2 13:00		Accepted	Paid		
1468	Super User	support@softventures.com	Dr Bar	Thu Nov 8 13:00	60 Minute	Accepted	Paid		

This screen offers only the ability to see bookings and process them.

Only bookings for resources that they are set as 'Resource Administrator' for will be shown here.

Screen filtering works like the back end. Click on the email address to send a message.

Click on the name to open the booking detail screen.

Appointment Booking Admin - Booking Detail

		Save Changes Cancel
ID:	1466	
Name:*	John Doe	These fields are from the booking request. They can be modified by the administrator.
Phone:		An example might be where a requested date is not available so the administrator phones the requester and arreas on a new date or time. The Administrator
Email:	jd@softventures.com	would then change the date here.
Use SMS:	No	
SMS Phone:		
SMS Dial Code:	No	
Category:		
Resource:	Dr Bar	
Service:	60 Minute	
Start Date:	2012-11-02	
Start Time:	09 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	
End Time:	10 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	
Booked Seats:	1	
User Defined Fields		
	Label Value	
	Cell:	
	Favourite Fruit: Oranges	
Request Status:	Accepted	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'.
Payment Status:	Paid	Administrator can indicate payment has been received.
Total :	\$ 0.00	Booking total charges
Depoit :	\$ 0.00	Deposit paid at time of booking
Amount Due :	\$ 0.00	Balance owing
Manual Payment :	\$ 0.00	Payment collected manually by staff (ex: walk-in or phone credit card)
Credit Used :	\$ 11.75	If User Credit System in use, this shows amount deducted from user's credits.
Occurrent Uncode		

Credit Used :	\$ 11.75	If User Credit System in use, this shows amount deducted from user's credits.
Coupon Used :		
Payment Txn ID:		PayPal, or Authorize.net, generated code for this transaction.
Current Calendar:	Google	
	m5iphtr840dou44hke1sso2hk4	
Post to Calendar.	Yes	Yes or No
Admin Comment:		Administrator can enter an internal comment. Example: 'Phoned to confirmed new end time'
Timestamp:	2012-11-01 14:50:35	Server data/time of last change to record. Number in parenthesis beside the label is the user id of the operator that made the change.

See the back end Appointment Detail section of this guide for information of what the various fields mean.

Front End Advanced Admin

If you wish to give your resources more control, such as setting timeslots and book-off for the resources they administer, you can give them access to the Advanced Admin screen.

Bo	oking	s Res	ources	Services	Time S	lots	Book-0	Offs	PayPal	
Au	thNet	2Che	eckOut	Coupons	Extras					
Bo	oking	s Ex	cport/CSV	Send Email	Reminder	s Send	SMS Re	eminders	Printer	Friendly
				Q Dat	e Filter: 2	012-11-02			c	lear Date
						Se	lect Res	ource 💌	Select 9	Status 💌
F	ID	Name	Email		Resource	Date/Tin	ne 🗸	Service	Status	Pmt
1	1466	John Doe	jd@softvent	ures.com	Dr Bar	Fri Nov 2	09:00	60 Minute	Accepted	Paid
	1467	John Doe	jd@softvent	ures.com	Bus Tour	Fri Nov 2	13:00		Accepted	Paid
-	1468	Super User	support@so	ftventures.com	Dr Bar	Thu Nov 8	13:00	60 Minute	Accepted	Paid

This allows the resource administrator to manage the day to day operations.

Each tab corresponds to the respective back end administration function but is limited, where applicable, to only the resources this user has been assigned to administer.

Tabs can be turned on/off in the ABPro Configure screen, Front End Admin tab.

Note: Categories is not available here as category is above resource in the hierarchy and can only be managed by the back end administrator.

The Advanced Admin front end screen is activated by a menu call...

Articles
Smart Search
Newsfeeds
Appointment Booking Pro 3
ABPro Admin Display the ABPro Admin screen
ABPro Advanced Admin Display the ABPro Advanced Admin screen
GAD Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display GAD) Booking screen
Simple Booking Screen Display the ABPro simple Booking screen
GAD Wizard Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display(GAD) Wizard Booking screen
ABPro Front Desk Screen
My Bookings Display the My Bookings screen

Front Desk

This screen is new in version 1.4 and offered the resource administrator 3 views of the upcoming appointments.

The front desk screen is for staff to use and should not be shown to the public.

You must be a resource administrator to use the Front Desk. Only bookings for resources that you are designated as resource administrator will appear in the screens. Use the resource setup screen to set who is a resource administrator. To set resource administrators, use the Resource setup screen, about ½ way down the screen is where you assign administrators.

Articles
Smart Search
Newsfeeds
Appointment Booking Pro 3
ABPro Admin Display the ABPro Admin screen
ABPro Advanced Admin Display the ABPro Advanced Admin screen
GAD Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display GAD) Booking screen
Simple Booking Screen Display the ABPro simple Booking screen
GAD Wizard Booking Screen Display the ABPro Graphic Availability Display(GAD) Wizard Booking screen
ABPro Front Desk Front Desk Screen
My Bookings Display the My Bookings screen

See also "Using the Front Desk" later in this guide.

Receptio	on Desk						Super User
Month View 💌				[Search
Add Booking C	Sustomer History		Show Sea	at Totals S	elect Resour	rce 💌	Select Status 💌
<<			October 2012				>>
Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu		Fri	Sat
	1 1:00 PM Super User 2:00 PM Super User	2	3	4 11:00 AM[Supe User 11:00 AM]Supe User	er er		6
7	8	9	10 10:00 AM[Super User	11	12 1:00 F	⁰M John Doe	13
14	15	16	17	18 9:00 AM/Super	<u>r</u> 19		20
21	22	23 1:00 PM Rob Test J3 3:00 PM Super User	24 1:00 PM[Super User 1:00 PM[rob test 2 3:00 PM[Rob Test J3	25 Dr Bar 2:01 90 Minut	te	AM Super	27 2:00 PM Rob Test J3
28	29 6:00 PM Super User	30	31 11:00 AM Rob Test				

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Reception Desk						Super User
			Export/CS\	/ Send	Email Reminders Sen	d SMS Reminders
Week View						Search
Add Booking Customer History			Show Seat T	otals	Select Resource	Select Status
<<		v	Veek View			>>
Sunday October 21, 2012						
Monday October 22, 2012						
Tuesday October 23, 2012						
🔲 1:00 PM Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	Rob Test J3	rob.	stevens@softventures.co	m Accepted
3:00 PM Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	Super User	sup	port@softventures.com	Accepted
Wednesday October 24, 2012						
📄 1:00 PM Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	Super User	sup	oort@softventures.com	Canceled
1:00 PM Bus Tour		3	rob test 2	rob.	stevens@softventures.co	m Accepted
3:00 PM Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	Rob Test J3	rob.	stevens@softventures.co	m Accepted
Thursday October 25, 2012						
2:00 PM Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	rob test	rob.	stevens@softventures.co	m Accepted
Friday October 26, 2012						
11:00 AM Dr Bar	90 Minute	1	Super User	sup	port@softventures.com	Accepted
Saturday October 27, 2012						
2:00 PM Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	Rob Test J3	rob.	stevens@softventures.co	m Accepted

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 3.0 - Copyright 2008-2012 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

Day View

Receptio	on Des	k					Super Use
				Exp	ort/CSV Sen	d Email Reminders Se	nd SMS Reminder
Day View 💌							Search
Add Booking C	Customer His	tory		Show	Seat Totals	Select Resource	Select Status
<<				October 24, 2	012		>>
1:00 PM	Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	Super User	support@s	oftventures.com	Canceled
1:00 PM	Bus Tour		3	rob test 2	rob.stevens	s@softventures.com	Accepted
3:00 PM	Dr Bar	60 Minute	1	Rob Test J3	rob.steven:	s@softventures.com	Accepted

In each view, clicking on a specific booking will open the booking detail screen.

The resource administrator can also send email and sms reminders from the week or day views by selecting one or more bookings then clicking the appropriate reminder link.

Front Desk Booking

The staff booking screen is accessed via the Add Booking link..



The booking screen is similar to the normal GAD booking screen but with some enhancements for a staff to making phone bookings.

receptic	on Des	sk Bo	oking							
Select a User	Not Reg	istered		▼ S	earch					
Your Name:										
Phone:										
Email:										
Resource:	All (Day	View)		•						
Grid Start Date:	2012-11-0)3	<<-	->>		Grid Start:	8:00 AM	End:	5:00 PM	
Sat 03-Nov-2012	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM	
Dr Bar	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		
Bus Tour	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		
	8 AM	9 AM	10 AM	11 AM	Noon	1 PM	2 PM	3 PM	4 PM	
	-									
Doupon:	- Indicate	is an availabl is an unavaile	e timeslot, did able timeslot	k on green of	neckmark to	select.				
Coupon:	- Indicate	es an availabl	e timeslot, did able timeslot	k on green d	pply Cou	pselect.				
Coupon: Booking Status:	- Indicate	es an availabl es an unavaile d	e timeslot, did	k on green d	pply Cou	pon				
Coupon: Booking Status: Comment:	Indicate Indicate Accepte	es an availabl	e timeslot, did	k on green d	pply Cou	pon				
Coupon: Booking Status: Comment: Confirmation:	 Indicate Indicate Accepte Send a 	s an availabl s an unavails d d n email cor	e timeslot, did able timeslot	k on green d	pply Cou	pon				
Coupon: Booking Status: Comment: Confirmation:	 Indicate Indicate Accepte Accepte Send a Book No 	an availabl as an unavaila d d n email cor ow Canc	e timeslot, did able timeslot afirmation cel	k on green d	pply Cou	pon				

Special Functionality

Select A User: This is a drop down list of all registered users on the site. The operator can select a user to make the booking for. Or, use the 'Search' link to locate the user.

Booking Status: The operator can select what status the booking should be added with.

Confirmation: The operator can decide to send a confirmation email or not.

PayPal is never called from this screen.

Passenger Manifest or Class List

In scenarios where you are allowing multiple seats per booking, such as a tour or class, it is often handy to have a list of passengers, students, etc. The manifest offers that.

Another feature that works well with the manifest is the 'Show Seat Totals' option on the front desk day view.

Reception D	Desk					Administrate
				Send En	nail Reminders Sen	d SMS Reminder
Day View 👻					[Search
Add Booking				Show Seat Totals	Select Resource 👻	Select Status 👻
<<			Decem	ber 17, 2009		>>
9:00 AM	City Tour	3	Administrator	rob.stevens@softventur	es.com	Accepted
🔲 10:00 AM	City Tour	4	Jane Doe	janed@hotmale.com		Accepted
10:00 AM	City Tour	1	Rob Test	rob.stevens@softventur	es.com	Accepted
🗐 10:00 AM	City Tour	3	Joe Customer	joe@foobar.com		Accepted
🔲 10:00 AM	City Tour	2	Administrator	rob.stevens@softventur	es.com	Accepted
🔲 11:00 AM	City Tour	4	Administrator	rob.stevens@softventur	es.com	Pending
1:00 PM	City Tour	3	Rob Test	rob.stevens@softventur	es.com	Pending

ay Vi	ew 👻	/		~			Searc
Add	Booking			1	Show Seat Totals	Select Resource 👻	Select Status
<<				Decemb	ber 17, 2009		>>
	9:00 A	City Tour	3	Administrator	rob.stevens@softventu	res.com	Accepted
	Tot	al Seats Booked:	3				
	10:00 AM	City Tour	4	Jane Doe	janed@hotmale.com		Accepted
1	10:00 AM	City Tour	1	Rob Test	rob.stevens@softventu	res.com	Accepted
	10:00 AM	City Tour	3	Joe Customer	joe@foobar.com		Accepted
	10:00 AM	City Tour	2	Administrator	rob.stevens@softventu	res.com	Accepted
	Tot	al Seats Booked:	10	_			
0	11:00 AM	City Tour	4	Administrator	rob.stevens@softventu	res.com	Pending
	Tot	al Seats Booked:	4				
	1:00 PM	City Tour	3	Rob Test	rob.stevens@softventu	res.com	Pending
	Tot	al Seats Booked:	3				

Click on a timeslot's start time link to open the manifest for that timeslot. You can Print this and use the side checkboxes to tick-off for a paper attendance record.

						Print Ca	nce
		This is	s the Manifest header area. Put instruction	ons or comments her	e		
ity	Tour	or 17 2009	10.00 000 11.00 000				
nu	Name	Phone	Email	Status	Payment	Seat	#
	Administrator		rob.stevens@softventures.com	Accepted	Pending	Adult	2
	Jane Doe		janed@hotmale.com	Accepted	Pending	Adult	1
						Child	3
	Joe Customer		joe@foobar.com	Accepted	Pending	Adult	2
						Child	1
-	Poh Test		rob stevens@softventures.com	Accepted	Pending	Adult	1

CSS

The CSS file for the front end booking screens is editable via the Edit Files menu. See the Edit Files section for more information.

The CSS file can be edited from within ABPro's admin screens under control panel; Edit Files

Language file

The language file for the front end booking screens is editable via the Edit Files menu. See the Edit Files section for more information.

This is used to translation of the front end to another language and also for changing the screen labels.

The language file can be edited from within ABPro's admin screens under control panel; Edit Files

Email Reminders cron module

Overview

Web applications are driven by people requesting pages so they cannot wake up in night and automatically send out reminders.

However, the operating system that Joomla is running under does support that sort of thing via what is called cron jobs, or scheduled tasks.

I have made a module that uses cron to send automated reminders. This requires cron be available from you hosting company, most allow the use of cron jobs but some do not.

The module mod_sv_reminders, an add-on to ABPro, does not do automated email reminders by itself.

It installs a file, reminders_cron.php, that can be called by your server's cron facility and when it is, it will look at the module parameters and send email reminders to accepted bookings. The module needs to be 'Published' but need not appear on any site page. It is really just a way to let you set parameters for the reminders_cron.php to read at runtime.

Installation, setup and test

Step 1 Download and install the module

Download from link above then install as with any other module - nothing special here.

Step 2 Module Setup

Set Enabled = Yes and Show Title = No

Module Type:	mod_sv_reminders	
Title:	Email Reminders for ABPro and RE	
Show Title:	€ No C Yes	
Enabled:	C No @ Yes	
Position:	left 👻	
Order:	0::Main Menu	•
Access Level:	Public: Registered Special	
ID:	64	
Description:	Reminder Module for ABPro and RBPro. conjunction with your server's cron fac automated email reminder messages.	This module is used in ility to send out

You can set the Menus to None as it does not need to appear on any page.

Parameters

Module Parameters		
Days Before Booking	3	
Component	ABPro 👻	
Version	1.3 👻	
Email Results To		
Test Mode	@ No C Yes	

Days Before Booking:

Enter a number days in advance of the booking time that you wish the email to be sent.

You can have multiple days separated by comma.

Example: 3 = send a reminder 3 days before the booking.

Example: 5,3 = send a reminder 5 days before AND send a reminder 3 days before

This field must be integer value(s) - no 3.5 days.

Component:

Select either ABPro or RBPro

Version:

For future use, currently only supports version 1.3 of each component.

Email Results To:

You can enter an email address that will receive a status report after each cron run. If left blank the report will be sent to the email address in the component's (ABPro or RBPro) Configure / MailTO setting.

Test Mode:

For testing, see below.

Step 3 Cron Setup

After you have the module installed and configured, your next step is to setup or schedule the cron job at your webserver. Each hosting provider will have their own unique process for exactly how to do this. But in each case, you need to create and name a new Cron job, define how often the Cron job should run (this should be once per day), and point the Cron job to the correct path to the reminders_cron.php file. Below are 2 video tutorials that will demonstrate the setup procedures for common hosts.

You need to know the physical path, on the server, to the file reminders_cron.php There is a file included in the module to do this for you. From your browser issue the request: You will get back a screen like this..

Path for cron job: /home/content/files/html/test_J15N/modules/mod_sv_reminders/reminders_cron.php CPanel cron command: /usr/bin/php '/home/content/files/mod_sv_reminders/reminders_cron.php' Note: some hosts may have different path for php, ie: something other than '/usr/bin/php'

Cron setup tutorials

Hosting sites that use <u>CPanel</u> Setup on <u>GoDaddy.com</u>

Step 4 Testing

The file reminders_cron.php has some code at the beginning to prevent it from being called interactivity by a malicious user.

For testing you can set 'Test Mode' (above) to Yes and call reminders_cron.php from your browser like: http://yoursite.com/modules/mod_sv_reminders/reminders_cron.php

When calling as above, you will just get a blank screen and the results will be emailed out.

Google Calendar and ABPro

The Google Calendar setup section has been moved to...

http://appointmentbookingpro.com/google-calendar-setup53.html

Seats & Extras in Google Calendar

You can have the Google calendar insert contain Seats and Extras...

In the Configure screen, Calendars tab..

For Seats...

textoox types as anything the user enters will appear in the calendar.



Will produce ..

				712
n Test test	8am Test 10am torn	8am ammr al fak 8am xczxczxc	Sam Ikök Sam ttttt	8am Garth 9am Test Name
Rob T When Descript	Mon, Nover tion Resource (booked for Monday No to Monday I Adult 1 Child:2	nber 30, 9:00am – ro), Service 1 (30 r <i>Rob Test</i> for this d vember 30, 2009 1 November 30, 200	9:30am min) has been ate/time: 10:00 9 10:30	French onio Izet ohn Doe 19 orge About Us kkk Diana Chin -5 more 26 orte a inte
more de	tails» copy to my o mam George v +3 more	gorg grgon +8 more	am Jerome <u>+5 more</u>	este a isto ed Test jhhgh Tuam Nitin +9 more
29	30	Dec 1	2	3
n john	Sam Aldi nann	10am andreas	9am kukkj	8am Vallagruppe

And for Extras ..



Will produce ...

	17		18	16	19		20	
Liliana Muni		9 m hun	turkuaa	Ram Jorge		9 ses TH		10am C
dfgdl Marc	Ad	ministr	ator					eti. • F
<u>+2 m</u>	Whe	en	Wed, D	ecember 2	2, 12pm	– 1pm		ke
bill John	Des	cription	Resou Blue W	rce 1 has t /idgets:3	been boo	oked for Ad	ministra	ator pi:
Abou gdfg +8 more	mor	e details»	copy to	my calend	ar»	211100	14	a TZPM Agusti
	Dec 1		2	1	3		4	and the second states
n andre n Mike S	as Smith	9am kuki 9am Rofa 12pm Adr	kj julo ministrat	oam Valla 10am K 11am DDD	grupper	10am Mike 1pm abcd		

Limitation

The technique for doing this is very simple and has no logic for limiting inserts based on resource.

That means that if you have 3 *different* Adult' seat types for 3 different resources, the insert cannot show only the Adult seats for the resource the customer chose, it must show all.

Community Builder and ABPro

Overview

ABPro can be set to pull user information from their CB profile, into a booking screen.

This is done by setting up ABPro UDFs (user defined fields) for your booking screen and telling ABPro to pre-fetch data for these fields from the user's CB profile.

UDF Settings for CB

This screen is used to crea	or edit User Defined Fields.
ID:	10
Screen Label:	City
Type:	Textbox 👻
Size:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox)
Rows:	2 (only applies if control type = Textbox)
Columns:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox)
Radio Buttons or List Items:	Comma separated radio button or dropdown list values, use "(d)" to indicate default selection. Example: "Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas", MAX 255 characters
Required Field:	No + (only applies if control type = Textbox, Textarea or Checkbox)
Help Text:	Enter your city
Tooltip:	
lf you are using Commu Only Textbox or Textarea	ty Builder and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from a CB profile field, set the field mapping h elds can pre-fill from Community Builder.
CB Profile Field:	city 🐨
Read Only:	Yes Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to CB. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.
Display Order:	6
and the second	

Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 1.4.2 - Copyright 2008-2009 - Soft Ventures, Inc.

CB Profile Field:	city	
Read Only:	Select a CB profile value address	}
	city	j,
Display Order:	country	T
Published:	fax firstname	
Notes: All text fields can accept :	lastname location middlename	e
Appointment Booking Pro Ver. 1.4.2	name occupation phone state	-
e 💼	zipcode	

Select the CB Profile field from the dropdown list. This list is created from your CB profile table and will only be populated if you have CB installed.

You can also set the field to be read only if you do not want the person doing a booking to be able to change the values. **Note:** Changes, if allowed, are **never written back to CB**. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.

JomSocial and ABPro

Overview

ABPro can be set to pull user information from their JomSocial profile, into a booking screen.

This is done by setting up ABPro UDFs (user defined fields) for your booking screen and telling ABPro to pre-fetch data for these fields from the user's JomSocial profile.

UDF Settings for JomSocial

User	Defined Field Detail	Cancel Save Help
This screen is used to	o create or edit User Defined Fields.	
ID:	3	
Screen Label:	Cell phone	
Type:	Textbox	
Size:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Rows:	2 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Columns:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Radio Buttons or List Items:	Comma separated radio button or dropdown list values, use "(d)" to indicate default selection. Example: "Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas", MAX 255 characters	
Required Field:	No 💌 (only applies if control type = Textbox, Textarea or Checkbox)	
Help Text:		
Tooltip:		
You can assign this	s UDF to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be shown for ALL.	
Resources:	Add >> Select one or more resources that this UDF shown for ALL resources, do not select any. Resource 1 Kemove	applies to. If you wish this UDF to be
Only Textbox or Text	mmunity Builder and wish to populate an ABPro ODF field from a CB profile field, set the field mapping here. tarea fields can pre-fill from Community Builder.	
CB Profile Field:	Select a CB profile value	
Read Only:	No Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to CB. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.	
If you are using Jom Only Textbox or Text	nSocial and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from a JS profile field, set the field mapping here. tarea fields can pre-fill from JomSocial.	
JS Profile Field:	Land phone	
Read Only:	Yes Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to JS. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.	
Display Order:	1	

Notes: All text fields can accept a maximum of 255 characters.

If you are using JomSocia Only Textbox or Textarea	al and wish to populate fields can pre-fill from .	e an ABPro UDF field from a JS profile field JomSocial.
JS Profile Field:	Land phone	
Read Only:	Select a JS profile value About me Address Birthday	o not want visitor to change the value. never written back to JS. ABPro booking.
Display Order:	City / Town	
Published:	College / University Country	
Notes: All text fields can a	Gender Graduation Year Hometown	characters.
	Land phone Mobile phone	-
	State Website	

Select the JomSocial Profile field from the dropdown list. This list is created from your JomSocial profile table and will only be populated if you have JomSocial installed.

You can also set the field to be read only if you do not want the person doing a booking to be able to change the values. **Note:** Changes, if allowed, are **never written back to JomSocial**. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.

Joomla Profile plug-in and ABPro

Overview

ABPro can be set to pull user information from the Joomla Profile plug-in profile, into a booking screen.

This is done by setting up ABPro UDFs (user defined fields) for your booking screen and telling ABPro to pre-fetch data for these fields from the user's Joomla Profile plug-in I profile.

UDF Settings for Joomla Profile plug-in

You can assign this U	DF to one or more resources. If NOT assigned, it will be shown for	ALL.
Resources:	Add >> Empty = ALL	Select one or more resources that this UDF applies to. If you wish this UDF to be shown for ALL resources, do not select any.
If you are using the Jo Only Textbox or Texta show empty.	omla Profile plug-in and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from rea fields can pre-fill from the Joomla Profile. NOTE: The plug-in mu	a Joomla profile field, set the field mapping here. st be enabled AND at least one user profile value entered or the list will
Joomla Profile plug-in Field:	profile.phone	
Read Only:	No Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to JS. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.	
Set to Yes if you do n Note: Changes, if allov Changes are only stor	ot want visitor to change the value. wed, are never written back to the Joomla profile. ed in the ABPro booking.	
CB Profile Field:	Select a CB profile value 💌	
Read Only:	No Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to CB. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.	
lf you are using JomS Only Textbox or Texta	ocial and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from a JS profile fiel rea fields can pre-fill from JomSocial.	d, set the field mapping here.
IS Drofile Field		

If you are using the Joomla Profile plug-in and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from a Joomla profile field, set the field m Only Textbox or Textarea fields can pre-fill from the Joomla Profile. NOTE: The plug-in must be enabled AND at least one use show empty.

Joomla Profile plug-in Field	profile.phone	
Read Only:	Select a Joomla profile value profile.address1 profile.address2 profile.city	want visitor to change the value. are never written back to JS. booking.
Set to Yes if you do not Note: Changes, if allow	profile.region profile.country	Joomla profile.
Changes are only store	profile.phone	
CB Profile Field:	profile.website profile.favoritebook	
Read Only:	profile.aboutme profile.dob name are only stored in the Abrito	want visitor to change the value. are never written back to CB. booking.

If you are using JomSocial and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from a JS profile field, set the field mapping here.

Select the Profile plug-in profile field from the dropdown list. This list is created from your Profile plug-in table and will only be populated if you have Profile plug-in enabled and at least one user's profile item added.

You can also set the field to be read only if you do not want the person doing a booking to be able to change the values. **Note:** Changes, if allowed, are **never written back to Joomla profile**. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.

How to setup Single Resource, Service or Category Modes

To set ABPro into single resource, single service or single category mode you need to be able to tell it what resource, service or category to display.

The booking screens support two methods of doing this.

- 1. Called by Menu
- 2. Called by URL

Called by Menu

When you create a menu item to call ABPro use 'Advanced Options' Screen.

Joomla! R Save	Menu Manager: Edit Menu Item
Details Advanced C	ptions Module Assignment for this Menu Item
Advanced Options	
Screen Display	Normal
	Normal
ld	Single Resource
Orid Start Time	Single Category
Grid Start Time	Single Service
Grid End Time	
Link Type Options	

Screen display can be set to Single Resource, Single Service or Single Category.

ID is the resource, service or category id that you want the booking screen to display.

These are only used for the public booking screens **DO NOT set these for the Front Desk menu item** or its bookings screen will encounter errors.

Called by URL

If you are calling from a content page, you can use a querystring parameter on the URL.

You simply take the URL and add '&res=x', &srv=x' or '&cat=x' where x is the appropriate resource, service or category id.

A simple way to get the URL is make a menu that calls the screen you want (simple or GAD) then click on it. Take the URL that Joomla created and add "&res=123"

If using SEO and ABPro 2.0.3 or above you need a "?". See below.

An example URL would be:

http://YourSite.com/index.php?option=com_rsappt_pro2&view=bookingscreengad&Itemid=58&res=2 http://YourSite.com/index.php?option=com_rsappt_pro2&view=bookingscreengad&Itemid=58&cat=123 http://YourSite.com/index.php?option=com_rsappt_pro2&view=bookingscreengad&Itemid=58&srv=456

If using SEO and ABPro 2.0.3 or above you need a "?".

http://appointmentbookingpro.com/appointment-booking-demo39.html**?res=8** http://appointmentbookingpro.com/appointment-booking-demo39.html**?cat=2** http://appointmentbookingpro.com/appointment-booking-demo39.html**?srv=3**

QS parameters are not compatible with SEO and ABPro prior to 2.0.3.

Querystring parameters

Normally you would use the 'Configure' screen to set your GAD grid to open on; 'Today', 'Tomorrow', etc.

If you need to dynamically change that you can use a link from a content page and pass information telling ABPro how you want it to open. You can use querystring parameters to control *what date* the GAD screen opens on and also the *time range*.

A simple way to get the URL is make a menu that calls the screen you want (simple or GAD) then click on it. Take the URL that Joomla created and add the appropriate ending.

Mygridstarttime / mygridstarttime

You can call the booking screen via a URL with a querystring parameter tacked on the end, like: /index.php?option=com_rsappt_pro2&view=bookingscreengad&Itemid=58&mygridstarttime=9:00&mygridendtime=13:00

This might be used where you want to open the grid only showing the morning in one case and only the afternoon in another.

If using SEO and ABPro 2.0.3 or above you need a "?".

http://appointmentbookingpro.com/appointment-booking-demo39.html?mygridstarttime=9:00&mygridendtime=13:00 QS parameters are not compatible with SEO and ABPro prior to 2.0.3.

mystartdate

You can call the booking screen via a URL with a querystring parameter tacked on the end, like: /index.php?option=com_rsappt_pro2&view=bookingscreengad&Itemid=58&mystartdate=2009-09-14

This could be used if you were booking for events in the distant future and wanted a link for the event detail screen to the booking screen with the booking screen opening on the event date or week.

See the previous section for how to call specific resource or category via URL.

If using SEO and ABPro 2.0.3 or above you need a "?".

http://appointmentbookingpro.com/appointment-booking-demo39.html?mystartdate=2012-09-14

QS parameters are not compatible with SEO and ABPro prior to 2.0.3.

Menu parameters

You can set menu parameters to adjust the GAD grid start/end times. For ABPro 2.0 and above.

🖾 Save	Save & Close + Save & New Save as Copy Close Help
etails Advanced	Options Module Assignment for this Menu Item
dvanced Options	
Screen Display	Normal
d	
Grid Start Time	13:00
Orid End Time	19:00

Link Type Ontions

Multi-Language Operation

Overview

	11 🔤 🗮 🕮 総
Prendre	rendez-vous
	Entrer le texte de tête ici - clair pour aucun en-tête
Votre nom :	
Téléphone :	

Version 1.4.5 is the International version with support for UTF-8, all elements (resources, categories, services, messages, etc) will support language file keys.

For example, rather than entering a confirmation message into the ABPro message box, you can enter a language file key. Create your confirmation message(s) in whatever language files you support and ABPro will send the language specific confirmation message

While ABPro does not support Joom!Fish, they can co-exist and work together nicely.

Limitations

- Admin messages are sent in language of admin side. An example of this would be if back-end Admin sets the booking to 'Accepted' the confirmation will go in whatever language the back-end Admin is running. In the case of auto-accept where the confirmation is generated at booking time, it goes in the current front-end language the user has selected.
- Date format is not changeable. Any expanded dates are translated (ex: mar. 15-déc.-2009) but the date picker fields will show YYYY-MM-DD format.
- Currency format does not adjust the ',' and '.' so all currencies show as ##,###.##. The currency symbol is set in the language file so it can be translated to \$, €, £, etc.
- Language changes by the user *may* need screen refresh. This is because ABPro uses many asynchronous AJAX calls and it is possible that immediately after a language change, if you are on an ABPro screen when doing the change, the screen may show part in the new language and part in the old. A refresh will clear this.

Windows Servers

Not supported on Windows servers.

From PHP docs: "If you are running PHP on a multithreaded server API like IIS or Apache on Windows, you may experience sudden changes in locale settings while a script is running"... that means **on windows servers** dates may will sometimes switch to English part way through the GAD grid.

For Windows servers (if you want to run in spite of the above warning) you will need to edit file *rsappt_pro14.php*

Find: define("WINDOWS", false); Change to: //define("WINDOWS", false);

Using Language file Keys

ABPro uses Joomla's built in translation capabilities. When rendering text it checks to see if a language file entry has been defined for the text, if so it uses the language file text, if not it renders the text directly.

For example:

If you define the resource as "Boat", the screen will show "Boat"

If you define the resource as "RES_BOAT" and define keys in the language file like..

- In the English file: RES_BOAT=Boat
- In the French file: RES_BOAT=Bateau
- In the Spanish file: RES_BOAT=Lancha

The screen would display the appropriate translation depending on the user's choice of front-end language.

Resources, Categories, etc

Any entities you define to be show on screen can use language file keys. This would be resource, categories, services, extras, etc.

Example setting up a Resource:

For single language sites you can enter Resource name and description directly.

Resou	urce Detail	Cancel Save Help
A resource is who or v For example, an appoint	what the appointment is being made for. Iment to visit doctor or test drive a car. The resource	would be the doctory the car.
Resource ID:	2	
Name:	Boat	
Description:	Boat	This field is used in the booking screen dropdown list.
Access	Fuences	You can set wheather this resource is available to everyone or only

The screen will show ..

our Name:	
hone:	
mail:	
comments:	

For **<u>Multilanguage sites</u>** you need to enter a language file key.

Resou	urce Detail	Cancel Save	O Help
A resource is who or v For example, an appoint	what the appointment is being made for. Iment to visit doctor or test drive a car. The resource	would be the doctors the car.	
Resource ID:	2		
Name:	RESOURCE_BOAT		
Description:	RESOURCE_BOAT	This field is used in the booking screen dropdown list.	
Access	Evenera	You can set wheather this resource is available to everyone or onl	ly

In this case I made the key 'RESOURCE_BOAT'.

You can define the key as **any text you like** with these limitations:

- All upper case
- No spaces
- Unique in ABPro.

Now in the language files you add translations for RESOURCE_BOAT..

N 100		
:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_	5\language\en-US\en-US.com_rsappt_pro14.ini	
RS1_INPUT_SCRN_VALI	DATION_FAILED=Validation Failed:	
RS1_INPUT_SCRN_VALI	DATION_OK=Validation OK	
RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_TIMES	SLOT_DETAIL_DESC=Description	
RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_RES_N	NON_WORK_HIDE=Hide non-Booking days:	11
KPI_WIM_PCKM_KFP_L	WOW_WORK_HIDS_ASSP-II SEt to les days unckecked above wi	II no
RS1 INPUT SCRN ALREA	ADY CANCELED=Booking already cancelled.	
t v 1.4.5 stuff		
RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOK	ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Code	
my translations		
RESOURCE 1=Resource	1	
RESOURCE_BOAT=Boat		
RESOURCE_CAR=Car		
HEADER_TEXT=Enter he	eader text here - clear for no header	
TOOTER_TEXT=Enter fo	ooter text here - clear for no footer	
AT_1=North		
AI_2-South		
< <u> </u>		•
 III ::\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ 	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini	,
<pre>* III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREP</pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas.	,
<pre>xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ xs1_INPUT_SCRN_ALRE# t Coses x 1 4 5</pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas.	,
<pre>(</pre>	5\language\es-E\$\es-E\$.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas.	•
<pre>III III III III III III III III III II</pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código	,
<pre>III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALRE# Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI my translations</pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código	•
<pre>X III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREP Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI my translations IDF_COMMENTS =Coment</pre>	5Nanguage/es-ES/es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código	•
<pre>X III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI t my translations IDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 </pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código	•
<pre>X III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI IDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 RESOURCE_BOAT=Lanche RESOURCE_CDATE_COME</pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código	•
<pre>III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI my translations UDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 RESOURCE_BOAT=Lanche RESOURCE_CAR=Coche UEADEP_TEXT=Introdue</pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código	•
<pre>III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI tmy translations IDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 RESOURCE_BOAT=Lanche RESOURCE_CAR=Coche HEADER_TEXT=Introduz TOOTER_TEXT=Introduz </pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código tarios L a a acca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ninguaca el texto de pie de página aguí - claro para no foote:	uno
<pre>III III III III III III III III III II</pre>	5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código tarios L a sca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ning sca el texto de pie de página aquí - claro para no foote:	uno
<pre>III III III III III III III III III II</pre>	5Nanguage/es-ES/es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código tarios L a a acca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ning acca el texto de pie de página aquí - claro para no foote:	uno
<pre>III III III III III III III II</pre>	5Nanguage/es-ES/es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código tarios L a a sca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ning sca el texto de pie de página aquí - claro para no foote:	uno
<pre>III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI my translations UDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 RESOURCE_BOAT=Lanche RESOURCE_CAR=Coche HEADER_TEXT=Introdus CAT_1=Norte CAT_2=Sur SUB_CAT_1=Este SUB_CAT_2=Oeste </pre>	5NanguageNes-ESNes-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código tarios a sca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ning sca el texto de pie de página aquí - claro para no foote:	uno
<pre>III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI to my translations UDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 RESOURCE_CAR=Coche HEADER_TEXT=Introduz CAT_1=Norte CAT_2=Sur SUB_CAT_1=Este SUB_CAT_2=Oeste SERV_1=Short puerto</pre>	5VanguageVes-ESVes-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ENG_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código carios a ca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ningu zca el texto de pie de página aquí - claro para no foote:	uno
<pre> III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI my translations UDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 RESOURCE_BOAT=Lancha RESOURCE_CAR=Coche HEADER_TEXT=Introduz FOOTER_TEXT=Introduz CAT_1=Norte CAT_2=Sur SUB_CAT_1=Este SUB_CAT_1=Este SUB_CAT_2=Oeste SERV_1=Short puerto SERV_2=Tour de la Is SOOKING_COMPLETE= C </pre>	5VanguageVes-ESVes-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código tarios L a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a b a	uno r
<pre></pre>	5Nanguage/es-ES/es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código tarios L a exca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ningu exca el texto de pie de página aquí - claro para no foote: de Tour sla racias por su solicitud. [resource], [resource_serviv ya de [resource] de [startdate] ha sido cancelada. graci.	uno r ce]
<pre>III C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_ RS1_INPUT_SCRN_ALREA Cosas v 1.4.5 RS1_ADMIN_SCRN_BOOKI IDF_COMMENTS =Coment RESOURCE_1=Recurso 1 RESOURCE_BOAT=Lanche RESOURCE_CAR=Coche HEADER_TEXT=Introdus COTER_TEXT=Introdus COTER_TEXT=Introdus CAT_1=Norte CAT_2=Sur SUB_CAT_1=Este SUB_CAT_2=Oeste SERV_1=Short puerto SERV_2=Tour de la Is SOOKING_COMPLETE= Ga CANCEL MSG=Su reserv </pre>	5/language/es-ES/es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini ADY_CANCELED=reservas ya canceladas. ING_LANGUAGE=Langauge Código carios la a cca el texto de cabecera aquí - claro para no tener ning cca el texto de pie de página aquí - claro para no foote: de Tour ala racias por su solicitud. [resource], [resource_servi- va de [resource] de [startdate] ha sido cancelada, graci-	uno r cel as.

Which yields (when Spanish is selected as front-end language)..

	Introduzca el texto de cabeo	cera aquí - claro para no tener ninguno
Su nombre:		
Teléfono:		
Email:		
Comentarios:		
	Finite a second second	-
Decements	Escribe to comentano aqui.	

The same procedure is used to define multi-language services, categories, etc.

Messages

If you are running a single language site you can enter message text directly into the configure screen.

20	mpone	int Configuration		1				1 1862501
control ranc	coppoint	unchias categories	Resources	JUTTIC		110 3013	UUURUIIS	ULIS
Basic Setup	Calendars	Graphic Availability Display	Messages	PayPal	Clickatel			
These SMS I	e messages a Note: The only	are used for both email and s SMS sent to a customer is th	creen display	all other SM	IS messa	ges are not	ifications to the r	esource a
Booking Complete:		Thank you for <bb>(br> <bb>(resou </bb></bb> for this (startdate) [s >vbr> Your	 Thank you for your booking.					me]
		To cancel your bo Favorite Frui	oking enter t = [Favour	this co the Frui	de into	the book	ing screen.	

For a multi-language site you can define a language file key..

ntrol Pane	Appoin	tments Categorie	Resources	Servic	es Time Slo	ts Book-Off	s UDFs	Co
o <mark>intment</mark> E	Booking Config	guration						
sic Setup	Calendars	Graphic Availability Dis	play Messages	PayPal	Clickatell			
Thes	e messages a	are used for both email	and screen display	/. all other SM	IS messages are	notifications to I	he resource a	adminis
SMS	Note: The only	y SMS sent to a custom	ier is ute reminuer,		io moodgee are			

And now add a BOOKING_COMPLETE key to each language file. (see below)

Note: In version 2.0 the edit boxes add extraneous characters so you need to wrap your key with "{svkey}" Example:

{svkey}BOOKING_COMPLETE{svkey}

ABPro 2 will just take the value between the {svkey} tags and ignore formatting characters inserted by the editor.

Note the tokens are not translated. If you want to insert the user's selected service you use the normal token [resource_service]

For UDFs, Seats or Extras where the screen label is being translated, you use the key.



UDFs (User Defined Fields)

If you are running a single language site you can enter UDF text directly into the UDF setup screen.

This screen is used to cr	reate or edit User Defined Fields.	
ID:	1	
Screen Label:	Pet's Name	
Туре:	Textbox 👻	
Size:	30 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Rows:	2 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Columns:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Radio Buttons or		
List Items:	Comma separated radio button or dropdown lik values use "(d)" to indicate default selection. Example: "Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas" 14-X 255 paracters	
Required Field:	No 👻 (only applies if control type (extbox Textarea or Checkbox)	
Help Text	* Sample user defined field (UDF)	
Tooltip:	As many user defined fields as you want	

Here showing a UDF textbox with the screen text 'Pet's Name'.

For a multi-language site you can define a language file keys..

This screen is used to o	create or edit User Defined Fields.	
D:	1 🖊	
Screen Label:	UDF_COMMENTS	
Гуре:	Textarea 💌	
Size:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Rows:	2 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Columns:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox)	
Radio Buttons or		
List Items:	Comma separated radio button or dropdown list alues, use "(d)" to indicate default selection. Example: "Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas", MAX 255 chracters	_
Required Field:	No 💌 (only applies if control type = extboxy Textarea or Checkbox)	
Help Text:	UDF_COMMENTS_HELP	
Facilia	LIDE COMMENTS TOOLTIP	

Here showing a textarea for comments.

Now add language file keys..
C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_5\language\en-US\en-US.com_rsappt_pro14.ini

```
SUB CAT 2=West
SERV 1=Short Harbour Tour
SERV_2=Island Tour
BOOKING_COMPLETE=Thank you for your order.[resource], [resource_service] has bee
CANCEL MSG=Your booking for [resource] on [startdate] has been cancelled, thank
BOOKING IN PROGRESS=Thank you, [requester name]. Your request will be reviewed sh
ADULT SEAT=Adult
ADULT SEAT TOOLTIP=Select the number of Adult seats you wish to order.
ADULT_SEAT_HELP=$10.00 (whatever text you want here ;-)
CHILD_SEAT=Child
CHILD SEAT_TOOLTIP=Select the number of Child seats you wish to order.
CHILD SEAT HELP=Free (under 12 yrs - must be accompanied by an Adult)
EXTRA 1=Red Pencil
EXTRA 1 TOOLTIP=Select how many you want.
EXTRA 1 HELP=Writes with red ink.
UDF COMMENTS=Comments
UDF_COMMENTS_TOOLTIP=Max 255 characters
UDF_COMMENTS_HELP=Enter your comment here.
COUPON 5 OFF=$5.00 OFF
. .
      111
```

C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_5\language\es-ES\es-ES.com_rsappt_pro14.ini

```
SUB CAT 2=Oeste
SERV 1=Short puerto de Tour
SERV 2=Tour de la Isla
BOOKING COMPLETE= Gracias por su solicitud.
                                               [resource], [resource service]
CANCEL MSG=Su reserva de [resource] de [startdate] ha sido cancelada, gracias.
BOOKING_IN_PROGRESS=Gracias, [requester name]. Su solicitud será revisada en br
ADULT_SEAT=Adultos
ADULT_SEAT_TOOLTIP=Selecciona el número de asientos para adultos que quiere pedi
ADULT SEAT HELP=$ 10,00 (el texto que gueremos aguí ;-)
CHILD SEAT=Niño
CHILD SEAT_TOOLTIP=Selecciona el número de asientos del niño que quiere pedir.
CHILD SEAT HELP=gratis (menores de 12 años - deben ir acompañados por un adulto)
EXTRA 1=Rojo Lápiz
EXTRA_1_TOOLTIP=Selecciona el número que desee.
EXTRA 1 HELP=Escribe con tinta roja.
UDF COMMENTS =Comentarios
UDF_COMMENTS_TOOLTIP=Máximo 255 caracteres
UDF_COMMENTS_HELP=Escribe tu comentario aquí.
COUPON 5 OFF=la reducción de 5.00
```

C:\xampp\htdocs\dev_15_5\language\fr-FR\fr-FR.com_rsappt_pro14.ini

Editing Language File(s)

ABPro will look through your language files and allow you to edit all ABPro language files at one time.

Appointments	Categories	Resources	vices Time :	Slots Book-Of	fs UDFs C
65	Appointments	Categories	Resources	Services	Time Slots
Appointments Categories Resources	Book-Offs	UDFs	Coupons	Configure	PayPal Transactions
Time Slots Book-Offs UDFs Coupons	Seats/Booking				\$ \$ Extras
Configure PayPal Transactions Seats/Booking Extras	EdR Files	Backup/Restore	Error Log	Reminder Log	Activity Log
Ede Pies Backup/Restore Error Loo Reminder Cog Activity Log		PDF User' Guide can be	e downloaded here.		About
Control Panel Appointm	ients Catego	es Resour	ces Sen		
Edit CSS Edit Language File	(5)				
	5500				

	Edit Language File(s)		
C:\xampp	htdocs\dev_15_5\langu	age\de-DE\de-DE.com_rsappt_pro14.ini	
# Benut:	zeroberfläche		
RS1 INP	UT SCRN TITLE=Term	uinreservierung / C	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M	lidnight	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon		
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_OK=OK	//	
Eingal	pefelder		
RS1 INP	UT SCRN NAME=Ihr N	lame:	
RS1 INP	UT SCRN PHONE=Tele	fon:	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_EMAIL=E-Ma	il:	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C	ATEGORIES=Kategorie:	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C	ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Wählen Sie eine Kategorie	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R	essource:	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_SERVICES=D	ienstleistungen:	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_P	ROMPT=Wählen Sie eine Ressource	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_TIMESLOT_P	ROMPT=Wählen Sie einen Time	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_DATE_PROMP	T=Datum wählen	
RS1_INP	UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLO	TS_AVAILABLE=Nein jederzeit zur Verfügung	
RS1_INP	JT_SCRN_FROM=Start		_
KS1_INP	DT_SCRN_UNTIL=Ende		
•			
	222002		
t user RS1_INP RS1_INP	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M	intment Booking	
t user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon	intment Booking Midnight	
f User RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK	bintment Booking Midnight	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NCON=Ncon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields	Sintment Booking	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NCON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your	Name:	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon	Name: e:	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_EMAIL=Emai	Name: e: 1:	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_EMAIL=Emai UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C	Name: e: 1: ATEGORIES=Category:	
t user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP t input RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_EMAIL=Emai UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C	Name: Ne: 1: ATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category	
t user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP t input RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_EMAIL=Emai UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R	Name: Name: Name: 1: ATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource:	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_EMAIL=Emai UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_SERVICES=S	Name: Ne: 1: ATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: ervices:	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_EMAIL=Emai UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCES=S UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_P	Name: Ne: 1: ATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: ervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS</pre>	screen UT <u>SCRN</u> TITLE=Appo UT <u>SCRN</u> MIDNIGHT=M UT <u>SCRN</u> NOON=Noon UT <u>SCRN</u> NOON=Noon UT <u>SCRN</u> NAME=Your UT <u>SCRN</u> NAME=Your UT <u>SCRN</u> PHONE=Phon UT <u>SCRN</u> PHONE=Phon UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_C UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_C UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=R UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=R UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCES=S UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_P UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_P UT <u>SCRN</u> THESLOT P	Name: Mame: Mame: Mame: Maregories=Category: Maregories_prompt=Select a Category esource: ervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource ROMPT=Select a Time T=Collect Date	
# user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP	screen UT <u>SCRN</u> TITLE=Appo UT <u>SCRN</u> MIDNIGHT=M UT <u>SCRN</u> NOON=Noon UT <u>SCRN</u> NOON=Noon UT <u>SCRN</u> NAME=Your UT <u>SCRN</u> NAME=Your UT <u>SCRN</u> PHONE=Phon UT <u>SCRN</u> PHONE=Phon UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_C UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_C UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=R UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=R UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=P UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_P UT <u>SCRN</u> DATE_PROMP UT <u>SCRN</u> NOT	Name: Name: Name: Ne: 1: ATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: ervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource ROMPT=Select a Time T=Select Date T=Select Date	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS</pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_OK=OK fields UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=S UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_P UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOT UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOT UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOT	Name: Mame: Mame: Me: 1: MIEGORIES=Category: MIEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: ervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource ROMPT=Select a Time T=Select Date TS_AVAILABLE=No Times Available	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS</pre>	screen UT SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_NON=Noon UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_TIMESLOT_P UT_SCRN_DATE_PROMP UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOT UT_	Name: Name: Ne: 1: NATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: ervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource ROMPT=Select a Time T=Select Date TS_AVAILABLE=No Times Available :	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP RS</pre>	screen UT <u>SCRN</u> TITLE=Appo UT <u>SCRN</u> MIDNIGHT=M UT <u>SCRN</u> NOON=Noon UT <u>SCRN</u> NOON=Noon UT <u>SCRN</u> NAME=Your UT <u>SCRN</u> NAME=Your UT <u>SCRN</u> PHONE=Phon UT <u>SCRN</u> PHONE=Phon UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_C UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE_C UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=R UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=R UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=R UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=P UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=P UT <u>SCRN</u> RESOURCE=P UT <u>SCRN</u> DATE_PROMP UT <u>SCRN</u> NG TIMESLO UT <u>SCRN</u> NG TIMESLO UT <u>SCRN</u> UNTIL=End:	Name: He: 1: ATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: ervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource ROMPT=Select a Time T=Select Date TS_AVAILABLE=No Times Available :	•
t user RS1_INP RS1_	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_NON=Noon UT_SCRN_NAME=Your UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOT UT_SCRN_DATE_PROMP UT_SCRN_FROM=Start UT_SCRN_UNTIL=End: "	<pre>Name: idnight Name: e: 1: AIEGORIES=Category: AIEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: ervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource ROMPT=Select a Time T=Select Date TS_AVAILABLE=No Times Available : </pre>	
<pre># user RS1_INP RS1_INP RS1_INP # input RS1_INP </pre>	screen UT_SCRN_TITLE=Appo UT_SCRN_MIDNIGHT=M UT_SCRN_NOON=Noon UT_SCRN_NON=Noon UT_SCRN_NON=Noon UT_SCRN_NON=Noon UT_SCRN_NON=Non UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_PHONE=Phon UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE_C UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=R UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_RESOURCE=P UT_SCRN_NOTIMESLOT UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOT UT_SCRN_NO_TIMESLOT UT_SCRN_UNTIL=End: "	Name: Mame: Mame: Me: 1: ATEGORIES=Category: ATEGORIES_PROMPT=Select a Category esource: Mervices: ROMPT=Select a Resource ROMPT=Select a Time T=Select Date TS_AVAILABLE=No Times Available : Mervices: Merv	

Control Panel Appointments Categories Resources Services Time Slots Book-O

Using UDFs (User Defined Fields)

Overview

UDFs are primarily for capturing user input on the booking screen. There is special type of UDF call 'content' that can be used to present information to the customer. See 'Content' under 'Types of UDFs' below.

They typically solicit a customer's choice from lists or radio button, or allow text to be entered by the customer.

You can define tooltips to be shown when the customer moves their mouse over the UDF, and help text to appear below the UDF.

Appointmer	nt Booking			
	[Your header text here	1		
Your Name: UDF	Joe User			
Phone:				
Email:	foo234@bar.com			
Cell:	1			
Favourite Fruit:	Apples	Enter your cell phone here		
	Oranges		<u> </u>	
Help text	Bananas			
	Select your favourite	Т	ooltip	

In the UDF setup screen (Control Panel | UDFs) ...

User D	efined Field Detail: [Edit]
This screen is used to	create or edit User Defined Fields.
ID:	3
Screen Label:	Favourite Fruit
Туре:	Radio Buttons 🔽
Size:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox or Textarea)
Rows:	2 (only applies if control type = Textbox or Textarea)
Columns:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox or Textarea)
Radio Buttons or List Items:	Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas Comma separated radio button or dropdown list values, use '(d)' to indicate default selection. Example: 'Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas', MAX 255 characters
Required Field:	No 😱 (only applies if control type = Textbox, Textarea or Checkbox)
Help Text:	Select <i>your</i> favourite
Tooltip:	Select your favourite

The UDF setup screen is where you define the screen label to be used and various parameters for your UDF. Some fields in the setup screen are only applicable to certain UDF types. See UDF Types below for details.

If you are running a multi-language site you can enter a language file KEY as the 'Screen Label' and ABPro will use the language file value on screen. See Mult-Language Operation in this guide for more details.

ABPro supports any number of UDFs on a booking screen.

With the flexibility of unlimited numbers come some limitations.

- The UDFs are processed by looping code and so cannot have specific treatment. That is to say if you have 3 textboxes you **can** control when order they appear in, but you **cannot** have special processing for one textbox. A textbox is a textbox.
- Vertical lists only. A web page can grow longer quite easily. Growing wider is problematic. As such as you add more UDFs the screen gets longer. There is no facility to have UDFs appear in multiple columns. Radio Buttons can likewise only be displayed in vertical lists.
- UDFs are not stored as part of the core booking record, but reside in a separate table. This means you cannot easily include UDFs in listing screens like the My Bookings screen.

Types of UDFs

Textbox

The 'Size' field on the UDF setup screen is for Textboxes. This will determine the physical size of the box on the screen. All textboxes accept 255 characters of input.

A textbox can be designated as a required field. If the customer attempts to submit a booking without entering data into a 'required' textbox, validation will fail and block them from making their booking.

Textarea

A textarea is like a textbox but allows a larger screen presence. The 'Rows' and 'Columns' fields set the on-screen size. All textareas accept 255 characters of input.

A textarea can be designated as a required field. If the customer attempts to submit a booking without entering data into a 'required' textarea, validation will fail and block them from making their booking.

Radio button

To present a customer with a list of radio buttons, select 'Radio Buttons' type and provide a list of options in the 'Radio Buttons or List Items' box. You can specify a default item by putting "(d)" in front. See above.

One radio button is always selected so radio buttons cannot be 'required' fields.

Dropdown List

To present a customer with a dropdown list from which to choose, select the 'Dropdown List' this type and provide a list of options in the 'Radio Buttons or List Items' box. You can specify a default item by putting "(d)" in front. See above.

One radio button is always selected so radio buttons cannot be 'required' fields.

Checkbox

The Checkbox type provides a simple checkbox for the customer to check. This can be a required field.

Content

The Content type is different than all the others in that it is intended to **provide information TO the customer** rather than capturing information from them.

Example, setting..

ID:	13
Screen Label:	Directions
Туре:	Content
Size:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox or Textarea)
Rows:	2 (only applies if control type = Textbox or Textarea)
Columns:	40 (only applies if control type = Textbox or Textarea)
Radio Buttons or List Items:	Comma separated radio button or dropdown list values, use '(d)' to indicate default selection. Example: 'Apples, (d)Oranges, Bananas', MAX 255 characters
Required Field:	No 😱 (only applies if control type = Textbox, Textarea or Checkbox)
Help Text:	
Tooltip:	
Text for 'Content' UDF type:	You can't get there from here.
Show on Booking Screen:	Yes 💌

Yields..

Appointme	nt Booking
	[Your header text here]
Your Name:	
Phone:	
Email:	
Cell:	
Favourite Fruit:	 Apples Oranges Research
Directions:	You can't get there from here.

The text you place in the content UDF can be HTML so you can have rudimentary formatting like color and bolding. You can create a content UDF with a local image tag also.

Tooltip:	
Text for 'Content' UD type:	<pre>F </pre>
Show on Booking Screen:	Yes 🗸
Favourite Fruit:	C Apples
	Oranges
	© Bananas
	Select your favourite
Directions:	You can't get there from here.
Image:	
Information:	Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit. Ut sed enim tortor, vel interdum libero. Quisq lectus non tellus tristique aliquet sit amet ut lectus. Duis convallis, massa eu hendrerit accumsan, neque le vulputate tellus, non interdum ante turpis eu felis. Nunc aliquet metus eu erat auctor interdum. Cras ut diau

Images CANNOT be included in the confirmation email.

Resource Specific UDFs

UDFs can be either common for all resources or resource specific to one or more resources.

Common resources appear ABOVE the resource whereas resource specific UDFs appear BELOW the resource AFTER the resource is selected.

Favourite Fruit:	ApplesOrangesBananas	NON-Resource Specific UDFs	
	Select your favourite		
Directions:	You can't get there from here.	Resource Specific UDF	
Resource:	Dr Bar - \$10 per hour + tax 👻		
Services:	60 Minute 👻		
	Image:		

By default all new UDFs are NON-Resource Specific so they will appear on all booking screens.

To make a UDF only appear for certain resources, add the resources to the right box. In the example below the UDF will only display for resources 'Dr Bar' and 'Nudder Resource'.

You can assign this UD	F to one or more reso	ources. If NOT assig	ned, it will be shown for	ALL.	
Resources:	Nudder Resource 🖵		Add >>	Dr Bar Nudder Resource	*
If you are using Commu	Dr Bar Bus Tour RESOURCE_1	to populate an ABP	ro UBE neld from a CB p	Empty = ALL	field mapping here.
Only Textbox or Textare	Nudder Resource	tom Community Buik	ler		noid independ noi o

Mapping a UDF to Community Builder, JomSocial or Joomla's Profile plug-in

ABPro has the ability to fetch user profile data from Community Builder, JomSocial or Joomla's Profile plug-in.

This is intended to save the customers typing.

For example, if they have a CB of JS profile that contains 'Cell Phone' and you want that captured in the booking you can create a UDF called 'Cell Phone' and map it to the CB or JS data. Assuming you have CB or JS installed.

You can also set whether the mapped value can be edited in the booking screen or not. Note, changes to the mapped value will only be changed in the booking record.

ABPro NEVER changes data in CB, JS or Joomla profile.

omla Profile plug-in and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from a Joomla profile field, set the field mapping here. ea fields can pre-fill from the Joomla Profile. NOTE: The plug-in must be enabled AND at least one user profile value entered or the list will
profile.phone
No Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to JS.
Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.
ved, are never written back to the Joomla profile. ed in the ABPro booking.
Select a CB profile value
No Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to CB. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.
ocial and wish to populate an ABPro UDF field from a JS profile field, set the field mapping here. rea fields can pre-fill from JomSocial.
Select a JS profile value 💌
No Set to Yes if you do not want visitor to change the value. Note: Changes, if allowed, are never written back to JS. Changes are only stored in the ABPro booking.

Using UDFs to tailor the customer confirmation message

Any UDF data, either captured from the customer or presented via content UDFs, can be included in the confirmation email message via ABPro's token system.

The Token system

The idea of the token system is that you can create a common confirmation message, in the Configuration screen, messages tab, and include tokens that will be swapped at runtime for the appropriate data. The token system is discussed in other parts of this guide pertaining to the confirmation message.

In the case of UDFs the token is the screen label inside [].

For example:

- 1. If your screen label is 'Directions' and you place the token '[Directions]' into your message, ABPro will substitute the content you place in the UDF for the token.
- 2. If your screen label was 'Cell Phone' and you place the token '[Cell Phone]' into you message, ABPro will substitute the value the customer entered as his cell phone in place of the token.

Note!!

You must ensure **your UDF token names do not conflict with any built in tokens** or unpredictable results with arise. Build in token names can be found on the Configure screen, messages tab, at the bottom of the screen.

Common Content

If you have content you wish added to all booking screens, such as terms and conditions, you could create a 'content' type UDF that is NON-resource specific. If you called it 'Terms'. This would show on all booking screens.

If you now add '[Terms]' in the confirmation message, the terms would also be added to the confirmation email message.

Resource Specific Content

If you have content you wish added to only certain booking screens, such as resource specific information, you could create a 'content' type UDF that IS resource specific. If you called it 'Resource Info', this would only show on booking screens where the appropriate resource was selected by the customer.

If you now add '[Resource Info]' in the confirmation message, the content text would only be added to the confirmation email message when the appropriate resource is booked.

Token only Content

In some cases you may wish to have common or resource specific text added to the confirmation email but NOT shown on the booking screen.

To do this set 'Show on Booking Screen' = No when creating a content type UDF.

Now the booking screen will NOT show the content text for this UDF, however if you include a token for it the text WILL be added to the confirmation email.

Using the Front Desk

The Front Desk view was designed for *staff* to see and manage upcoming bookings. It was a STAFF ONLY screen that had a lot of power.

With ABPro 2.0.1 the roll of the Front Desk was expanded such that it could also be used as a *public* screen showing a calendar view of existing bookings.

Use CAUTION when setting up a public Front Desk screen as ABPro cannot dictate what power you want the public to have, it is up to you. The following section details each setting available in the menu setup screen.

You can have multiple menu items calling the Front Desk screen with different capabilities if you like.

For basic setup information see previous section in the guide 'Front End Screens', subsection 'Front Desk'

Overview

For basic setup information see previous section in the guide 'Front End Screens', subsection 'Front Desk'

This section of the guide covers configuring the Front Desk view from the menu setup.

Many of the Front Desk's capabilities can be turned on or off via the menu setup.

NOTE: ABPro cannot control who you make the Front Desk available to. There are some options you should NEVER let the public have access to. It is **your responsibility** to **not enable sensitive booking information** on a screen that you show the public.

Menu Setup

 Parameters (Basic) 	
Default View	Month 💌
	Change requires client browser restart!
Use Page Title	🔘 Yes 🖲 No
Calendar cell display	Oustomer Resource
Tooltip display	🔘 Customer 🖲 Resource 🔘 None
Resource Admin Only	Yes No
Login Required	Yes No
View Only	🔘 Yes 🔘 No
Edit Status Only	🔘 Yes 🔘 No
Enable Seat Totals	◎ Yes ◎ No
Enable Customer History	◎ Yes ◎ No
Enable Manifest	◎ Yes ◎ No
Enable Reminders	◎ Yes ◎ No
Show Booking details	◎ Yes ◎ No
Show Contact Info	◎ Yes ◎ No
Show UDFs	◎ Yes ◎ No
Show Extras	◎ Yes ◎ No
Show Booking Charges	◎ Yes ◎ No
New Booking Screen	◙ Staff [©] Public [©] None
Parameters (System	1)

Default View

Month/Week/Day

This determines what view the screen will open with. As the user changes view the current selection is stored in a session variable. If you change this value you may need to restart your browser to see the screen open in the new view. If Front Desk is set **View Only**, for public viewing, this setting is ignored. Only **month view** is available to the public.

Use Page Title

Yes/No

Yes = Use the menu title as the Front Desk title. No = Use the Language file entry as the title. (Language file key: RS1_FRONTDESK_SCRN_TITLE)

Calendar Cell Display

Customer or Resource

Customer



Tooltip Display

Customer, Resource or None.



Resource Admin Only

Yes/No

As stated previously the Front Desk was for staff to manage bookings. To support the idea of one user managing some resources and anther user managing different resources the operator could only see bookings for resources they were assigned as resource admin for. This was also good if the resources were different companies and you did not want staff from company A seeing bookings for company B.

Yes = The operator will only see bookings for resources that they are assigned as resource admin. Setting a resource's administrators is done in the resource setup screen near the bottom.

No = The operator will see bookings for all resources.

Login Required

Yes/No

Yes = the user must be logged in. No = User need not be logged in.

Use with caution to ensure non-logged in visitor does not get staff level access.

Login Required = No should **ONLY** be used with **View Only = Yes**.

View Only

Yes/No

Yes = Front desk will be read-only, no changes can be allowed. Also some action controls will be hidden. Any time a Front Desk screen is made available to the public is should be on View Only mode.

Never give the public access to a Front Desk with View Only = No.

If you wish, you can allow the Front Desk booking links to display some or all the booking details. See Show Booking Details below.

Edit Status Only

Yes/No

Yes = The booking detail edit screen will display with all data read-only except the booking status. This would be used if you only want staff to be able to change booking status.

		Save Changes Cance
D:	894	
Name:*	John Doe	These fields are from the booking request.
Phone:		They can be modified by the administrator. An example might be where a requested date is
Email:	asd@sad.com	not available so the administrator phones the
Use SMS:	Yes -	Administrator would then change the date here.
SMS Phone:		
SMS Dial Code:		
Resource:	Dr Bar	
Service:	60 Minute	
Start Date:	2011-03-30	
Start Time:	10 - : 00 - (bh:mm)	
End Time:	11 - 00 - (bh:mm)	
User Defined Fields	Listering - Lass Frid francing	
	Label Value	
	Directions: You can't get there from her	e
	CeR	
	Favourite Fruit Oranges	
	Favourite Fruit: Oranges Image:	
	Favourte Fruit: Oranges Image:	
Damast Stalue	Favourte Fruit Oranges	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled.
Request Status:	Favourite Fruit. Oranges Image: Accepted	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'.
Request Status. Payment Status:	Favourite Fruit: Oranges Image: Accepted • New Pending	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'. Administrator can indicate payment has been
Request Status: Payment Status:	Favourite Fruit: Oranges Image: Accepted New Pending Accepted Cappled	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'. Administrator can indicate payment has been received.
Request Status: Payment Status: Total :	Favourite Fruit: Oranges Image: Accepted New Pending Accepted Canceled Deleted	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'. Administrator can indicate payment has been received.
Request Status: Payment Status: Total : Amount Due :	Favourite Fruit: Oranges Image: Accepted New Pending Accepted Canceled Deleted Completed Completed	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'. Administrator can indicate payment has been received.
Request Status: Payment Status: Total : Amount Due : Manual Payment :	Favourte Fruit: Oranges Image: Accepted New Pending Accepted Canceled Deleted Completed Declined No Show	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'. Administrator can indicate payment has been received. Payment collected manually by staff (ex: walk-in or phone credit card)
Request Status: Payment Status: Total : Amount Due : Manual Payment : Credit Used :	Favourte Fruit: Oranges Image: Accepted New Pending Accepted Canceled Deleted Completed Declined No Show Attended	Set request to Accepted, Declined or Canceled. Email messages will be sent when changing to 'Accepted' or 'Cancelled'. Administrator can indicate payment has been received. Payment collected manually by staff (ex: walk-in or phone credit card) If User Credit System in use, this shows amount

Enable Seat Totals

Yes/No

If you are not using the 'Seats per Booking' features of ABPro, you can set this to No and the seat related controls will not show.

Some examples:

Yes			No
	L		
Show Seat Totals	Select Resource		Select Resource
Week View		Week View	

Start Time:	13 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	Start Time: 13 - : 00 - (hh:mm)
End Time:	14 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)	End Time: 14 💌 : 00 💌 (hh:mm)
Booked Seats:	1	User Defined Fields
	Adult: 0 👻	Label Value
	Child: 0 👻	Cell:
User Defined Fields		Favourite Fruit: Oranges
	Label Value	Directions:

Yes	No
Reception Desk	Reception Desk
Month View 👻	Month View 👻
Add Booking Customer History	Add Booking
<<	<

NEVER enable a customer history screen on a Front Desk **accessible by the public**.

Customer History screen

Cus	tomer His	story - Joh	n Doe							Administrator
Select by Re or by This s	t a Customer gistered User: Email Address creen will only	John Do to y show bookings	oe 👻	nich you a	ure designat	Search led as reso) burce admi	inistrator.		Close Printer Friendly
Date F	iter: 2011-03	-26	🛄 Clear Da	tes					5	Select Status 👻
D	Name	Email	Resource	Date		1	Time	Log	g-in	Status
900	John Doe	asd@sad.com	Dr Bar	Sat Ma	ar 26, 2011	1	10:00 - 11:	00	Yes	Accepted
902	John Doe	asd@sad.com	Dr Bar	Mon M	lar 28, 2011	1	14:00 - 15:	00	Yes	Accepted
896	John Doe	asd@sad.com	Dr Bar	Tue M	ar 29, 2011	1	13:00 - 14:00		Yes	Accepted
894	John Doe	asd@sad.com	Dr Bar	Wed M	lar 30, 2011	1 1	10:00 - 11:	00	Yes	Accepted
895 Credit	John Doe	asd@sad.com	Dr Bar	Fri Apr	1, 2011		11:00 - 12:	00	Yes	Accepted
As bo	okings are n	nade they will	appear below.							
Credit	used for bookir	ng Ap	r 1 / 11:00 - Dr Bar de	50	Increase	6.80	0.00	John Doe		2011-03-19 13:20:25
Credit	used for bookir	ng Ma	ar 30 / 10:00 - Dr Bar d	esc		10.50	6.80	John Doe		2011-03-19 13:20:07
Credit	used for booking	ng Ma	ar 21 / 09:00 - Dr Bar d	lesc		10.50	17.30	John Doe		2011-03-19 13:17:49

Enable Manifest

Yes/No

Yes

No



Reception Desk									
Day View 🗸 no link									
Add Booking Cus	tomer History								
. <<			Mar						
13:00	Bus Tour	3	Rob Stevens						
13:00	Bus Tour	1	John Doe						

Manifest screen

Ma	nifest						
						Print C	ancel
		This is	the Manifest header area. Put ins	structions or comments i	here		
Thu	rsday, March 1	0 2011 / 13:00	14:00				
	Name	Phone	Email	Status	Payment	Seat	#
	John Doe		rob.stevens@shaw.ca	Accepted	Paid	Adult	1
	Rob Stevens		rob.stevens@shaw.ca	Accepted	Paid	Adult	2
						Child	1
		This is	the Manifest footer area. Put inst	tructions or comments h	iere		

Enable Reminders

Yes/No

	Yes	No	
	Administrator	Administrator	
	Send Email Reminders Send SMS Reminders		
	Search	Search	
N S	Seat-Otals Bus Tour 🔹 Select Status 👻	w Seat otals Bus Tour 🗸 Select Status 🗸	

Show Booking Details

Yes/No

In View Only mode you can choose to show the booking details in a modal window.

What details are shown/hidden depends on the other menu settings described in this section.

	Ab	out Joomla!	Features	News T	he Community	2			
ıly)								search	
	Appointment D	etail					Â		
	Name:	John Doe							
	Phone:	403-555-1212							Se
	Email:	asd@sad.com							
	Use SMS:	Yes							
v)	SMS Phone:							Sa	t
	Resource:	Dr Bar						5	
	Service:	60 Minute							
	Start Date:	Monday March	21, 2011						
	Start Time:	09:00						12	
	End Time:	10:00						10:00 Rob O'Stevens	
0.1)	User Defined Fields:								
		Directions:	You can't get	there from here				19	
		Favourite Fruit	: Oranges				ate	× 1	
ing		Cell:							
		Image:					1		
	Request Status:	accepted					. 6		
	Admin Comment						÷	26 10:00 John	
у.	1	13:00(Administrator			O'Stevens			13:00(Rob	Stev

Show Contact Info

Yes/No

Contact Info being: email, phone, sms phone.

Name is always shown.

Show UDFs

Yes/No Show/hide UDFs on booking detail.

Show Extras

Yes/No Show/hide Extras on booking detail.

Show Booking Charges

Yes/No Show financial information about the booking on the detail screen. Shown here set to Yes..

Appointment Detail	
Name:	John Doe
Resource:	Dr Bar
Service:	60 Minute
Start Date:	Monday March 21, 2011
Start Time:	09:00
End Time:	10:00
Request Status:	accepted
Payment Status:	paid
Total :	\$ 0.00
Amount Due :	\$ 0.00
Manual Payment :	\$ 0.00
Credit Used :	\$ 10.50
Coupon Used :	
Admin Comment:	

New Booking screen

Staff/Public/None

Staff booking screen has additional power and less validation.

select a User	Not Regis	stered 👻						
Your Name:								
hone:								
mail:								
Resource:	All (Day)	View)	•		/			
Grid Start Date: 2	011-03-27	7 🔳	<<	- >>]	Grid S	tart: 8:00	
Sun 27-Mar-2011	8:00	9:00	10:00	11:00	12:00	13:00	14:00	
Dr Bar	- X -	×		×		- ×.	×	
Bus Tour	10	10	10	10		10	10	
RESOURCE_1		/						
	8:00	9:00	10:00	11:00	12:00	13:00	14:00	
	- Indicate	es an available es an unavaila	e timeslot, click ble timeslot Appl	y Coupon	skmark to sele	ect.		
Coupon:								
Coupon:	Accepted	1 🛨						
Coupon: Booking Status: Comment:	Accepted	1 -						

Public booking screen calls the standard GAD booking screen.

None = no 'New Booking' link is displayed.

Using Rate Overrides

Rate Overrides is an **optional** feature allowing you to define special rates charged based on what Joomla Group a customer is assigned to. These overrides can be applied to resource(s), service(s), extra(s) or seat type(s).

Initial rate setup is done in the respective entity's setup screen. For example, the resource rate is set in the resource setup screen.

Rates set here override those rates so you can do things like, offer a different rate for registered users or users assigned to specific Joomla Groups.

Before setting up an override rate, you should be aware of ABPro's order of preference in different types of rates.

Order of Precedence

Service rate has precedence over resource rate. If you define both, the service rate is used.

Seat price has precedence over both resource and service rates.

The Override rates **do not** compromise this order of precedence.

For example, if you define an override rate for a Resource but you have a Service rate, the Service rate it used.

See section 'Control Panel' subsection 'Rate Adjustments

Rate Adjustments is an optional feature that allows you to adjust a resource rate based on day, time or day and time. This allows you to charge a premium for some bookings and a discount for others.



List screen

Appointment Booking Pro - Rate Adjustments							mla!"									
New	ß	Edit	V Publish	O Unpubli	sh	× Dele	te	Close	•							Help
Control Panel Appointments	This Adju	scree	en allows you nts here are a	to define rate a added to the ba	djustm ise rate	ents for . For m	a reso ore info	urce. Ini ormation	tial rate see A	e setu BPro	pisdo User's	ne in the Guide s	e resourc ection "L	e setup screen Jsing Rate Adju	stments`	
Book-Offs Categories Configure		ID	Resource	Ву	Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Start	End	Adjustment	Unit	Published
Coupons		1	Dr Bar	DayAndTime				Yes				13:00	16:00	10.00	Percent	Ø
Email Marketing	E	2	Bus Tour	DayOnly		Yes						00:00	00:00	10.00	Flat	Ø
Extras																
Message Centre																
Payment Processors	Арроі	ntmer	t Booking Pro Vi	er. 3.0.5 - Copyright	2008-20	14 - Soft	Venture	s, Inc.								
Rate Adjustments																
Rate Overrides																
Resources																
Seats/Booking																
Services																
SMS Processors																
Time Slots																
UDFs																
User Credits																

By: Shows when the discount applies.

- DayOnly = The adjustment applies to all bookings in the day(s) specified, regardless of time.
- TimeOnly = The adjustment applies to all bookings in a specified time range, regardless of day.
- DayAndTime = The adjustment applies to specified day(s) in specified time ranges only.

Sun-Sat: Days to be used in adjustment determination.

Start / End: Time range to be used in adjustment determination.

Adjustment: The amount to adjust the rate by. Can be (+) or (-), flat rate or percentage of rate.

Click on the ID to open the detail screen.

Example:

In this example we will setup a resource rate for the public, then create a Rate Override for 'Registered' users.

In the Resource setup screen..

Rate:	10.70 Rate Unit: per Hour	Rate is used by the Payment Processor implementation. Rate is the amount you charge as a decimal number. This is used by the system to calculate total charge for PayPal. o per Hour = calculate costs as rate x hours o per Booking = flat rate charge per booking

aropaowit list for the customer.

Add Rate Override..

Joomla!" ABPro - Rate Overrides: [NEW]				
Save & Close O Cancel	@ Help			

This screen allows you to define rate overrides for resource, service, extra or seats type. Initial rate setup is done in the respective setup screen. For more information see ABPro User's Guide section "Using Rate Overrides"

ID	0	
10	Ū.	
Туре	Resource	
Name	Dr Bar	
Group	Registered	Select the Joomla Group that this override applies to. When a logged in user is this group they will get the rate here. Note: If the user is assigned to multiple gr with overrides, the lowest rate is given to the user.
Rate	9.50	
Published	Yes	

Booking screen for non-logged in user..

	Resource Rate	Hours	Total Owing	
	\$ 10.70	1.00	\$ 10.70	
	Extras :			
	Discount:		(0.00)	
	Total Owir		\$ 10.70	
Add to Cart View Cart				

Booking screen when logged in..



Resource Rate	Hours	Total Owing
\$ 9.50	1.00	\$ 9.50
Extras :		0.00
	(0.00)	
	\$ 9.50	

Add to Cart View Cart

Using Android, iPhone, Windows Phone 7 and BlackBerry applications

Customer App

See online information at

Mobile Web app <u>http://appointmentbookingpro.com/mobile-customer-apps-download/web-app-information.html</u>

Native app http://appointmentbookingpro.com/mobile-customer-apps-download/mobile-customer-apps.html

Admin App

Mobile Web app http://appointmentbookingpro.com/ma2/web-app-information.html

Native app

http://appointmentbookingpro.com/ma2/native-app-information.html

Issues and Limitations

See http://www.appointmentbookingpro.com/index.php?option=com_kunena&Itemid=66&func=showcat&catid=9